
Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee

Meeting Venue:
Committee Room 2 - Senedd

Meeting date:
18 May 2015 

Meeting time:
14.30

For further information please contact: 
Gareth Williams
Committee Clerk
0300 200 6565
SeneddCLA@Assembly.Wales 

Agenda

1 Introduction, apologies, substitutions and declarations of interest  

2 Evidence in relation to the Inquiry into Making Laws in the Fourth 
Assembly  (Pages 1 - 14) 
(Indicative time 14.30)

Huw Vaughan Thomas, Auditor General for Wales
Martin Peters, Wales Audit Office

CLA(4)-13-15 – Paper 1 – Written Evidence
CLA(4)-13-15 – Paper 1 A – Annex
CLA(4)-13-15 – Research Service Briefing

3 Instruments that raise no reporting issues under Standing Order 21.2 
or 21.3  (Pages 15 - 16) 
CLA(4)-13-15 – Paper 2 – Statutory Instruments with clear reports

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



Affirmative Resolution Instruments

CLA530 - The Regulation of Private Rented Housing (Training Requirements) (Wales) 
Regulations 2015  
Affirmative procedure; Date made: Not stated; Date laid: Not stated; Coming into 
force date: 3 June 2015.

CLA531 - The Smoke-free Premises etc. (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2015  
Affirmative procedure; Date made: Not stated; Date laid: Not stated; Coming into 
force: 1 October 2015.

4 Instruments that raise issues to be reported to the Assembly under 
Standing Order 21.2 or 21.3  

Affirmative Resolution Instruments

CLA529 - The National Assembly for Wales (Disqualification) Order 2015  (Pages 17 
- 132)
Affirmative procedure; Date made: Not stated; Date laid: Not stated; Coming into 
force date: 1 September 2015.

CLA(4)-13-15 – Paper 3 – Report
CLA(4)-13-15 – Paper 4 – Order
CLA(4)-13-15 – Paper 5 – Explanatory Memorandum
CLA(4)-13-15 – Paper 6 - The Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee 
Report on the Inquiry into Disqualification from Membership of the National 
Assembly for Wales
CLA(4)-13-15 – Paper 7 - Welsh Government’s Response

5 Commencement Order: The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 
(Commencement No. 3 and Transitory, Transitional and Saving 
Provisions) Order 2015  (Pages 133 - 142) 
CLA(4)-13-15 – Paper 8 – Commencement Order



6 Scottish Parliament: Devolution (Future Powers) Committee: Report on 
the Draft legislative Clauses for the New Scotland Bill  (Pages 143 - 145) 
CLA(4)-13-15 – Paper 9 – Press Release, 14 May 2015

7 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the public 
from the meeting for the following business:   
(ix) any matter relating to the internal business of the committee, or of the 
Assembly, is to be discussed.



 

Direct Line:  029 2032 0510  E-mail:  huw.vaughan.thomas@wao.gov.uk 

Mr David Melding AM  
Chair, Constitutional & Legislative Affairs Committee 
National Assembly for Wales 
Cardiff Bay 
CF99 1NA 

 Date: 13 April 2015 
 Our ref: HVT/2310/fgb 
 Page: 1 of 1 

 

 

Dear David 

COMMITTEE INQUIRY: MAKING LAWS IN THE FOURTH ASSEMBLY 

Following my recent study on the regulatory impact assessment of the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Bill, and given the relevance of cost estimates to informed 
law making, I thought it might be helpful to your Committee if I shared some reflections 
on the financial content of the Explanatory Memoranda for Assembly Bills.  I enclose a 
short paper that summarises a review of the Explanatory Memoranda.  As you will see, 
the paper identifies two main issues: lack of clarity in the presentation of cost estimates 
and variations in the completeness of estimates.  It also suggests some potential 
solutions. 

I should be happy to provide further explanation if the Committee would find that helpful. 

Yours sincerely 

 
HUW VAUGHAN THOMAS 
AUDITOR GENERAL FOR WALES 
 
 
Enc:  The Financial Content of Explanatory Memoranda for Assembly Bills 

 

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 
Page 1 of 6 

THE FINANCIAL CONTENT OF EXPLANATORY MEMORANDA 
FOR ASSEMBLY BILLS 

1. In order to support wider work on contributing to National Assembly 
consultations on Assembly Bills, the WAO’s Compliance Section has 
undertaken a brief review of the financial content of the Explanatory 
Memoranda that have accompanied Assembly Bills since November 2011. 

2. Two main findings arise from the review: 

a. a general lack of clarity in the presentation of estimates of costs and 
timescales within Explanatory Memoranda regarding the proposed 
legislation; 

b. variations in the completeness of estimates of costs, leading to a lack 
of an overall view of the cost of the legislation 

3. This paper explains these findings and suggests some potential means of 
addressing them. 

Lack of clarity of estimates of costs and timescales within Explanatory 
Memoranda 

4. Standing Order 26.6 requires the Member in charge of a Bill to lay an 
Explanatory Memorandum to accompany the Bill.  Standing Order 26.6 (vi) 
requires the Explanatory Memorandum to set out: 

…best estimates of: 

(a) the gross administrative, compliance and other costs to which the 
provisions of the Bill would give rise; 

(b) the timescales over which such costs would be expected to arise; and 

(c) on whom the costs would fall… 

5. This requirement is entirely appropriate, given that the Assembly does not just 
make laws but also determines overall how much money the 
Welsh Government and other relevant bodies can spend on particular 
purposes.  Clearly, the Assembly needs information on the expected costs 
that arise from its legislation if it is to legislate responsibly and for the overall 
benefit of the people of Wales. 

6. The Explanatory Memoranda are all quite extensive documents containing 
sections labelled “Costs and Benefits”.  In most cases, those sections 
together with supporting annexes run to some 30 pages.  Yet the information 
required by Standing Order 26.6(vi) is usually not readily apparent.  Much 
relevant information is provided, but even for a Bill of limited scope, the reader 
has to do a fair amount of work to arrive at an overall understanding of the 
estimates of (a) the costs, (b) the timescales and (c) on whom the costs would 
fall. 

Pack Page 2



The Financial Content of Explanatory Memoranda for Assembly Bills 
April 2015 

 

 
Page 2 of 6 

7. Examples of this include: 

a. The Qualifications Wales Bill Explanatory Memorandum—this 
provides a table that, at first reading, could be taken to summarise the 
costs of the Bill (Table 4 on page 56).  However, in order to identify the 
real cost of the Bill, the totals in Table 1 (on page 52) must be 
subtracted from the totals in Table 4.  The need for this is only evident 
from a careful reading of para 228, which says, “the highest costs 
shown relate to staffing costs which, for functional staff, are largely 
already met from Welsh Government budgets”.  Table 4 also does not 
have a title to make clear what it is setting out, although its position in 
the text indicates that it is the costs of “option 3”, which is elsewhere 
indicated as the option pursued by the Bill.  And to find the table 
requires the reader to consider most of the Costs and Benefits section 
of the Memorandum.  The five year period for costs is also not 
explained, which could lead to an inference that costs will only be 
incurred for five years, unlikely though that may seem. 

b. The Renting Homes (Wales) Bill Explanatory Memorandum—this 
identifies costs for 2015-16 to 2019-20 for the Welsh Government, 
private landlords, community landlords, third sector organisations and 
legal professionals.  It considers these costs in some detail not just in 
terms of the option represented by the Bill but also in terms of an 
alternative option, as well giving some cost consideration to the 
“do nothing option”.  Consequently, the cost information covers 
27 pages, and unfortunately there is no summary table to encapsulate 
the estimated cost of the Bill.  Again, a five year costing is given 
without explanation. 

c. The Higher Education (Wales) Bill Explanatory Memorandum—this 
provides extensive cost analysis for three options.  The 36 page 
“Costs and benefits” section provides 22 tables, and, as a result, table 
8, which provides an estimate of the cost of the Bill from 2015-16 to 
2019-20, is rather lost in the detail. 

8. As indicated by these examples, the cost information provided in Explanatory 
Memoranda is in practice set out as part of an analysis of options, with such 
options generally including “do nothing”, “introduce legislation” (ie  introduce 
legislation as per the Bill) and often a mid-way or enhanced variation on this.  
The complex and inconsistent layout means that the reader needs to exercise 
considerable care to avoid confusing costs that are attributable to other 
options with those attributable to the Bill as introduced. 

9. Such detailed option analysis is not strictly required by Standing Order 26.6, 
though it is relevant to Standing Order 26.6(iii), which requires the 
Explanatory Memoranda to: 

…set out whether alternative ways of achieving the policy objectives were 
considered and, if so, why the approach taken in the Bill was adopted… 

 

Pack Page 3



The Financial Content of Explanatory Memoranda for Assembly Bills 
April 2015 

 

 
Page 3 of 6 

10. It therefore appears that, as the detail of the option analysis that meets 
Standing Order 26.6(iii) provides material that is relevant to requirements of 
Standing Order 26.6(vi), those who draft Explanatory Memoranda consider 
that Standing Order 26.6(vi) is adequately met by such option analysis.  
However, it is arguable that even where such option analysis does contain all 
the relevant estimates, this is not a satisfactory approach because of the 
considerable burden it places on the reader, as explained above.  It risks 
creating confusion amongst AMs when considering Bills and hampers 
effective scrutiny. 

11. Given the importance of Assembly Members being informed of the cost of 
legislation, it is a matter of some concern that identifying the estimates of 
costs, timescales and those on whom costs fall in respect of individual 
Assembly Acts and Bills from looking at the Explanatory Memoranda laid 
before the Assembly is not straightforward.  One solution to this problem 
would be amendment of Standing Order 26.6(vi) so as to provide greater 
clarity.  Such an amendment could specifically require the completion of a 
table summarising the estimates of (a) the costs of the legislation, (b) the 
timescales for those costs and (c) on whom the costs would fall.  Such a 
table, in a standard format, should enable all AMs to be clear about the main 
cost implications of each Bill that they vote on.  A potential template is set out 
in the Annex to this paper.   

12. As indicated in the Annex, given the recent passage of the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Bill, it might also be appropriate for there to be an 
additional cell to summarise the environmental and social dis-benefits that 
cannot be quantified financially.  However, this would require an addition to 
the list of items currently contained in Standing Order 26.6(vi).   

13. Though in some cases it might be appropriate to include a summary table for 
each main policy/Part of a Bill, in any event it would be helpful to have one 
overall summarising table for each Bill as a whole. 

Variations in the completeness of estimates of costs  

14. Explanatory Memoranda frequently say that estimates cannot be made for 
some effects of the legislation, and, as a consequence, no figures are given 
for those effects.  It is certainly the case that it can be difficult to provide 
estimates when, for example, the level of take-up of a new programme is not 
known.  However, the complete omission of any costing for some effects 
alongside the provision of detailed figures for other aspects (those that can be 
relatively easily estimated) can lead to a rather misleading picture of the 
overall costs of the legislation. 

15. For example, the costing set out in the Explanatory Memorandum for the 
Local Government (Wales) Bill of January 2015 does not give a full 
overview of the likely gross or net costs of the Bill.  This is not because of the 
understandable uncertainty about the future shape of local government in 
Wales, but because rather than clearly allowing for that uncertainty the 
Memorandum gives partial and not well-signposted information:  

Pack Page 4



The Financial Content of Explanatory Memoranda for Assembly Bills 
April 2015 

 

 
Page 4 of 6 

a. Appendix A on page 104 of the Memorandum has the title “Costing the 
Options” but appears to be confined solely to the (relatively modest) 
cost of transition committees; 

b. Tables 17 and 18 on pages 96 and 97 could be taken to summarise 
Welsh Government and local government costs, but para 208 on 
page 95 says “there are a few areas (notably policy intention 4) where 
it has not been possible to produce an estimate at this stage”;  

c. The tables give the total additional costs for the Welsh Government 
and Local Government for the period 2015-16 to 2020-21 as 
£1.1 million and £1.2 million respectively (i.e. £2.3 million in total) on 
the basis of one voluntary merger.  However, the Bill appears to 
provide complete primary legislative provision for voluntary mergers, 
and it would therefore be appropriate for the Explanatory Memorandum 
to give broad cost estimates for one or more such voluntary mergers 
(with the uncertainty noted);  

d. The Memorandum provides no figures for an estimate of ongoing 
savings.   

16. It is worth noting that, in contrast, the Assembly’s Research Service paper on 
the Local Government (Wales) Bill includes far more comprehensive cost 
estimates for local government restructuring overall.  The Research Service 
paper refers to Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) 
estimates for the transition costs of local government mergers (in terms of 
people, property, systems and programme costs) that range between 
£159.7 million and £267.9 million for nine mergers involving 19 authorities 
(and annual savings of £64.7 million a year after two or three years).   

17. While not included in either CIPFA’s report or the Research Service paper, 
this would indicate broad brush costs of some £20 million for one merger (and 
annual savings of some £6 million).  This indicates that the Explanatory 
Memorandum probably rather understates the likely initial cost, while also 
omitting to provide a figure for ongoing savings. 

18. The Auditor General’s Review of the Regulatory Impact Assessment of the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Bill (4 December 2014), concluded 
that there was likely cost understatement within the Explanatory 
Memorandum, and that it did not present the estimates clearly enough.  
Furthermore, the Welsh Government’s view that the additional costs of the bill 
may need to be absorbed within existing resources, as expressed during the 
Environment and Sustainability Committee’s evidence session on 29 
September 2014, was not made clear in the Explanatory Memorandum.   

19. As the examples above show, there is a tendency for Explanatory 
Memoranda to provide an incomplete view of overall costs.  To be fit for 
purpose, i.e.  so that Assembly Members have an overall idea of the cost of 
the legislation, Explanatory Memoranda should give overall estimates of the 
costs.  Clearly, this can be difficult for some effects, but it would also be more 
meaningful and useful for Explanatory Memoranda to give an overall broad 
brush estimate of a Bill’s gross cost (while acknowledging areas of 

Pack Page 5



The Financial Content of Explanatory Memoranda for Assembly Bills 
April 2015 

 

 
Page 5 of 6 

considerable uncertainty) than to provide very detailed figures on certain 
aspects but no overall estimate. 

20. The current formulation of Standing Order 26.6 (vi) perhaps does not help 
ensure that an overall view of costs is given.  The Standing Order requires the 
Explanatory Memorandum to set out “…best estimates of…the gross 
administrative, compliance and other costs to which the provisions of the Bill 
would give rise”, but it does not specifically require the identification of such 
costs overall.  It would seem relatively straightforward to include such a 
requirement in the Standing Order. 

21. In order to improve the reasonableness of overall cost estimation it may be 
helpful for the Assembly to undertake or obtain some retrospective reviews of 
the actual costs arising against the estimates given in the relevant 
Explanatory Memorandum.  Such reviews might well help identify some 
means of improving the cost estimation processes and presentation used.  
Another approach that might help ensure that Explanatory Memoranda 
include appropriate cost information would be for Standing Order 26.6 to 
require the inclusion of some form of certification that this is the case, as this 
would help AMs better understand the overall costs of the legislation they are 
being asked to vote on. 

 

 

 
  

Pack Page 6



The Financial Content of Explanatory Memoranda for Assembly Bills 
April 2015 

 

 
Page 6 of 6 

Annex 

STANDING ORDER 26.6(VI) COST ESTIMATE SUMMARY TABLE TEMPLATE 

 One-off 
amounts 

(eg  initial set 
up costs, 
disposal 

proceeds and 
decommissioni

ng costs) 
£M 

Average 
annual 

recurring 
amounts 

£M 

Number of 
years 

applying to 
annual 

recurring 
amounts 

Total lifetime 
amount 

(lifetime of the 
legislation) 

(at Net Present 
Value) 

 £M 

A. Gross administrative cost of the 
Bill’s provisions (ie  the additional 
public expenditure arising as a 
consequence of the Bill before any 
financial savings):  

i)  WG and related bodies, including 
NHS 

ii) Welsh local government 

iii) Other public bodies 

Total of i), ii) and iii) 

    

B. Estimate of administrative savings 
arising from the Bill: 

i) WG and related bodies, including 
NHS 

ii) Welsh local government 

iii) Other public bodies (specify) 

Total of i), ii) and iii) 

    

C. Net administrative cost of the Bill’s 
provisions (i.e.  the net additional public 
expenditure that will arise as a 
consequence of the Bill): 

i) WG and related bodies, including 
NHS 

ii) Welsh local government 

iii) Other public bodies 

Total of i), ii) and iii) 

    

D. Compliance costs (i.e.  costs 
arising to members of public etc from 
complying with the Bill’s requirements): 

i) general public; 

ii) businesses; 

iii) other non-public sector bodies 
(eg voluntary organisations) 

Total of i), ii) and iii) 

    

E. Any other financial costs 
(include brief description here) 

 

    

F. Brief description of environmental 
and social dis-benefits arising from the 
Bill that cannot be quantified financially: 

i) one-off 

ii) ongoing 

(Include estimates of tonnes of CO2) 

    

 

Pack Page 7



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 8

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee
Statutory Instruments with Clear Reports

18 May 2015

CLA530 - The Regulation of Private Rented Housing (Training Requirements) 
(Wales) Regulations 2015

Procedure:  Affirmative 

This Order is made under sections 19(2)(b), 19(3), 46 and 142 of the 
Housing (Wales) Act 2014 (“the Act”).
The Regulations provide that a licensing authority for the purposes of Part 1 
of the Act may authorise a training provider and approve a course for the 
purposes of delivering training.  The Regulations also provide for 
requirements in relation to the training to be specified. 

CLA531 - The Smoke-free Premises etc. (Wale) (Amendment) Regulations 
2015

Procedure:  Affirmative 

The Smoke-free Premises etc. (Wales) Regulations 2007 currently make 
provision concerning the prohibition of smoking in certain premises and 
vehicles. These 2015 Regulations amend the 2007 Regulations by adding 
private vehicles to the list of smoke-free places when: (i) the vehicle is 
enclosed, (ii) more than one person is in the vehicle, and (iii) a person under 
the age of 18 is in the vehicle.

There are specific exceptions relating to aircraft, ships, hovercraft, caravans 
and motorhomes.

It will become an offence to smoke in a private vehicle with someone under 
the age of 18 present. It will also become an offence for a driver to fail to 
prevent smoking in a private vehicle with someone under the age of 18 
present.

Pack Page 15

Agenda Item 3



Criminal liability for offences can be discharged by payment of a fixed 
penalty notice of £50 (reduced to £30 if paid within 15 days).

Pack Page 16



1

Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee Draft Report
CLA

Title:  The National Assembly for Wales (Disqualification) Order 2015

This Order in Council is made under section 16 of the Government of Wales 
Act 2006 (“GOWA 2006”). Section 16 of GOWA 2006 identifies a number of 
persons who may not be members of the Assembly.  Additionally, it provides 
for an Order in Council to designate further offices and employments, the 
holders of which would also be disqualified from becoming members of the 
Assembly.  This Order may only be made by Her Majesty in Council, if a draft 
has been laid before, and approved by, a resolution of the Assembly

In addition, this Order revokes The National Assembly for Wales 
(Disqualification) Order 2010 (SI 2010/2969).

Procedure:  Affirmative

Technical Scrutiny 

No points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.2 in respect 
of this instrument.

Merits Scrutiny 

The following points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 
21.3(ii) in respect of this instrument as being of political or legal importance 
or giving rise to issues of public policy likely to be of interest to the 
Assembly.

1. The Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee reported on its 
inquiry (“the Committee’s inquiry”) into the Disqualification from 
Membership of the National Assembly for Wales) in July 2014. 
Paragraph 11 of the Welsh Government’s response (“the response”) 
referred to

“the list of disqualifying offices is derived from several sources 
(GOWA 2006, the Disqualification Order in force at the time, 
together with any relevant provisions made by extant Assembly 
legislation)” and “given these various sources for disqualification 
provisions, it may be extremely difficult for any potential 
candidate to be sure that he or she has not inadvertently 
infringed any of the prohibitions……..”

Pack Page 17

Agenda Item 4.1



2

2 In order to deal with this point the Government’s response at 
paragraph 12 states;

“In addition, therefore, to bringing forward a new draft 
Disqualification Order in 2015, the Welsh Government intends, 
working as necessary with the Electoral Commission, to produce 
a comprehensive, non-statutory, list of all of the disqualifying 
provisions of which we are aware, from whatever source, and 
make it publicly available to parties and potential candidates”.

3. Further, this Order was drafted on the basis of the Welsh 
Government’s criteria set after its consideration of the Committee’s inquiry 
report and recommendations for determining the offices which should be 
listed in the draft Order.  The criteria were derived from the following 
principles, highlighted in recommendation 1 of Committee’s inquiry report :

Principle 1: Promoting democratic participation and the right to stand 
as an Assembly Member are paramount.

Principle 2: Disqualification from membership of the National 
Assembly for Wales should be restricted to as few citizens as possible.

Principle 3: Political activity is inappropriate for some citizens in order 
to:

i. protect the independence of the electoral process;
ii. prevent conflicts of interest arising on election; and
iii. protect certain public offices from political bias.

Principle 4: The following citizens should be affected by a 
disqualification order:

i. those whose role involves an over-riding requirement for 
impartiality,

ii. including those whose responsibilities include the electoral 
process itself;

iii. those who hold any public office which carries with it a 
significant financial benefit from the Welsh Government;

iv. those who hold public office and in that role provide formal 
advice to the Welsh Government;

v. those who hold any public office which is subject to scrutiny by 
the Assembly.

Principle 5: Where disqualifications are necessary they must be:
i. in line with these principles;
ii. clear and unambiguous;
iii. proportionate.

Pack Page 18



3

4. The Committee welcomes the reduction in the number of disqualifying 
offices compared with the 2010 Order, in line with its recommendation that 
disqualification should be restricted to as few citizens as possible.

5. The Committee strongly welcomes the fact that this Order is to be 
made bilingually, unlike the 2010 Order that it replaces.  The formatting, 
however, is unusual since it adopts neither the column format normally used 
for Statutory Instruments, nor the facing page approach used for Acts of the 
Assembly.  This Order has been prepared with the full-width English text 
preceding the Welsh, both in the Order and the Schedule.

Legal Advisers
Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee
May 2015

Pack Page 19



S T A T U T O R Y  I N S T R U M E N T S

2015 No. 

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW

The National Assembly for Wales (Disqualification) Order 2015

Made - - - - ***

Coming into force - - 1 September 2015

O F F E R Y N N A U   S T A T U D O L

2015  Rhif (Cy. )

Y GYFRAITH GYFANSODDIADOL

Gorchymyn Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru (Anghymhwyso) 
2015

Gwnaed ***

Yn dod i rym 1 Medi 2015

Pack Page 20



1

Draft Order laid before the National Assembly for Wales under section 16(6) of the Government 
of Wales Act 2006, for approval by resolution of the National Assembly for Wales.

S T A T U T O R Y  I N S T R U M E N T S

2015 No. 

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW

The National Assembly for Wales (Disqualification) Order 2015

Made - - - - ***

Coming into force - - 1 September 2015

At the Court at Buckingham Palace, the [ ] day of [ 2015]

Present,

The Queen’s Most Excellent Majesty in Council

In accordance with section 16(6) of the Government of Wales Act 2006(a) a draft of this Order 
was laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the National Assembly for Wales.

Accordingly, Her Majesty, in pursuance of section 16(1) and (5) of that Act, is pleased, by and 
with the advice of Her Privy Council, to order as follows:

Title and commencement

1. The title of this Order is the National Assembly for Wales (Disqualification) Order 2015 and 
it comes into force on 1 September 2015.

Designation of disqualifying offices

2. The offices described in the Schedule are designated as offices disqualifying the holders of 
such offices from being members of the National Assembly for Wales.

Revocation of National Assembly for Wales (Disqualification) Order 2010

3. The National Assembly for Wales (Disqualification) Order 2010(b) is revoked.

Name
Clerk of the Privy Council

(a) 2006 c. 32.
(b) S.I. 2010/2969.

Pack Page 21



2

Gorchymyn drafft a osodwyd gerbron Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru o dan adran 16(6) o Ddeddf 
Llywodraeth Cymru 2006, i’w gymeradwyo drwy benderfyniad gan Gynulliad Cenedlaethol 
Cymru.

O F F E R Y N N A U   S T A T U D O L

2015  Rhif (Cy. )

Y GYFRAITH GYFANSODDIADOL

Gorchymyn Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru (Anghymhwyso) 
2015

Gwnaed ***

Yn dod i rym 1 Medi 2015

Yn Llys Palas Buckingham y *** dydd o ***

Yn bresennol,

Ei Hardderchocaf Fawrhydi’r Frenhines yn y Cyfrin Gyngor 

Yn unol ag adran 16(6) o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Cymru 2006(a), cafodd drafft o'r Gorchymyn hwn 
ei osod gerbron Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru a’i gymeradwyo drwy benderfyniad ganddo.

Gan hynny, mae’n bleser gan Ei Mawrhydi, yn unol ag adran 16(1) a (5) o'r Ddeddf honno, yn ôl 
cyngor a chyda chyngor Ei Chyfrin Gyngor, orchymyn fel a ganlyn:

Enwi a chychwyn

1. Enw'r Gorchymyn hwn yw Gorchymyn Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru (Anghymhwyso) 
2015 a daw i rym ar 1 Medi 2015.

Dynodi swyddi sy’n anghymhwyso

2. Mae’r swyddi a ddisgrifir yn yr Atodlen wedi eu dynodi’n swyddi sy'n anghymhwyso deiliaid 
y swyddi hynny rhag bod yn aelodau o Gynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru. 

Dirymu Gorchymyn Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru (Anghymhwyso) 2010

3. Mae Gorchymyn Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru (Anghymhwyso) 2010(b) wedi ei ddirymu.

[Enw]
Clerc y Cyfrin Gyngor

(a) 2006 p. 32.
(b) O.S. 2010/2969.

Pack Page 22



3

SCHEDULE
Offices disqualifying holders from membership of the National Assembly 

for Wales
Article 2

A tribunal constituted under section 27 
of, and Schedule 3 to the Education Act 
2005(a) 

All members 

A tribunal referred to in paragraph 10 of 
Schedule 26 to the School Standards and 
Framework Act 1998(b)

All members 

Adjudication Panel for Wales All members
Advisory Committee on Dangerous 
Pathogens 

All members

Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration 
Service 

All members of the Council

Agricultural Land Tribunal Wales All members
Arts Council of Wales All members
Big Lottery Fund All members appointed under paragraph 1 of 

Schedule 4A to the National Lottery Etc. Act 1993(c)
 or of a committee established under paragraph 
7(1)(b) of that Schedule

Board of Medical Referees All members appointed by the Welsh Ministers(d)
Boundary Commission for Wales Commissioners
British Broadcasting Corporation Trust  All members
British Council Chair and Chief Executive

British Transport Police Authority  All members
Care Council for Wales All members
Certification Officer and any Assistant 
Certification Officer having functions 
under the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992(e)

Certification Officer and any Assistant Certification 
Officer

Channel Four Television Corporation  All members

Children’s Commissioner for Wales Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner
Civil Service Commission First Civil Service Commissioner and all 

Commissioners
Commissioner for Public Appointments
Competition and Markets Authority All members
Comptroller and Auditor General
Education Workforce Council All members 
Electoral Commission All members and staff
Emergency Ambulance Services Chair

(a) 2005 c. 18. There have been amendments to Schedule 3 to this Act that are not relevant to this Order.
(b) 1998 c. 31. There have been amendments to paragraph 10(2) of Schedule 26 to this Act by section 53 of and paragraphs 8, 

16(1) and (2) of Part 2 of Schedule 7 to the Education Act 2005.
(c) 1993 c. 39.
(d) See paragraph 3 of Annex 2 to the Scheme in Schedule 1 to the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme (Wales) Order 2007 (S.I. 

2007/1072 (W. 110)) and paragraph 3 of Schedule 5 to the Scheme in Schedule 1 to the Firefighters’ Compensation Scheme 
(Wales) Order 2007 (S.I. 2007/1073 (W. 111)).

(e) 1992 c. 52.

Pack Page 23



4

Committee
Employment Tribunals and Employment 
Appeal Tribunal

All members

Finance Wales Public Limited Company 
or any wholly owned subsidiary of 
Finance Wales Public Limited Company

All Directors 

Financial Conduct Authority All members
Fire and Rescue Service Inspector or Assistant Inspector appointed under 

section 28 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004
Firefighters’ Pension Scheme Advisory 
Board for Wales

All members

First-tier tribunal All members
Food Standards Agency All members
Future Generations Commissioner for 
Wales
Gas and Electricity Markets Authority All members
Health and Safety Executive All members
Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of 
Education and Training in Wales 
Higher Education Funding Council for 
Wales 

All members, other than a member who is also an 
employee of the Council

Human Fertilisation and Embryology 
Authority 

All members

Human Tissue Authority All members
Independent Adjudicator to Local 
Authorities in Wales(a)
Independent Case Examiner for the 
Department of Work and Pensions

The Independent Case Examiner

Independent Groundwater Complaints 
Administrator appointed under section 
21 of and paragraph 27 of Schedule 7 to 
the Cardiff Bay Barrage Act 1993(b)
Independent Police Complaints 
Commission

All members

Independent Remuneration Panel for 
Wales

All members

Independent Social Services Complaints 
Panel

All members

Joint Nature Conservation Committee All members
Local Democracy and Boundary 
Commission for Wales 

Chief Executive and all members

Local Government Pension Scheme 
Advisory Board

Chair and Deputy Chair

Local Health Board for an area in Wales All members, not being also an employee
Marine Management Organisation All members
Meat Promotion Wales All members
Mental Health Review Tribunal for All members

(a) Section 3(1) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (c. 42). Relevant amendments were made to section 3 of the 
Act by the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (c. 28), sections 202(1)(a), (b), (c) and (d) and 
241 and Part 15 of Schedule 18 to that Act; the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 (c. 
20), section 30(1) and (3)(c), section 146(1) and Part 1 of Schedule 7 to that Act. The person so appointed is referred to as 
the Independent Adjudicator to Local Authorities in Wales.

(b) 1993 c. 42. There have been amendments to paragraph 27 of Schedule 7 to the Act not relevant to this Order.

Pack Page 24



5

Wales  
National Employment Savings Trust 
Corporation

All Trustee Members

National Health Service Trust all or 
some of whose hospital establishments 
or other facilities are situated in Wales

Chair and Non-Executive Director

National Library of Wales Board of Trustees appointed by the Welsh Ministers
National Museum Wales Board of Trustees appointed by the Welsh Ministers
A National Park authority for a National 
Park in Wales

All members

Natural Resources Body for Wales Chief Executive, Chair and members
Office of Communications All members
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner

Parliamentary Commissioner for 
Administration
Pensions Advisory Service Directors
Pensions Ombudsman appointed under 
section 145 of the Pensions Schemes 
Act 1993 and any deputy to that 
Ombudsman appointed under section 
145A of that Act
Pension Protection Fund All members, and the Ombudsman for the Board of 

the Pension Protection Fund appointed under section 
209 of the Pensions Act 2004(a) and any deputy to 
that Ombudsman appointed under section 210 of that 
Act

Pensions Regulator All members, and committee members established 
by the Pensions Regulator under section 9 of the 
Pensions Act 2004(b)

Person holding a politically restricted 
post, within the meaning of Part 1 of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 
1989(c), in:
(a) a local authority in Wales, within the 
meaning of that Part,
(b) a National Park Authority for a 
National Park in Wales
Police and Crime Commissioner as 
established by section 1 of the Police 
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 
2011, and any Deputy appointed by the 
Commissioner under section 18 of that 
Act
Professional Standards Authority for 
Health and Social Care 

All members

Rent assessment committees for an area 
or areas every part of which is in Wales 

All members of a panel established under Schedule 
10 to the Rent Act 1977(d)

Returning officer for a constituency or 
an electoral region of the National 
Assembly for Wales

(a) 2004 c. 35. There have been amendments to section 210 of the Act not relevant to this Order.
(b) 2004 c. 35. The Pensions Regulator is established by section 1 of the Act.
(c) 1989 c. 42.
(d) 1977 c. 42. There have been amendments to Schedule 10 to this Act which are not relevant to this Order.

Pack Page 25



6

Royal Commission on the Ancient and 
Historical Monuments of Wales

Commissioners

Sianel Pedwar Cymru All members
Special Educational Needs Tribunal for 
Wales 

All members

Special Health Authority performing 
functions partly or wholly in respect of 
Wales 

All members, not being also an employee

Sports Council for Wales known as 
Sport Wales

All members

Statistics Board established by the 
Statistics and Registration Service Act 
2007(a) 

All members

Student Loans Company Limited All members and Chief Executive
Technology Strategy Board known as 
Innovate UK

All members and Chief Executive

UK Commission for Employment and 
Skills

Chair and Chief Executive, or a Director or a 
Commissioner of that Commission appointed by the 
First Minister of Wales

Upper Tribunal All members
Valuation Tribunal for Wales All members
Wales Audit Office All staff and auditors providing audit services to the 

Wales Audit Office or Auditor General for Wales
Welsh Food Advisory Committee All members
Welsh Health Specialised Services 
Committee  

Chair

Welsh Industrial Development Advisory 
Board 

All members

Welsh Language Commissioner Welsh Language Commissioner, Deputy Welsh 
Language Commissioner and members of the 
Advisory Panel to the Welsh Language 
Commissioner

Welsh Language Tribunal All members

(a) 2007 c. 18.

Pack Page 26



7

ATODLEN 
Swyddi sy'n anghymhwyso’r deiliaid rhag bod yn aelodau o Gynulliad 

Cenedlaethol Cymru
Erthygl 2

Amgueddfa Genedlaethol Cymru Y Bwrdd Ymddiriedolwyr a benodwyd gan 
Weinidogion Cymru

Yr Archwilydd Achosion Annibynnol 
dros yr Adran Gwaith a Phensiynau

Yr Archwilydd Achosion Annibynnol

Yr Asiantaeth Safonau Bwyd Yr holl aelodau 
Yr Awdurdod Cystadleuaeth a 
Marchnadoedd 

Yr holl aelodau

Yr Awdurdod Ffrwythloni ac 
Embryoleg Dynol 

Yr holl aelodau

Yr Awdurdod Gweithredol Iechyd a 
Diogelwch 

Yr holl aelodau

Awdurdod Heddlu Trafnidiaeth 
Prydain 

 Yr holl aelodau

Awdurdod Iechyd Arbennig sy’n 
cyflawni swyddogaethau yn rhannol 
neu yn gyfan gwbl mewn cysylltiad â 
Chymru  

Yr holl aelodau nad ydynt hefyd yn gyflogeion

Yr Awdurdod Meinweoedd Dynol Yr holl aelodau
Awdurdod Parc Cenedlaethol ar gyfer 
Parc Cenedlaethol yng Nghymru

Yr holl aelodau

Yr Awdurdod Safonau Proffesiynol ar 
gyfer Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol 

Yr holl aelodau

Awdurdod y Marchnadoedd Nwy a 
Thrydan 

Yr holl aelodau

Yr Awdurdod Ymddygiad Ariannol Yr holl aelodau
Bwrdd Canolwyr Meddygol Yr holl aelodau a benodwyd gan Weinidogion 

Cymru(a)
Bwrdd Cynghori ar Gynllun Pensiwn 
Diffoddwyr Tân Cymru

Yr holl aelodau

Y Bwrdd Cynghori ar y Cynllun 
Pensiwn Llywodraeth Leol

Y Cadeirydd a’r Dirprwy Gadeirydd

Bwrdd Cynghorol Cymru ar Ddatblygu 
Diwydiannol 

Yr holl aelodau

Bwrdd Iechyd Lleol ar gyfer ardal yng 
Nghymru

Yr holl aelodau nad ydynt hefyd yn gyflogeion

Y Bwrdd Strategaeth Technoleg a 
adwaenir fel Innovate UK

Yr holl aelodau a’r Prif Weithredwr

Y Bwrdd Ystadegau a sefydlwyd gan 
Ddeddf y Gwasanaeth Ystadegau a 
Chofrestru 2007(b) 

Yr holl aelodau

Comisiwn Brenhinol Henebion Cymru Y Comisiynwyr
Comisiwn Cwynion Annibynnol yr Yr holl aelodau

(a) Gweler paragraff 3 o Atodiad 2 i’r Cynllun yn Atodlen 1 i Orchymyn Cynllun Pensiwn y Diffoddwyr Tân (Cymru)  2007 
(O.S. 2007/1072 (Cy. 110)) a pharagraff 3 o Atodlen 5 i’r Cynllun yn Atodlen 1 i Orchymyn Cynllun Digolledu’r 
Diffoddwyr Tân (Cymru) 2007 (O.S. 2007/1073 (Cy. 111)).

(b) 2007 p. 18.

Pack Page 27



8

Heddlu
Y Comisiwn Etholiadol Yr holl aelodau a staff
Comisiwn Ffiniau a Democratiaeth 
Leol Cymru 

Y Prif Weithredwr a’r holl aelodau

Y Comisiwn Ffiniau i Gymru Y Comisiynwyr
Comisiwn y DU dros Gyflogaeth a 
Sgiliau

Y Cadeirydd a’r Prif Weithredwr, neu Gyfarwyddwr 
neu Gomisiynydd y Comisiwn hwnnw a benodwyd 
gan Brif Weinidog Cymru

Comisiwn y Gwasanaeth Sifil Prif Gomisiynydd y Gwasanaeth Sifil a’r holl 
Gomisiynwyr

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol 
ar gyfer Cymru
Comisiynydd Heddlu a Throseddu fel 
y’i sefydlwyd gan adran 1 o Ddeddf 
Diwygio’r Heddlu a Chyfrifoldeb 
Cymdeithasol 2011, ac unrhyw 
Ddirprwy a benodir gan y 
Comisiynydd o dan adran 18 o’r 
Ddeddf honno
Y Comisiynydd Penodiadau 
Cyhoeddus
Comisiynydd Plant Cymru Y Comisiynydd a’r Dirprwy Gomisiynydd
Comisiynydd Pobl Hŷn Cymru Y Comisiynydd a’r Dirprwy Gomisiynydd
Comisiynydd y Gymraeg Comisiynydd y Gymraeg, Dirprwy Gomisiynydd y 

Gymraeg ac aelodau Panel Cynghori Comisiynydd y 
Gymraeg

Y Comisiynydd Seneddol dros 
Weinyddiaeth
Corfforaeth Deledu Channel Four Yr holl aelodau

Corfforaeth yr Ymddiriedolaeth 
Genedlaethol dros Gynilion Cyflogaeth

Yr holl Aelod-Ymddiriedolwyr

Cwmni Cyhoeddus Cyfyngedig Cyllid 
Cymru neu unrhyw is-gwmni ym 
mherchnogaeth lwyr Cwmni 
Cyhoeddus Cyfyngedig Cyllid Cymru

Yr holl Gyfarwyddwr 

Y Cyd-bwyllgor Cadwraeth Natur Yr holl aelodau
Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru Y Prif Weithredwr, Y Cadeirydd ac aelodau
Cyngor Celfyddydau Cymru Yr holl aelodau
Cyngor Chwaraeon Cymru a adwaenir 
fel Chwaraeon Cymru

Yr holl aelodau

Cyngor Cyllido Addysg Uwch Cymru Yr holl aelodau, ac eithrio aelod sydd hefyd yn 
gyflogai i’r Cyngor

Cyngor Gofal Cymru Yr holl aelodau
Y Cyngor Prydeinig Y Cadeirydd a’r Prif Weithredwr
Cyngor y Gweithlu Addysg Yr holl aelodau

Dyfarnwr Annibynnol Awdurdodau 
Lleol Cymru(a)

(a) Adran 3(1) o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol a Thai 1989 (p. 42). Gwnaed diwygiadau perthnasol i adran 3 o’r Ddeddf gan 
Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol a Chynnwys y Cyhoedd mewn Iechyd 2007 (p. 28), adrannau 202(1)(a), (b),(c) a (d) a 241 a 
Rhan 15 o Atodlen 18 i’r Ddeddf honno; Deddf Democratiaeth Leol, Datblygu Economaidd ac Adeiladu 2009 (p. 20), adran 
30(1) a (3)(c), adran 146(1) a Rhan 1 o Atodlen 7 i’r Ddeddf honno. Cyfeirir at y person a benodwyd felly yn Ddyfarnwr 

Pack Page 28



9

Y Gronfa Diogelu Pensiynau Yr holl aelodau a’r Ombwdsmon ar gyfer Bwrdd y 
Gronfa Diogelu Pensiynau a benodwyd o dan adran 
209 o Ddeddf Pensiynau 2004(a) ac unrhyw 
ddirprwy i’r Ombwdsmon hwnnw a benodwyd o dan 
adran  210 o’r Ddeddf honno

Y Gronfa Loteri Fawr Yr holl aelodau a benodwyd o dan baragraff 1 o 
Atodlen 4A i Ddeddf y Loteri Genedlaethol Etc. 
1993(b) neu holl aelodau pwyllgor a sefydlwyd o 
dan baragraff  7(1)(b) o’r Atodlen honno

Y Gwasanaeth Cynghori ar Bensiynau Y Cyfarwyddwyr
Y Gwasanaeth Cynghori, Cymodi a 
Chyflafareddu

Holl aelodau’r Cyngor

Y Gwasanaeth Tân ac Achub Arolygydd neu Arolygydd Cynorthwyol a benodwyd 
o dan adran  28 o Ddeddf y Gwasanaethau Tân ac 
Achub 2004

Y Gweinyddwr Annibynnol Cwynion 
Dŵr Daear a benodwyd o dan adran 21 
o Ddeddf Morglawdd Bae Caerdydd 
1993 a pharagraff 27 o Atodlen 7 iddi(c)
Hybu Cig Cymru Yr holl aelodau
Llyfrgell Genedlaethol Cymru Y Bwrdd Ymddiriedolwyr a benodwyd gan 

Weinidogion Cymru
Yr Ombwdsmon Pensiynau a 
benodwyd o dan adran 145 o Ddeddf 
Cynlluniau Pensiwn 1993 ac unrhyw 
ddirprwy i’r Ombwdsmon hwnnw a 
benodwyd o dan adran 145A o’r 
Ddeddf honno
Y Panel Annibynnol ar gyfer Cwynion 
am Wasanaethau Cymdeithasol

Yr holl aelodau

Panel Annibynnol Cymru ar 
Gydnabyddiaeth Ariannol

Yr holl aelodau

Panel Dyfarnu Cymru Yr holl aelodau
Person sy’n dal swydd dan 
gyfyngiadau gwleidyddol o fewn ystyr 
Rhan 1 o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol a 
Thai 1989(d), a hynny mewn:
(a) awdurdod lleol yng Nghymru, o 
fewn ystyr y Rhan honno,
(b) Awdurdod Parc Cenedlaethol ar 
gyfer Parc Cenedlaethol yng Nghymru;
Prif Arolygydd ei Mawrhydi dros 
Addysg a Hyfforddiant yng Nghymru 
Y Pwyllgor Cynghori ar Bathogenau 
Peryglus 

Yr holl aelodau

Pwyllgor Cynghori ar Fwyd Cymru Yr holl aelodau
Y Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Ambiwlans 
Brys

Y Cadeirydd

Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Iechyd 
Arbenigol Cymru  

Y Cadeirydd

Annibynnol Awdurdodau Lleol Cymru.
(a) 2004 p. 35. Bu diwygiadau i adran 210 o’r Ddeddf hon, nad ydynt yn berthnasol i’r Gorchymyn hwn.
(b) 1993 p. 39.
(c) 1993 p. 42. Bu diwygiadau i baragraff 27 o Atodlen 7 i’r Ddeddf hon, nad ydynt yn berthnasol i’r Gorchymyn hwn.
(d) 1989 p. 42.

Pack Page 29



10

Pwyllgorau asesu rhenti ar gyfer ardal 
neu ardaloedd y mae pob rhan ohoni 
neu ohonynt yng Nghymru  

Holl aelodau panel a sefydlwyd o dan Atodlen 10 i 
Ddeddf Rhenti 1977(a)

Y Rheoleiddiwr Pensiynau Yr holl aelodau ac aelodau’r pwyllgorau a 
sefydlwyd gan y Rheoleiddiwr Pensiynau o dan 
adran 9 o Ddeddf Pensiynau 2004(b)

Y Rheolwr ac Archwilydd Cyffredinol
Y Sefydliad Rheoli Morol Yr holl aelodau
Sianel Pedwar Cymru Yr holl aelodau
Student Loans Company Limited Yr holl aelodau a’r Prif Weithredwr 
Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru Yr holl staff a’r archwilwyr sy’n darparu 

gwasanaethau archwilio ar gyfer Swyddfa Archwilio 
Cymru neu Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru

Y Swyddfa Gyfathrebiadau Yr holl aelodau
Swyddog Ardystio ac unrhyw 
Swyddog Ardystio Cynorthwyol a 
chanddo swyddogaethau o dan Ddeddf 
Undebau Llafur a Chysylltiadau Llafur 
(Cydgrynhoi) 1992(c)

Swyddog Ardystio ac unrhyw  Swyddog Ardystio 
Cynorthwyol

Swyddog canlyniadau ar gyfer un o 
etholaethau neu un o ranbarthau 
etholiadol Cynulliad Cenedlaethol 
Cymru
Tribiwnlys a gyfansoddwyd o dan 
adran 27 o Ddeddf Addysg 2005(d) ac 
Atodlen 3 iddi

Yr holl aelodau 

Tribiwnlys Adolygu Iechyd Meddwl 
Cymru  

Yr holl aelodau

Tribiwnlys Anghenion Addysgol 
Arbennig Cymru 

Yr holl aelodau  

Y Tribiwnlys Haen Gyntaf Yr holl aelodau
Tribiwnlys Prisio Cymru Yr holl aelodau
Tribiwnlys Tir Amaethyddol Cymru Yr holl aelodau
Tribiwnlys y cyfeirir ato ym 
mharagraff 10 o Atodlen 26 i Ddeddf 
Safonau a Fframwaith Ysgolion 1998(e)

Yr holl aelodau

Tribiwnlys y Gymraeg Yr holl aelodau
Tribiwnlysoedd Cyflogaeth a’r 
Tribiwnlys Apelau Cyflogaeth

Yr holl aelodau

 Yr Uwch Dribiwnlys Yr holl aelodau 
Ymddiriedolaeth y Gorfforaeth 
Ddarlledu Brydeinig  

Yr holl aelodau

Ymddiriedolaeth y Gwasanaeth Iechyd 
Gwladol y mae pob un o’i hysbytai, 
neu ei chyfleusterau eraill, neu rai 
ohonynt, wedi eu lleoli yng Nghymru 

Y Cadeirydd a’r Cyfarwyddwr Anweithredol

(a) 1977 p. 42. Bu diwygiadau i Atodlen 10 i’r Ddeddf hon, nad ydynt yn berthnasol i’r Gorchymyn hwn. 
(b) 2004 p. 35. Sefydlwyd y Rheoleiddiwr Pensiynau gan adran 1 o’r Ddeddf hon. 
(c) 1992 p. 52.
(d) 2005 p. 18. Gwnaed diwygiadau i Atodlen 3 i’r Ddeddf hon, nad ydynt yn berthnasol i’r Gorchymyn hwn..
(e) 1998 p. 31. Gwnaed diwygiadau i baragraff 10(2) o Atodlen 26 i’r Ddeddf hon gan adran 53 o Ddeddf Addysg 2005 a 

pharagraffau 8, 16(1) a (2) o Ran 2 o Atodlen 7 iddi.

Pack Page 30



11

EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This note is not part of the Order)

This Order designates the persons who are disqualified from being a member of the National 
Assembly for Wales. The bodies and offices are described in the Schedule to this Order.

This Order does not contain a definitive list of disqualifying offices and memberships (see in 
particular section 16 of the Government of Wales Act 2006).

This Order revokes the previous Order made in 2010.

Pack Page 31



12

NODYN ESBONIADOL

(Nid yw’r nodyn hwn yn rhan o’r Gorchymyn)

Mae’r Gorchymyn hwn yn dynodi’r personau sydd wedi eu hanghymhwyso rhag bod yn aelodau 
o Gynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru. Disgrifir y cyrff a’r swyddi yn yr Atodlen i’r Gorchymyn hwn.

Nid yw’r Gorchymyn hwn yn cynnwys rhestr ddiffiniol o’r swyddi ac aelodaethau sy’n 
anghymhwyso (gweler yn arbennig adran 16 o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Cymru 2006).

Mae’r Gorchymyn hwn yn dirymu’r Gorchymyn blaenorol a wnaed yn 2010.

Pack Page 32



Explanatory Memorandum to the National Assembly for Wales 
(Disqualification) Order 2015

This Explanatory Memorandum has been prepared by the Permanent 
Secretary’s Department and is laid before the National Assembly for Wales in 
conjunction with the above subordinate legislation and in accordance with 
Standing Order 27.1 

Minister’s Declaration

In my view, this Explanatory Memorandum gives a fair and reasonable view of 
the expected impact of the National Assembly for Wales (Disqualification) 
Order 2015

Carwyn Jones
First Minister of Wales 
1 April 2015

Pack Page 33



Description

1. This draft Order designates certain offices as offices which disqualify their 
holders from being Assembly Members.  While the Welsh Government 
believes that disqualification from Assembly membership should be 
restricted to as few citizens as possible, we recognise that political activity 
is inappropriate for the holders of certain offices.  In particular, there is a 
need to protect certain public offices from political bias, and to ensure that 
the independence of the electoral process is upheld.

Matters of special interest to the Constitutional and Legislative Affairs 
Committee

2. The draft Order takes account of the recommendations made by the 
Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee’s ‘Inquiry into the 
Disqualification from Membership of the National Assembly for Wales’ 
report, published on 30 July 2014, and the Welsh Government’s response 
to that report, issued on 22 October 2014. 

3. The Committee’s report set out the principles which it considered should 
inform who should be disqualified from membership of the National 
Assembly for Wales, and made specific recommendations on the content 
of the next order specifying disqualifications from Assembly membership. 
The Welsh Government’s response explained that we agree with the 
overall thrust of the Committee’s report, and with the majority of the 
Committee’s specific recommendations.

4. The Welsh Government also agreed to consult on the content of the next 
order specifying disqualifications from Assembly membership, in good time 
to allow the next order to be in place before the next Assembly election.  
That consultation was carried out between 14 January and 11 March 
2015, and the draft Order takes account of the outcome of that 
consultation.

Legislative background

5. This draft instrument is a draft Order in Council to be made under section 
16 of the Government of Wales Act 2006 (“GOWA 2006”).

6. Section 16 of GOWA 2006 identifies a number of persons who may not be 
members of the Assembly.  Additionally, it provides for an Order in Council 
to designate further offices and employments, the holders of which would 
also be disqualified from becoming members of the Assembly.  Such an 
Order may only be made by Her Majesty in Council, if a draft has been laid 
before, and approved by, a resolution of the Assembly.

Pack Page 34



Purpose & intended effect of the legislation

7. Ahead of each election to the National Assembly for Wales an Order in 
Council under section 16 of GOWA 2006 is made, that specifies offices 
whose holders are disqualified from Assembly Membership.

8. At present, the National Assembly for Wales (Disqualification) Order 2010 
is still in force, therefore persons holding any of the offices specified in the 
2010 Order are disqualified from Assembly membership.

9. The intended effect of this draft Order, therefore, is to revoke the 2010 
Order, and set out an updated list of disqualifying offices in good time 
before the next Assembly election in May 2016. 

10. Its purpose is to disqualify the holders of certain offices from Assembly 
membership where this is necessary to protect the independence of the 
electoral process, prevent conflicts of interest, or to protect particular 
public offices from political bias.

11.After considering the Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee’s 
detailed report and recommendations, the Welsh Government set out its 
criteria for determining the offices which should be listed in the draft Order.  
These criteria were published in the Welsh Government’s consultation on 
the draft Order.  The criteria are set out below, and are derived from the 
principles set out in recommendation 1 of the Committee’s report of July 
2014, the specific recommendations for disqualifying posts in 
recommendation 12 of that report, and the Welsh Government’s views on 
disqualification of public staff as set out in its report of October 2014:

12.General principles, as set out in recommendation 1 of the Committee’s 
report:

Principle 1: Promoting democratic participation and the right to stand 
as an Assembly Member are paramount.

Principle 2: Disqualification from membership of the National Assembly 
for Wales should be restricted to as few citizens as possible.

Principle 3: Political activity is inappropriate for some citizens in order 
to:

i. protect the independence of the electoral process;
ii. prevent conflicts of interest arising on election; and
iii. protect certain public offices from political bias.

Principle 4: The following citizens should be affected by a 
disqualification order:

i. those whose role involves an over-riding requirement for 
impartiality,

ii. including those whose responsibilities include the electoral 
process itself;

Pack Page 35



iii. those who hold any public office which carries with it a 
significant financial benefit from the Welsh Government;

iv. those who hold public office and in that role provide formal 
advice to the Welsh Government;

v. those who hold any public office which is subject to scrutiny by 
the Assembly.

Principle 5: Where disqualifications are necessary they must be:
i. in line with these principles;
ii. clear and unambiguous;
iii. proportionate.

13.The offices described in recommendation 12 should be disqualified, and 
should be included in the Disqualification Order unless they are already 
disqualified under section 16 of GOWA 2006.

14.Members of judicial tribunals should be disqualified.

15.Normally, persons appointed by Welsh Ministers should be disqualified, 
but there may be instances where such persons should not be disqualified 
(in which case consideration of the five principles referred to above will be 
important).

16.Public staff as described in recommendation 13 (e.g. staff of National 
Park, Police, Fire and Rescue Authorities, staff of Welsh Government 
Sponsored Bodies) should not be disqualified – it can be safely assumed 
such staff would give up their employment if elected, as continuing with 
employment at the same time as discharging Assembly Member 
responsibilities would make impossible demands on the individual.

Consultation 

17.On the 14 January 2015, the Welsh Government issued a consultation on 
the draft National Assembly for Wales (Disqualification) Order 2015.  This 
consultation sought views on which offices should be included in that 
order. The consultation closed on the 11 March 2015, which allowed an 
eight week consultation period.  As well as being publicly available on the 
Welsh Government website, offices that were listed for disqualification 
under the draft Order were contacted, to ensure they had the opportunity 
to give their views on whether they deemed their inclusion in the Order 
appropriate, and whether there were any other offices that they considered 
should be included.

18.Eight substantive responses were received to the consultation.  Most of 
these responses were from bodies who confirmed they were content with 
the proposed disqualification of the offices listed in the draft Order which 
were relevant to them.  One response noted that members of the 
Employment Tribunal were not included in the draft Order, and suggested 
they should be.  We agreed that, based on the criteria outlined at 

Pack Page 36



paragraph 12-16 above, members of Employment Tribunals and the 
Employment Appeal Tribunal should be disqualified, and these have now 
been included in the draft Order. 

19.An analysis of the consultation responses is available as part of the Welsh 
Government’s response to the consultation, published on the Welsh 
Government website at

http://gov.wales/consultations/finance/disqualification-
order/?status=closed&lang=en

Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) 

20.The Welsh Ministers’ Code of Practice on the carrying out of Regulatory 
Impact Assessments was considered in relation to this Order. As a result, 
it was not considered necessary to carry out a regulatory impact 
assessment as to the likely costs and benefits of complying with the Order.

21.This Order has no impact on the statutory duties of Welsh Ministers 
relating to equality of opportunity (section 77 of GOWA 2006), the Welsh 
language (section 78 GOWA), or sustainable development (section 79 
GOWA 2006), and will have no impact on the local government, voluntary 
sector or business schemes under section 73, 74 and 75 of GOWA 2006 
respectively. 

Pack Page 37

http://gov.wales/consultations/finance/disqualification-order/?status=closed&lang=en
http://gov.wales/consultations/finance/disqualification-order/?status=closed&lang=en


 
Constitutional and Legislative 
Affairs Committee

Inquiry into the Disqualification 
from Membership of the National 
Assembly for Wales

July 2014

Pack Page 38



An electronic copy of this report can be found on the National Assembly’s website:
www.assemblywales.org

Copies of this report can also be obtained in accessible formats including Braille, large print; 
audio or hard copy from:
Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee
National Assembly for Wales
Cardiff Bay
CF99 1NA

Tel:  029 2089 8008/8019
Fax: 029 2089 8021
Email: CLA.Committee@wales.gov.uk

© National Assembly for Wales Commission Copyright 2014
The text of this document may be reproduced free of charge in any format or medium 
providing that it is reproduced accurately and not used in a misleading or derogatory 
context. The material must be acknowledged as copyright of the National Assembly for 
Wales Commission and the title of the document specified.

The National Assembly for Wales is the democratically 
elected body that represents the interests of Wales and 
its people, makes laws for Wales and holds the Welsh 
Government to account.

Pack Page 39



 
Constitutional and Legislative 
Affairs Committee

Inquiry into the Disqualification 
of Membership from the National 
Assembly for Wales

July 2014

Pack Page 40



The Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee
The Committee was established on 15 June 2011 with a remit to carry out the functions of the 
responsible committee set out in in Standing Orders 21.2 and 21.3 and to consider any other 
legislative matter, other than the functions required by Standing Order 26, referred to it by the 
Business Committee.

Current Committee membership

David Melding (Chair) 
Deputy Presiding Officer
Welsh Conservatives 
South Wales Central

Julie James 
Welsh Labour
Swansea West

Simon Thomas
Plaid Cymru
Mid and West Wales

Eluned Parrott   
Welsh Liberal Democrats
South Wales Central

Suzy Davies    
Welsh Conservatives
South Wales West

Pack Page 41



Contents 

 

Summary .............................................................................................................................. 5 

The Committee’s Recommendations ................................................................... 8 

1. Introduction............................................................................................................ 13 

The Committee‘s remit .............................................................. 13 

Terms of reference .................................................................... 13 

2. Background and evidence for change..................................................... 15 

Legislative background .............................................................. 15 

Evidence about the existing arrangements ................................. 16 

Our view ................................................................................... 18 

3. Principles ................................................................................................................. 19 

The right to stand for election ................................................... 19 

General principles underpinning disqualification rules ............... 21 

Our view ................................................................................... 25 

4. Proposed changes to the legislative framework .............................. 27 

Introduction .............................................................................. 27 

Timing of disqualification .......................................................... 27 

Using internal administration rather than the law ....................... 31 

Distinguishing between staff within organisations regarding  

nomination as a candidate ......................................................... 33 

Employees and employers rights ................................................ 34 

Section 16 of the Government of Wales Act 2006 ....................... 36 

The Assembly‘s power to relieve individuals of the consequences 

of disqualification...................................................................... 36 

Our view ................................................................................... 37 

5. Proposed changes to the 2010 Disqualification Order ................ 43 

Anomalies and inconsistencies .................................................. 43 

The structure of the Order ......................................................... 44 

Distinguishing between staff within organisations for the purposes 

of the Order .............................................................................. 45 

Pack Page 42



 

 

Timing ...................................................................................... 46 

Bilingual Order .......................................................................... 47 

Our view ................................................................................... 48 

6. Timing of proposed changes ....................................................................... 52 

Our view ................................................................................... 52 

7. Raising Awareness ............................................................................................. 54 

Evidence .................................................................................... 54 

Our view ................................................................................... 56 

8. Holding more than one political role ...................................................... 58 

Background ............................................................................... 58 

Dual political role: Assembly Member and local authority councillor

 ................................................................................................. 59 

Dual political role: member of the House of Lords and a local 

authority councillor ................................................................... 65 

Our view ................................................................................... 66 

Witnesses ......................................................................................................................... 68 

List of written evidence ........................................................................................... 69 

Annexe 1 – Letter from First Minsiter, 27 January 2014 ....................... 70 

Annexe 2 – Welsh Government Memorandum ............................................ 72 

Annexe 3 – Section B, Written evidence DQ6, Keith Bush QC ............ 76 

  

Pack Page 43



5 

Summary  

In 2011, two Members elected to the National Assembly were 

disqualified after it emerged that they were members of public bodies 

that serving AMs cannot belong to. 

 

One did not regain his seat after it was found that he had not checked 

the relevant rules for candidates. The other was reinstated after it was 

established that he had received out-of-date advice. 

 

The events opened up the debate about what bodies elected members 

could be part of and, if a member was part of an organisation not 

allowed under the rules, when that connection should be severed. 

 

In 2014 the First Minister asked the National Assembly‘s Constitutional 

and Legislative Affairs Committee to consider carrying out an inquiry 

into the rules concerning disqualification of members. 

 

The Committee found that there are complications between part of the 

Government of Wales Act 2006, which deals with disqualification, and 

the National Assembly for Wales (Representation of the People) Order 

2007, which deals with aspects of electoral law. 

 

Currently, the disqualification from becoming an Assembly Member 

becomes relevant when candidate is nominated for election. At this 

point, according to the 2007 Order, a candidate should not be part of, 

or a member of, any organisations on  long lists set out in the 2006 

Act and the relevant Disqualification Order made under it.. 

 

But in this regard the 2007 Order effectively pre-empts the 2006 Act, 

which states that disqualification takes effect when Members are 

elected. 

 

So, under the Act, a candidate need not resign from their positions 

until just before they are elected. Under the Order they must resign 

not knowing whether they will be elected, leaving some candidates 

facing the prospect of unemployment should they lose. 

 

Pack Page 44



6 

The Committee has suggested how the legislation can be changed to 

not only remove the complications but also ensure that the events 

following the 2011 election are not repeated. 

 

The solution is not a simple one, as it requires amendments to both 

primary and secondary legislation (Acts and Regulations), and the 

powers to make these changes are shared between the UK Parliament 

and the Assembly. 

 

To overcome this problem the Committee has identified changes that, 

it believes, should be made in time for the next Assembly general 

election in 2016, and for the subsequent one in 2021. 

 

One of the Committees main recommendations, which probably 

cannot be in place until the 2021 election, would require amending the 

Government of Wales Act 2006.  

 

The changes would mean that disqualification from membership of the 

Assembly should take effect on taking the oath or affirmation of 

allegiance as an Assembly Member, subject to a few exceptions 

because of the nature of the jobs being undertaken. 

 

The Committee believes this would be a significant change that would 

enable more people to stand for election because they will not have to 

give up their employment to do so. 

 

The change could be achieved in one of two ways -  by requiring 

Assembly Members to resign a disqualifying post before taking the 

oath or affirmation of allegiance, or by deeming an Assembly Member 

to have resigned a disqualifying post on being elected.  

 

The Committee suggests that the Law Commission investigate and 

report on this issue as part of a wider review across all UK legislatures. 

 

The Committee didn‘t feel it was in a position to list definitively the 

public bodies and officeholders that should be the subject of future 

disqualification orders, but has nevertheless provided an indication of 

those it thinks should be included.  

 

In light of evidence it received, the Committee also considered the 

issue of holding more than one political post in respect of the roles of 

Pack Page 45



7 

Assembly Member and local councillor, and Assembly Member and 

Member of the House of Lords.  

 

In the case of the former, it believes further investigation is required.   

 

However, the Committee does believe there is a clearer case for 

prohibiting individuals from standing as an Assembly Member and 

being a Member of the House of Lords, although such a ban should 

not apply to anyone who is currently serving as a member of both 

institutions.  

 

 

  

Pack Page 46



8 

The Committee’s Recommendations 

Recommendation 1. we recommend that the following principles, 

or ones similar to them, should inform who should be disqualified 

from membership of the National Assembly for Wales: 

Principle 1: Promoting democratic participation and the right to 

stand as an Assembly Member are paramount.  

Principle 2: Disqualification from membership of the National 

Assembly for Wales should be restricted to as few citizens as 

possible.  

Principle 3: Political activity is inappropriate for some citizens in 

order to:  

i. protect the independence of the electoral process; 

ii. prevent conflicts of interest arising on election; and 

iii. protect certain public offices from political bias.  

Principle 4: The following citizens should be affected by a 

disqualification order:  

i. those whose role involves an over-riding requirement for 

impartiality, including those whose responsibilities include 

the electoral process itself;  

ii. those who hold any public office which carries with it a 

significant financial benefit from the Welsh Government;  

iii. those who hold public office and in that role provide 

formal advice to the Welsh Government; 

iv. those who hold any public office which is subject to 

scrutiny by the Assembly. 

Principle 5: Where disqualifications are necessary they must be: 

i. in line with these principles; 

ii. clear and unambiguous; 

iii. proportionate.       (Page 25) 

Recommendation 2. we recommend that the UK Government 

brings forward appropriate legislation to amend the Government of 

Wales Act 2006 to provide that disqualification from a particular public 

office should take effect on taking the oath or affirmation of allegiance 

as an Assembly Member. This change should not apply to a very 

Pack Page 47



9 

limited number of posts—as specified in section 16 of the 2006 Act or 

by order—where being a candidate would, for example, give rise to a 

conflict of interest or appear to undermine impartiality.  (Page 38) 

Recommendation 3. we recommend that the UK Government 

brings forward appropriate legislation to remove the relevant 

provisions in The National Assembly for Wales (Representation of the 

People) Order 2007 requiring candidates, when accepting nomination, 

to declare that to the best of their knowledge and belief, they do not 

hold a disqualifying office.      (Page 39) 

Recommendation 4. we recommend that the Welsh and UK  

Governments ask the Law Commission to investigate and report on the 

various legislative options for delivering recommendation 2, and to 

make a recommendation on what it would consider to be the most 

appropriate, potentially as part of a wider review of this issue across 

all UK legislatures.       (Page 40) 

Recommendation 5. we recommend that the UK Government 

amends section 16 of the Government of Wales Act 2006 to ensure 

that any disqualifications it contains are set out fully rather than by 

reference to other legislation and that all disqualifications it specifies 

take effect on nomination.      (Page 40) 

Recommendation 6. we recommend that the the UK Government  

amends section 16(1) of the Government of Wales Act 2006 to remove 

the Auditor General and Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, so that 

they may be included in an appropriate disqualification order with 

other offices.        (Page 40) 

Recommendation 7. we recommend that the UK Government 

amends section 16(4) of the Government of Wales Act 2006 so that a 

person who holds office as lord-lieutenant, lieutenant or high sheriff 

should be disqualified from being an Assembly Member. (Page 41) 

Recommendation 8. we recommend that the Welsh and UK  

Governments, in asking the Law Commission to investigate and report 

in line with recommendation 4, also include a requirement to advise 

on the implications of retaining, replacing or removing section 17(3) of 

the Government of Wales Act 2006.     (Page 41) 

Recommendation 9. we recommend that any future legislative 

change to section 17(3) of the Government of Wales Act 2006 should 

Pack Page 48



10 

only proceed following consultation with, and the consent of, the 

National Assembly for Wales.              (Page 42) 

Recommendation 10. we recommend that the order for the 2016 

Assembly general election should specify two categories of persons 

who should be disqualified:  

Category 1: those who should be disqualified from  nomination 

because of the nature of their role.  

Category 2: those who should be disqualified from return as an 

Assembly Member.      (Page 48) 

Recommendation 11. we recommend that the order for the 2021 

Assembly general election should specify two categories of persons 

who should be disqualified:  

Category 1: those who should be disqualified from nomination 

because of the nature of their role.  

Category 2: those who should be disqualified having been 

elected but only from taking the oath or affirmation of 

allegiance.                (Page 48) 

Recommendation 12. we recommend that an order drafted for the 

2016 Assembly general election to disqualify persons from nomination 

as an Assembly Member should include (but not necessarily be limited 

to) the following:  

Auditor General for Wales 

Children‘s Commissioner for Wales 

Civil Service Commissioner 

Commissioner for Equality and Human Rights 

Commissioner for Older People in Wales 

Commissioner for Public Appointments 

Comptroller and Auditor General 

Her Majesty‘s Chief inspector of Education and Training in 

Wales 

Local Government Boundary Commissioner for Wales Members 

of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales Members and 

Staff of the Electoral Commission Parliamentary Commissioner 

for Administration 

Returning Officers and local authority staff involved in the 

Pack Page 49



11 

electoral process  

Statutory deputies of the persons in this list 

Welsh Language Commissioner     (Page 49) 

Recommendation 13. we recommend that an order should be 

drafted for the 2016 Assembly general election that disqualifies the 

following persons on return as an Assembly Member:  

Members of judicial tribunals  

 Persons appointed by Welsh Ministers   

Staff of local authorities not included in category 1 

Staff of National Park, Police, Fire and Rescue Authorities  

Staff of the organisations referred to in category 1  

 Staff of Welsh Government Sponsored Public Bodies     (Page 50) 

 

Recommendation 14. we recommend that, in preparing a 

disqualification order for the 2016 Assembly general election, the 

Welsh Government consults widely on its contents, including in 

particular, all those organisations that it covers.   (Page 51) 

Recommendation 15. we recommend that the disqualification  order 

for the 2016 Assembly general election is drafted, consulted on and 

made no later than 12 months before the date of that election.  

           (Page 51) 

Recommendation 16.  we recommend that the disqualification order 

for the 2016 Assembly general election is made bilingually in the Privy 

Council.         (Page 51) 

Recommendation 17.  we recommend that every public body in 

Wales reviews its rules governing political activities to ensure that all 

staff are clear about the internal rules that apply in the event that they 

wish to seek nomination for, and are eventually successful in, election 

to the National Assembly for Wales. Such rules should take account of 

any legislation that arises from this report and be subject to review at 

least 2 years before Assembly general elections that take place after 

2016.          (Page 56) 

Recommendation 18.  we recommend that the Welsh Government 

reviews the terms of appointment and guidance it gives to appointees, 

sponsored bodies and other relevant bodies regarding political 

activity.         (Page 57) 

Pack Page 50



12 

Recommendation 19. we recommend that the Electoral Commission 

reviews its existing guidance on disqualification from membership of 

the National Assembly for Wales to ensure it is comprehensive and 

covers all of the relevant policy issues and legislation that a)pply. 

           (Page 57) 

Recommendation 20. we recommend that the Welsh Government 

commissions an independent review of  the feasibility of holding a 

dual mandate as an Assembly Member, and local authority councillor 

(including having regard to: the potential for conflicts of interest, time 

commitments involved and issues of public perception) and to make 

recommendations.       (Page 66) 

Recommendation 21. we recommend that the UK Government 

prohibits the practice of standing as an Assembly Member and a 

Member of the House of Lords, but that such a prohibition should not 

be applied to anyone who is currently serving as a member of both 

institutions.         (Page 67) 

  

Pack Page 51



13 

1. Introduction 

The Committee’s remit  

1. The remit of the Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee 

(―the Committee‖) is to carry out the functions of the responsible 

committee set out in Standing Order 21 and to consider any other 

constitutional or governmental matter within or relating to the 

competence of the Assembly or Welsh Ministers.   

2. Within this, the Committee considers the political and legal 

importance and technical aspects of all statutory instruments or draft 

statutory instruments made by the Welsh Ministers and reports on 

whether the Assembly should pay special attention to the instruments 

on a range of grounds set out in Standing Order 21. 

3. The Committee also considers and reports on the appropriateness 

of provisions in Assembly Bills and UK Parliament Bills that grant 

powers to make subordinate legislation to the Welsh Ministers, the 

First Minister or the Counsel General.   

Terms of reference 

4. On 17 February 2014, we agreed to hold an inquiry into 

disqualification from membership of the National Assembly for Wales. 

The terms of references were to consider: 

– the principles underpinning the disqualifying posts and 

employments contained in The National Assembly for Wales 

(Disqualification) Order 2010 and, so far as possible, to 

recommend a new list of disqualifying posts and employments; 

– the timing of when disqualifications take effect;  

– whether disqualification orders should be made by the Privy 

Council in bilingual form; and 

– any other matters relating to disqualification from being an 

Assembly Member.  

5. The inquiry was prompted following a letter from the First 

Minister in January 2014 asking us if we would consider carrying out 

an inquiry into the rules pertaining to disqualification from Assembly 

membership. A copy of the letter is at Annexe 1.  

Pack Page 52



14 

6. The Welsh Government also provided a memorandum which 

included the context of the request for us to undertake the inquiry, the 

content of the disqualification order and incidental issues. The 

memorandum can be found at Annexe 2 to this report.  

7. We issued a call for written evidence on 14 March 2014 and held 

7 evidence sessions. Details of the responses received and witnesses 

who gave evidence can be found at the end of this report.  

  

Pack Page 53



15 

2. Background and evidence for change  

Legislative background  

8. The legislation governing disqualification of membership from 

the National Assembly for Wales is complex and includes the 

following:  

– Sections 16 - 19 of the Government of Wales Act 2006, which 

sets out the broad legislative framework for disqualification 

from being an Assembly Member (and, in so doing, draws on the 

House of Commons Disqualification Act 1975).    

– The National Assembly for Wales (Disqualification) Order 2010, 

(―the 2010 Disqualification Order‖) made under section 16(6) of 

the Government of Wales Act 2006. The 2010 Disqualification 

Order designates persons who are disqualified from being a 

member of the National Assembly for Wales. Part 1 of the Order 

covers ―Bodies the members of which are disqualified‖, while 

Part 2 covers ―Other disqualifying offices‖.     

– The National Assembly for Wales (Representation of the People) 

Order 2007, made under section 11 of the Government of Wales 

Act 1998 and the Political Parties, Elections and Referendums 

Act 2000. Under rule 9(4)(c)(ii) of Schedule 5 to the 2007 Order, 

candidates for election to the Assembly are required to declare, 

to the best of their knowledge and belief, that they are not 

disqualified from membership. The power in section 11 of the 

Government of Wales Act 1998 is now contained in section 13 of 

the Government of Wales Act 2006. Section 13 provides the 

Secretary of State with a power to, by order, apply or 

incorporate, with or without modifications or exceptions, any 

provision of or made under the 2000 Act and other enactments 

relating to Parliamentary elections.  

9. Section B of the written evidence from Keith Bush QC, the former 

Chief Legal Adviser to the National Assembly, provides a more 

comprehensive analysis of the legislative framework. It is reproduced 

as Annexe 3 to this report and he provided further analysis during an 

oral evidence session.
1

 

                                       
1

 Constitutional and Legislative Affairs (‗CLA‘) Committee, RoP, 16 June 2014  

Pack Page 54



16 

10. Section 23 of the Government of Wales Act 2006 requires all 

Assembly Members to take the oath of allegiance to HM the Queen, or 

to make the corresponding affirmation.  Until Members have done so, 

they may not take part in Assembly proceedings (except for the 

purposes of taking the oath and election of the Presiding Officer and 

Deputy Presiding Officer) or draw a salary or any other payment. This 

provision of the 2006 Act is particularly relevant to this report.  

Evidence about the existing arrangements  

11. Under the current legislative arrangements, the disqualification 

from becoming an Assembly Member becomes relevant when a 

candidate is nominated for election.  

12. However, as the evidence of Keith Bush QC demonstrates, there 

are complications between the Government of Wales Act 2006 and the 

electoral law contained in The National Assembly for Wales 

(Representation of the People) Order 2007. Keith Bush QC stated that 

the requirements of the 2007 Order ―bite‖:  

―… at the time of acceptance of nomination, i.e. the candidate 

is required to make the declaration on the basis of the position 

at that date, which is anomalous, since GOWA 2006 only 

requires that a candidate is not disqualified when returned. If, 

therefore, a candidate is aware of a disqualification which 

exists at the time of nomination, he or she must not accept 

nomination unless the disqualification has already been 

removed, e.g. by resigning from the office prior to accepting 

nomination. 

―So, in practice, the disqualification ―takes effect‖ not when a 

disqualified candidate is elected but when a candidate accepts 

nomination, although, perversely, a candidate who is unaware 

of a disqualification has a further period of grace, ending when 

the return is submitted, to divest himself or herself of the 

disqualifying office.‖
2

 

13. We also heard from a number of witnesses about the lack of 

clarity of the legislation, particularly surrounding the 2010 

Disqualification Order.  

                                       
2

 Written Evidence DQ 6  

Pack Page 55



17 

14. The Electoral Commission told us that the 2010 Disqualification 

Order:  

―… is long, and it tends to get longer, because the list of bodies 

tends to be added to. They are usually removed only if the 

organisation no longer exists. So … potentially, the net is quite 

wide. Also, it is not clear what criteria have been applied … 

someone simply looking at the Order could not tell what the 

criteria are. It is not particularly transparent.‖
3

  

15. The Chief Executive
4

 of Natural Resources Wales said: 

―I must admit that, having never looked into this issue before 

your inquiry, until I read the Order, I had not fully realised that 

it affected board members and staff … Also, I had not 

appreciated that it affects the nomination period as well as the 

actual election period. I think that the Electoral Commission 

makes both of these points. I agree with it; on the first reading, 

that was not clear to me. So, I think that they are unclear.‖
5

 

16. The Older People‘s Commissioner for Wales expressed similar 

sentiments, stating:  

―… I had not quite realised that my staff were all barred, which 

may have been an error on my part. So, on that basis, I would 

probably say that it is not very clear, because I did not know ... 

However, it is important, because I need to be clear about the 

terms and conditions of employment of my staff … ‖
6

  

17. Lawyers in Local Government
7

 did not find the existing 

disqualifications to be unclear,
8

 but highlighted the potential dangers 

                                       

3

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 25], 28 April 2014 

4

 The Chief Executive of Natural Resources Wales, Dr Emyr Roberts, indicated during 

his evidence session that he was representing largely his own views and they had not 

been discussed by the board or anyone else. 

5

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 100], 2 June 2014 

6

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 158], 2 June 2014 

7

 Lawyers in Local Government was formed in April 2013 by the merger of the 

Association of Council Secretaries and Solicitors (ACSeS) and Solicitors in Local 

Government (SLG). Its primary purpose is to represent, promote and support the 

interests of its members. Membership is open to local government legal or 

governance officers, including Monitoring Officers and their deputies, solicitors, 

barristers, legal executives, licensed conveyancers and trainees. 

8

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 13], 12 May 2014 

Pack Page 56



18 

of using a list-based system, namely of missing something out
9

 or of 

the list becoming out of date.
10

   

Our view  

18. It is clear from all the evidence we have heard that there is a need 

to reform the legislative framework surrounding disqualification from 

membership of the National Assembly for Wales, as well as reviewing 

and revising the 2010 Disqualification Order.  

19. Our report therefore includes consideration of:  

– the principles that should underpin disqualification from 

membership of the National Assembly (Chapter 3); 

– proposed changes required to the legislative framework 

(Chapter 4); 

– proposed changes to The National Assembly for Wales 

(Disqualification) Order 2010 (Chapter 5);  

– the timing of the proposed changes (Chapter 6); 

– raising awareness about the disqualification rules that apply 

(Chapter 7). 

20. We also heard evidence about the appropriateness of holding 

more that one political position, so called ―double jobbing‖ and this is 

considered in Chapter 8.  

  

  

                                       
9

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 13], 12 May 2014 

10

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 15], 12 May 2014 

Pack Page 57



19 

3. Principles  

The right to stand for election  

21. The right to stand for election and the desirability of maximising 

the opportunity to stand for election was a consistent theme of the 

evidence we received.  

22. The First Minister stated in his letter to the committee of 27 

January 2014:   

―Past disqualification orders have sought to strike a balance in 

terms of disqualifying posts and employments: allowing as 

many citizens as possible to stand for election, whilst 

protecting the legislature from undue influence by government-

paid office-holders, protecting the public purse by avoiding 

conflicts of interests, and protecting the impartiality of certain 

bodies from the appearance of party political bias.‖
11

 

23. The Welsh Government‘s memorandum added that:    

―Generally speaking, restrictions on membership are a basic 

feature of elected legislatures. While certain restrictions are 

necessary, they are a limit on people‘s democratic rights. In the 

Welsh Government‘s view, therefore, the rationale behind 

disqualifying people from Assembly membership must be well 

justified, and we should restrict exclusions to the minimum.‖
12

 

and concluded:  

―…it is our view that the rules pertaining to disqualifications are 

increasingly unfit for purpose to the point that, in some 

instances, they pose a disincentive to potential candidates and 

thus fall foul of the logic of empowering democratic 

participation.‖
13

 

  

                                       
11

 Letter from the First Minister, Disqualification from membership of the National 

Assembly for Wales, 27 January 2014 

12

 Welsh Government, Inquiry into disqualifications from Assembly membership: 

Memorandum by the Welsh Government, March 2014    

13

 Ibid 

Pack Page 58



20 

24. The Electoral Commission told us that:  

―Disqualifications are a limit on people‘s freedom to stand for 

election and indeed limit voters‘ choice of as many candidates 

as possible. So, for that reason, disqualification should be 

justified and proportionate.‖
14

  

25. In their view:  

―Justified and proportionate disqualification criteria should allow 

the widest possible choice of candidates for electors to choose 

from, striking a balance between preventing candidacy in 

limited, specified circumstances, while not unreasonably 

discouraging participation.‖
15

 

26. The Electoral Commission also told us that following a UK-wide 

consultation on standing for election the clear message coming 

through was:  

―… the need for the rules to be as simple as they can be, as 

consistent as they can be, and as straightforward as possible. I 

am sure that candidates, especially those who do not have 

access to professional quality advice, think that they are doing 

something marvellous in standing for election, and it must be 

like a minefield with lots of things to trip them up along the 

way.‖
16

 

27. The Electoral Commission‘s consultation also found that people 

consider the disqualifications to be too wide.
17

 

28. The Electoral Reform Society Wales expressed similar views:  

―We would view any kind of restriction on people‘s ability to 

stand for the National Assembly and be Assembly Members as 

a restriction on their democratic freedom, so keeping those 

sets of restrictions to an absolute minimum would seem to be 

the guiding principle, to make it as light touch as possible.‖
18

  

                                       
14

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 21], 28 April 2014   

15

 Written Evidence DQ 1 

16

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 83], 28 April 2014   

17

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 51], 28 April 2014 

18

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 92], 28 April 2014 

Pack Page 59



21 

29. We also asked the Older People‘s Commissioner for Wales 

whether the existing rules create any barriers for older people to stand 

for election. In responding she said:  

―I suppose that, at one level, you would have to look at the age 

profile of the organisations that currently had the bars running 

through them, and, if they are skewed to one age group, you 

could argue that that age group is disproportionately affected. 

The route that I prefer to take, as a human-rights-based 

commissioner, is more one of inclusion, opportunity and 

removing barriers for people. I think that there are many, many 

barriers that people face to go into the world of politics, and 

into political life, either at national or local level, and, actually, 

what we should really be focusing on is how to remove those 

barriers for people.‖
19

 

30. Peter Black AM also emphasised the importance of maximising 

the ability of people to stand for election, closing his oral evidence by 

stating:  

―In terms of the disqualification rules … it would be beneficial 

to Welsh democracy and the Assembly if we made those rules 

more permissive, rather than less permissive … It seems to me 

that the whole point of the Assembly—or one of the rationales 

behind it—was to increase accountability and transparency and 

enable people to have a much greater say in terms of their own 

Government and running affairs in the Assembly. I think that it 

is important, therefore, in terms of the disqualification rules, 

that we try to ensure that as many people as possible are able 

to stand for election to the Assembly.‖
20

 

General principles underpinning disqualification rules 

31. The Welsh Government‘s memorandum (and a subsequent letter 

from the First Minister
21

) identified the categories of person 

disqualified as a result of applying the principles referred to in the 

First Minister‘s letter of 27 January 2014 (see paragraph 22). These 

were:    

                                       
19

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 183], 2 June 2014 

20

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 64], 2 June 2014  

21

 Letter from the First Minister, Disqualification from membership of the National 

Assembly for Wales, 16 May 2014 

Pack Page 60



22 

– Holders of offices wholly or partly funded by the Welsh 

Government. This included salaried, pensionable and certain fee-

paid posts, but excluded posts attracting expenses only. Office 

with remuneration of less than £10,000 per year should not 

normally attract disqualification.  

– Appointments which were made, approved or confirmed by the 

First Minister, Welsh Ministers or the Counsel General, or 

appointments on which they had a statutory right to be 

consulted.  

– Office holders whose functions would give rise to an 

unsustainable conflict of interest were they to be elected as 

Assembly Members.  

– Office holders who were not, or were not seen as being, 

politically impartial.
22

 

32. The Electoral Commission said the rules on standing for election 

should aim to promote the following principles:  

– The rules should as far as possible facilitate participation in the 

electoral process. 

– The rules should be straightforward, clear and unambiguous. 

– Fair treatment as far as possible for all candidates. 

– The rules should be as consistent as possible across different 

types of election. 

– The rules should be up to date.
23

 

33. It also said:  

―We consider that there are at least two key principles that 

should underpin legislation on disqualifications: 

• First, the Assembly may decide that there are certain 

officeholders or employees whose involvement as 

candidates in an election could compromise or undermine 

the integrity or impartiality of the election process. 

• Second, the Assembly may decide that there are certain 

offices or employed positions which are incompatible with 

                                       
22

 Welsh Government, Inquiry into disqualifications from Assembly membership: 

Memorandum by the  Welsh Government, March 2014  

23

 Written Evidence DQ 1 

Pack Page 61



23 

membership of the Assembly, because the effective or 

impartial discharge of either function could be 

compromised or undermined by the appearance of a 

conflict of interest.‖
24

  

34. The Chief Executive of Natural Resources Wales also identified 

some basic principles: 

– Rules should be designed to encourage participation and any 

barriers should be proportionate; 

– Rules should be designed to deal with perceived conflicts as well 

as real ones; 

– Rules should be clear and unambiguous; 

– Rules should distinguish between individuals who are 

disqualified and office holders who are disqualified.
25

 

35. Keith Bush QC felt that the next order should continue to be 

drafted so as to disqualify from membership of the Assembly those 

who hold any public office which: 

(a) carries with it a significant financial benefit to that person 

that emanates from the Welsh Government; or 

(b) is, itself, subject to scrutiny by the Assembly.
26

   

36. He added: 

―Clearly, the application of test (a) calls for a judgement as to 

what constitutes a significant financial benefit. It would seem 

obvious that an office which is unpaid, other than the 

reimbursement of expenses, ought not to generate a 

disqualification. The Memorandum from the First Minister 

suggests that in the past other remuneration, up to as much as 

£10,000 per annum, has been disregarded.‖
27

 

37. He confirmed that the two principles continued to be vital and 

that they ―are absolutely the core principles to do with the separation 

of powers and the avoidance of conflicts of interest.‖
28

 

                                       
24

 Written Evidence DQ 1 

25

 Written Evidence DQ 9 

26

 Written Evidence DQ 6 

27

 Ibid 

28

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 163], 16 June 2014 

Pack Page 62



24 

 

 

38. He added:  

―If there is an argument for going further than that, and 

including certain organisations where their functions are non-

devolved officially, but their relationship with the Assembly is 

so close that they are virtually in that same position—I am 

thinking, for example, of organisations involved in 

broadcasting in Wales—then fair enough; it is a matter of policy 

to do that. However, my fear is that, at present, there is no 

definitive and clear statement of those principles.‖
29

 

39. The Electoral Reform Society Wales felt that an open set of criteria 

should be published by which an office should be judged on whether it 

should be disqualified. The Society illustrated the kinds of issues that 

would need to be considered around, for example, Welsh Government 

funding:  

―I am sure that the RSPB must get some Welsh Government 

funding to do some kind of programme work. The RSPB‘s core 

funding comes from its own funding streams, whether that is 

fundraising or membership fees, commercial activities or 

whatever. That is kind of independently funded and I think, 

therefore, that it is appropriate that it is up to that organisation 

to determine its own policy in relation to who should be 

disqualified from standing. For an organisation like Cynnal 

Cymru, however, its core funding does come from the Welsh 

Government, so I think that that places it in a slightly different 

bag, if you like. The chief executive of that organisation is 

accountable to a sponsor team within the civil service, which the 

director of RSPB is not. So … we should be careful not to draw 

too many organisations into that, but I think that there are kind 

of clear differences between the two types of organisation.‖
30

 

                                       
29

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 182], 16 June 2014 

30

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 138], 28 April 2014 

Pack Page 63



25 

Our view 

40. As Keith Bush QC said in his evidence, ―there can be no higher 

service to the public in Wales than to be an Assembly Member.‖
31

  

41. Promoting democratic participation and the right to stand for 

elected office must therefore be at the heart of any principles that 

underpin the rules governing disqualification from being an Assembly 

Member. We agree with those who have suggested that any 

disqualifications that do exist must be restricted to a minimum, as 

well as being proportionate.  

42. We believe that more citizens are likely to consider standing for 

election if the rules are clear, easily explained, accessible and properly 

communicated to those organisations that are referred to in the 

legislation.  

43. We also note the principles advocated in evidence provided to us.  

Recommendation 1: we recommend that the following principles, 

or ones similar to them, should inform who should be disqualified 

from membership of the National Assembly for Wales:  

 

Principle 1: Promoting democratic participation and the right 

to stand as an Assembly Member are paramount.  

 

Principle 2: Disqualification from membership of the 

National Assembly for Wales should be restricted to as few 

citizens as possible. 

 

Principle 3: Political activity is inappropriate for some 

citizens in order to:   

 

i. protect the independence of the electoral 

process;  

ii. prevent conflicts of interest arising on election; 

and 

iii. protect certain public offices from political bias.   

 

Principle 4: The following citizens should be affected by a 

disqualification order:   

                                       
31

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 231], 16 June 2014 

Pack Page 64



26 

 

i. those whose role involves an over-riding 

requirement for impartiality, including those 

whose responsibilities include the electoral 

process itself;   

ii. those who hold any public office which carries 

with it a significant financial benefit from the 

Welsh Government;  

iii. those who hold public office and in that role 

provide formal advice to the Welsh Government;  

iv. those who hold any public office which is subject 

to scrutiny by the Assembly. 

 

Principle 5: Where disqualifications are necessary they must 

be:  

i. in line with these principles;  

ii. clear and unambiguous;  

iii. proportionate.   

44. When we refer to public office (apart from references to specific 

public offices) we mean offices referred to in legislation to which 

appointment is made by the National Assembly or by Welsh or UK 

Ministers.  They will include individual offices such as commissioners 

and members of collective authorities such as boards. 

45. The principles in recommendation 1 have been taken into account 

in reaching our conclusions in Chapter 4, Proposed changes to the 

legislative framework and Chapter 5, Proposed changes to the 2010 

Order.   

Pack Page 65



27 

4.  Proposed changes to the legislative framework  

Introduction  

46. As indicated in Chapter 2, there would appear to be anomalies 

within the legislative framework that need to be remedied.   

47. In addition, one of the key issues to be considered by our inquiry 

is the timing of disqualifications. Any changes to the existing system 

would require changes to law that are outside the legislative 

competence of the National Assembly (such as changes to the 

Government of Wales Act 2006) or the powers of Welsh Ministers (such 

as the The National Assembly for Wales (Representation of the People) 

Order 2007).  

48. Other issues have been raised during evidence sessions that 

equally need to be examined as part of the overall legislative 

framework or relate to amending the Government of Wales Act 2006. 

There may also be consequences for other primary legislation.   

49. These matters are considered below.  

Timing of disqualification   

50. As the legislation currently stands, all disqualifications become 

relevant when a candidate is nominated for election.  

51. The Electoral Commission considered that the current rules do 

not distinguish between standing as a candidate in an election and 

being disqualified if elected.
32

 It felt that a clearer distinction
33

 is 

needed and explained that it was about:  

―… looking at whether the disqualification should bite at the 

time of candidacy, because there is an issue about standing 

and campaigning for election that potentially undermines the 

electoral process or the integrity of the organisation that they 

are representing, and that which is really only a conflict of 

interest between holding office of a body and being an 

                                       
32

 Written Evidence DQ 1 

33

 Ibid 

Pack Page 66



28 

Assembly Member … each body listed in the Order could 

potentially be looked at in terms of those criteria.‖
34

  

52. The Electoral Commission acknowledged however that this 

approach could risk making the order more complex, adding that a 

revised order would have to be drafted in a ―very clear way‖.
35

  

53. Support for the approach of separating nomination from election 

came from the Electoral Reform Society Wales
36

 and the Chief Executive 

of Natural Resources Wales.
37

 

54. Many witnesses also considered that the disqualification could 

take effect on taking the oath or affirmation of allegiance, as required 

by section 23 of the Government of Wales Act 2006, and Standing 

Order 1 of the National Assembly‘s Standing Orders.   

55. Lawyers in Local Government suggested that disqualification 

should take effect on taking the oath of office.
38

 They added:   

―To effect an earlier date will impact on the number of potential 

candidates able to consider election to the NAW. The effective 

date of disqualification would enable potential candidates to 

seek election safe in the knowledge that they could do so 

without risking their livelihood.‖
39

  

56. When it was suggested that a conflict of interest applied from the 

declaration of candidature, Lawyers in Local Government said:  

―I come from a position of not wanting to exclude people from 

being able to stand for the National Assembly. I think that, if 

you are expecting someone to resign their post at the point of 

candidature, you will lose people—it will restrict the number of 

people coming forward. I suggested the point of declaration of 

office because you are then expecting people to lose their jobs 

when they know that they have got the position. I can accept 

your argument in terms of that difficult period in between, but 

one thing has to override the other and, to me, it is not 

                                       
34

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 21], 28 April 2014 

35

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 28], 28 April 2014 

36

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 144], 28 April 2014  

37

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 76], 2 June 2014 

38

 Written Evidence DQ 3 

39

 Ibid  

Pack Page 67



29 

excluding people from the political process—it is not excluding 

people from the Assembly.‖
40

 

57. Lawyers in Local Government explained its position by saying:   

―You are employed, and you choose to stand for office. You are 

selected, you go for election and you are able to do all of that 

until you get to the point where you are elected and you have to 

take the oath. It does not matter what you do for a living. You 

can stand and you can be elected, but, when you are elected, 

you then must make a decision. You either stay as a Member of 

the National Assembly and give up your job or you keep your job 

and give up your office.‖
41

 

58. The Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales
42

 felt that shortly 

before taking the oath as an Assembly Member would be the most 

appropriate time for a successful candidate to be required to resign 

from any disqualifying positions.
43

 In their view; 

―This would reduce the risk of discouraging persons from 

standing for election because they would be required to resign 

positions or employments whilst having no certainty of 

becoming elected.‖
44

   

59. The Electoral Reform Society Wales had ―no strong view‖
45

 but 

considered that waiting until the oath is taken gives both the 

individual and the organisation from which they have come slightly 

more time to prepare, adding: 

― …  it would appear to me that there are probably more 

practical benefits to doing it that way, but I think that we would 

need to be satisfied that, perception wise, there were not 

drawbacks to that.‖
46

  

                                       
40

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 21], 12 May 2014 

41

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 25], 12 May 2014 

42

 The Panel was appointed in January 2008 by the Welsh Government and 

established initially to determine the range and levels of allowances payable by 

county and county borough councils to their councillors and co-opted members with 

voting rights. The Panel‘s remit was extended to include members of National Park 

authorities, Welsh fire and rescue authorities and community and town councils.   

43

 Written Evidence DQ 5 

44

 Ibid 

45

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 159], 28 April 2014 

46

 Ibid 

Pack Page 68



30 

60. The Older People‘s Commissioner for Wales explained that she 

was not in favour of a person being barred at nomination because of 

the groups it would disadvantage, saying:  

―I think that some of the very people that we want to bring into 

the political environment—people on low incomes, women, or 

people who are carers, for example—are the people who could 

not afford to give up their jobs, and I think would not just be 

barred, but would be barred from the circumstances of their 

life. Actually, I would struggle with that, because I think that it 

would then mean that those who could afford to come and put 

their names forward would be the ones put forward, and I want 

to see a really diverse political base…‖
47

  

61. Keith Bush QC said: 

―There is therefore an overwhelming case, in the interests of 

attracting the widest choice of candidates for selection and, 

potentially for election to the Assembly, for changing the 

current arrangements so that a disqualification based on 

holding a disqualifying office takes effect after it is clear that 

the person in question has been elected.‖
48

 

62. He said that this could be achieved either by giving elected 

candidates the opportunity to divest themselves of disqualifying 

offices after election but before taking the oath or affirmation or, 

alternatively, by providing that candidates who hold disqualifying 

offices are deemed to have resigned from that office with immediate 

effect, if returned as an Assembly Member. Either of these approaches 

would, he said, require primary legislation.
49

  

63. He also considered that the election rules (as currently contained 

in The National Assembly for Wales (Representation of the People) 

Order 2007) should no longer require candidates, when accepting 

nomination, to declare that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, 

they do not hold a disqualifying office at that time.
50

 

  

                                       
47

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 181], 2 June 2014 

48

 Written Evidence DQ 6  

49

 Ibid  

50

 Ibid 

Pack Page 69



31 

64. When questioned on these approaches, he said:  

―I have reflected a bit more on that, particularly in the light of 

some of the evidence that you heard … With … automatic 

divestiture of any disqualifying offices or employment …  

having thought about it, it is clearly a matter that concerns 

some people, who have raised the issue of whether you would 

need to allow someone to give notice, clear their desk and 

hand over their job to somebody else. I think that there is a lot 

of force in that. So … probably, of the two, I would tend 

towards the more conservative approach, which is to … give 

people, in effect, up to two months in which they can get their 

act in order. In that time, they cannot vote and they cannot take 

part in proceedings. So, that is a burden. If they have not 

cleared things with their employers beforehand, then they will 

incur that burden and their parties will incur that burden. 

However, it seems to me that that would be less disruptive of 

people‘s employment and so on than a system whereby 

somebody might wake up one morning to find that one of their 

employees had suddenly ceased to be an employee without any 

kind of effective warning whatsoever.‖
51

  

Using internal administration rather than the law  

65. The Chief Executive of Natural Resources Wales highlighted how 

the law is not the only tool that can be used to control disqualification 

from standing as a candidate for the Assembly and that an 

organisation‘s internal administrative arrangements could play a role.
52

  

66. He felt that if a member of staff was selected as a candidate ―we 

would have to discuss with that individual what their time commitment 

was going to be on their political activities‖ but that this would be the 

same as for example ―someone had caring responsibilities‖ or ―if a 

member of their family was ill‖.
53

 As a result, the Chief Executive felt 

that the activities of Natural Resources Wales:   

                                       
51

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 227], 16 June 2014 

52

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraphs 83-84], 2 June 2014  

53

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 124], 2 June 2014 

Pack Page 70



32 

―… are sufficiently detached from Government that we could 

handle the situation where somebody was selected …  However, 

at nomination, there would have to be a formal standing back.‖
54

 

67. He explained his position on nomination:      

 ―… I would draw a distinction between people being nominated, 

having the right to stand as an Assembly Member, and the point 

of election. In my view, no problem arises as a result of their 

candidature. As an organisation, of course, we would have to 

make sure that they would stand down as a staff member or a 

board member, but in and of itself I do not see that as a 

problem. The only problem is if they are then elected to office 

and then there is a conflict, in my opinion, at least.‖
55

  

68. The Chief Executive also noted that, in terms of a member of staff 

on a sabbatical standing for a political party, he:  

―… would be perfectly willing to accept a member of my 

executive team leaving the organisation for that period in order 

to stand for a political party, and I would expect them to be 

completely impartial when they came back.‖
56

    

69. The Chief Executive added that if they were elected, there would 

need to be discussions about contracts and agreements with staff 

concerned and the unions.
57

  

70. The Electoral Reform Society Wales also illustrated how internal 

processes could be used:  

―For example, there may be, say, a board member of the Arts 

Council for Wales who wants to chuck his or her hat into the 

ring and contest the election … it would be unfortunate if they 

were forced to resign in order to contest an election. As long as 

it is clear in terms of how the arts council functions that that 

member was absenting themselves from any decision where it 

may be perceived that there was, or there actually was, a 

conflict of interest, then I think I would be satisfied with that.‖
58

 

                                       
54

 Ibid 

55

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 82], 2 June 2014 

56

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 114], 2 June 2014 

57

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 89], 2 June 2014 

58

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 102], 28 April 2014 

Pack Page 71



33 

71. Following on from this, when it was suggested that there could be 

internal rules in organisations to deal with candidature, short of 

legislation, for many organisations, the Electoral Reform Society Wales 

said it ―is certainly something that should be explored.‖
59

 

72. The Older People‘s Commissioner for Wales spoke of her code of 

conduct that explicitly covers political activities and that staff are 

advised of on their induction. The code ensures that her staff:  

―… know that they can come to me to discuss those issues … in 

order to get the balance right—namely encouraging people to 

want to be a part of debates and to take an interest, but not to 

cross a line that would impact upon my role as a statutory, 

independent, apolitical commissioner.‖
60

 

73. She also agreed with the Chief Executive of Natural Resources 

Wales regarding dealing with staff wishing to stand for election by 

means of her organisation‘s internal process, noting that ―it is very 

hard to legislate for discretion‖.
61

  

Distinguishing between staff within organisations regarding  

nomination as a candidate  

74. We asked the Chief Executive of Natural Resources Wales if he 

thought there was a question of proportionality when it came to staff 

and members at different levels within an organisation. In response, 

he said: 

―For Welsh Government sponsored bodies, staff are not civil 

servants and we are principally delivery organisations. So, the 

amount of interaction with the political system is fairly small, 

and, mainly, it is through me and, obviously, the chairman. So, 

I do not see a distinction based on the level of grade. I think 

that someone from any grade within a WGSB should be allowed 

to stand to be an Assembly Member. Personally, and it is a 

personal view, I would not distinguish between various grades 

on that.‖
62

  

75. He went on to say:  

                                       
59

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 104], 28 April 2014 

60

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 134], 2 June 20141 

61

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 154], 2 June 2014 

62

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 78], 2 June 2014 

Pack Page 72



34 

―… you would probably run into complications around which 

grades were eligible and which were not … we have quite junior 

members of staff who regularly liaise with Assembly Members 

and Members of Parliament. Again, it would be quite difficult, I 

think, for them to continue in their job if they had a formal 

nomination to stand in an election‖.
63

   

76. The Older People‘s Commissioner for Wales indicated that she 

and her deputy commissioner should be barred from standing for 

nomination as an Assembly Member (see also paragraphs 121 to 122), 

but added: 

―I do not hold the view that any of my other staff should 

automatically be barred from standing … I think the reason for 

that is that we want to encourage as many people as possible 

to be part of the democratic process … I would find it very 

difficult to distinguish between what is a junior and what is a 

senior member of staff in terms of day-to-day activity.‖
64

   

Employees and employers rights  

77. As is apparent from the preceding sections, the point at which a 

disqualification takes effect has implications for both employees and 

employers.  

78. The Electoral Commission felt that:  

―If certain disqualifications were to apply at the time of election 

and not at nomination, there remains the issue of notice 

periods. A conflict of interest would continue to apply while 

there was a contract of employment in place and a notice 

period being served. To address this issue, an elected 

candidate could be required to resign from the relevant post or 

office the first working day after the election in order to take 

up membership of the Assembly.‖
65

 

79. The Commission noted the potential problems that could exist:  

―It is burdensome … for candidates who are standing for 

election, because if you are an employee, not only do you need 

                                       
63

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 106], 2 June 2014 

64

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 132], 2 June 2014 

65

 Written evidence DQ 1 

Pack Page 73



35 

to have resigned, but you need to have served your notice, and 

for somebody who is on three months‘ notice, for example, that 

is a long period of time, and, ultimately, you may have given up 

your job and not get elected ...‖
66

  

80. The Electoral Commission agreed in questioning that there ought 

perhaps to be processes within the employment contracts of public 

bodies to take account of standing for election.
67

 

81. Lawyers in Local Government also highlighted the potential 

problems with notice periods:   

―In employment / contract law there will remain the difficulty of 

the notice period which is likely to range from 1 week to 12 

weeks. In practice in Local Government most Authorities would 

be willing to hold a job open for a local authority staff member 

seeking election, should that employee be unsuccessful and 

equally waive contractual rights should the employee be 

successful. This to promote as far as possible the democratic 

process. The same cannot of course be said for all employers 

and it is doubtful that it could be argued that it would be 

reasonable to expect employers to do so.‖
68

  

82. Lawyers in Local Government were questioned on whether there 

could be a law in Wales simply saying that contract law is set aside 

when you become a Member of the National Assembly. In response, 

they felt it would be ―extremely problematic‖ and ―particularly hard on 

any employer.‖
69

  

83. The Chief Executive of Natural Resources Wales, when questioned 

about what would happen if a member of staff was elected as an 

Assembly Member but had for example to serve a 3-month notice 

period, indicated that this could be dealt with ―internally quite easily‖.
70

 

He agreed, when asked, that he would like to see flexibility lying with 

the organisation rather than in law.
71

 

                                       
66

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 51], 28 April 2014 

67

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraphs 67-68], 28 April 2014 

68

 Written evidence DQ 4 

69

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 119], 12 May 2014 

70

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 93], 2 June 2014 

71

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraphs 95-97], 2 June 2014 

Pack Page 74



36 

Section 16 of the Government of Wales Act 2006  

84. We did not receive much evidence on whether section 16 of the 

2006 Act required any substantive change. This section not only 

includes the power to make a disqualification order, but also directly 

disqualifies large numbers of people, including all civil servants, 

members of the armed and police forces as well as staff of the 

National Assembly. 

85. As regards section 16, the Electoral Reform Society Wales were 

―relatively content with how the legislation stands‖ and did ―not have 

too much of an issue with how it is‖.
72

 

86. Lawyers in Local Government suggested that a person who holds 

office as lord-lieutenant, lieutenant or high sheriff should be totally 

disqualified rather than merely disqualified for the area in which they 

hold office.
73

 
74

 

The Assembly’s power to relieve individuals of the consequences of 

disqualification  

87. Keith Bush QC raised the issue of section 17(3) of the Government 

of Wales Act 2006 whereby the Assembly may resolve that a 

disqualification be ―disregarded‖ provided the ground had been 

removed (i.e. the person in question no longer holds the disqualifying 

office) and it is ―proper‖ so to resolve. He explained the historical 

background to the case and how the power had been used in 2011.
75

  

88. He stated:  

―There is a strong case for saying that section 17(3) is an 

anomalous survival of the time when disqualification was based 

on a vague and uncertain principle rather than a precise list of 

disqualifying offices. There may still, of course, be exceptional 

cases where mistakes are excusable (as the Assembly judged to 

be the case in relation to the individual in whose favour section 

                                       
72

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 148], 28 April 2014 

73

 Section 16(4) of the Government of Wales Act 2006 contains a specific 

disqualification that a person who holds office as lord-lieutenant, lieutenant or high 

sheriff of any area in Wales is disqualified from being an Assembly member for any 

Assembly constituency or Assembly electoral region wholly or partly included in that 

area. 

74

 Written Evidence DQ 4; CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 159], 12 May 2014 

75

 Written Evidence DQ 6 

Pack Page 75



37 

17(3) was invoked in 2011) but individual hardship must be 

weighed against legal certainty and constitutional rectitude. 

Even without any change to the point in time when a 

disqualification bites, the existence of the power in the case of 

the Assembly seems hard to justify. If the scope for mistakes 

were further reduced by enabling a candidate who had been 

elected to carry out a last check and to divest himself or herself 

of any disqualifying office, then it would seem to be impossible 

to justify giving candidates who failed to do so a further chance 

to avoid the consequences.‖
76

 

89. He thought that the ability of Assembly Members to relieve 

somebody of a disqualification ―is a very unsound procedure‖.
77

 He 

added:  

―… looking at it from general principles, if you have a clear and 

understandable list of disqualifications that are well publicised 

in advance and give people the opportunity to think carefully 

about them before they take the oath of allegiance, the 

rationale and the practical reason for having that power to 

disapply the disqualification seems to me to cease. Then, all of 

the arguments are in favour of getting rid of it, because, 

undoubtedly, it is constitutionally a very strange procedure 

indeed.‖
78

 

Our view  

90. We believe that the process for becoming an Assembly Member 

can be divided into four main stages:  

(i) selection as a prospective candidate;  

(ii) nomination as a candidate;   

(iii) being elected as an Assembly Member; and  

(iv) taking the oath or affirmation of allegiance.    

91. As matters currently stand, all disqualifications become relevant 

when a candidate is nominated for election.  

                                       
76

 Written Evidence DQ 6 

77

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 235], 16 June 2014 

78

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 236], 16 June 2014 

Pack Page 76



38 

92. We are persuaded by the evidence of witnesses who have 

suggested that the disqualification should generally take effect on 

taking the oath or affirmation of allegiance as an Assembly Member 

(subject to our views in paragraphs 104-105).   

93. In our view this approach is entirely consistent with the principles 

we outline in Chapter 3 of this report. In reaching this conclusion, we 

have taken account of the evidence of witnesses who have indicated 

that it is possible, and preferable, to deal with staff engaging in the 

electoral process through the internal administration processes of 

their organisations rather than by means of the law.    

94. The approach outlined in paragraph 81 in relation to local 

authorities is very welcome. As all the offices and positions that give 

rise to disqualification are in the public sector, we would expect the 

other organisations affected to take a similar approach.   

95. In our view, the change we advocate in paragraph 92 ensures that 

as many people as possible have the opportunity to stand for election 

as an Assembly Member, in particular because they do not have to give 

up their employment to do so.  

96. We believe that this change should be effected by a change to the 

Government of Wales Act 2006. Such a change is outside the 

legislative competence of the National Assembly and is a matter for 

the UK Government and UK Parliament.  

97. Consistent with our proposed change, we therefore believe that 

the election rules should no longer require candidates, when accepting 

nomination, to declare that to the best of their knowledge and belief, 

they do not hold a disqualifying office. Again, this is outside the 

legislative competence of the National Assembly, and the powers of 

Welsh Ministers. It is a change that needs to be effected by the UK 

Government.  

Recommendation 2: we recommend that the UK Government 

brings forward appropriate legislation to amend the Government 

of Wales Act 2006 to provide that disqualification from a 

particular public office should take effect on taking the oath or 

affirmation of allegiance as an Assembly Member. This change 

should not apply to a very limited number of posts—as specified 

in section 16 of the 2006 Act or by order—where being a candidate 

Pack Page 77



39 

would, for example, give rise to a conflict of interest or appear to 

undermine impartiality.   

 

Recommendation 3: we recommend that the UK Government 

brings forward appropriate legislation to remove the relevant 

provisions in The National Assembly for Wales (Representation of 

the People) Order 2007 requiring candidates, when accepting 

nomination, to declare that to the best of their knowledge and 

belief, they do not hold a disqualifying office.  

 

98. We have considered how recommendation 2 could be delivered.  

99. We believe there are merits in both of the alternatives considered 

by Keith Bush QC (see paragraph 62).  

100. We accept that requiring persons to take responsibility for their 

own position by resigning prior to taking the oath is the more 

conservative of the two approaches. It would require all candidates to 

be familiar with the Disqualification Order in place at the time. Failure 

to resign prior to taking the oath would result in disqualification.  

101. The more radical approach would involve successful candidates 

who hold specific public offices being deemed to have resigned by 

virtue of their election to the National Assembly. This approach would 

require an order to specify the public offices affected. 

102. This is an issue of such significance that we believe it requires 

further investigation. We are conscious that we may not have heard all 

possible viewpoints on how recommendation 2 could best be 

delivered. Accordingly, we consider that it would be unwise to make a 

specific recommendation in the absence of such additional evidence. 

In reaching this view, we are mindful that there would be little time to 

undertake this investigation and put in place primary legislation before 

the next Assembly general election in 2016.  

103. We therefore believe that it would be beneficial if the Law 

Commission investigated and reported on this issue, potentially as 

part of a wider review of this issue across all UK legislatures. In our 

view this would enable the UK Government to consider putting 

appropriate primary legislation in place in time for the Assembly 

general election in 2021. 

Pack Page 78



40 

Recommendation 4: we recommend that the Welsh and UK  

Governments ask the Law Commission to investigate and report 

on the various legislative options for delivering recommendation 

2, and to make a recommendation on what it would consider to be 

the most appropriate, potentially as part of a wider review of this 

issue across all UK legislatures.  

 

104. We accept that the holder of some politically restricted posts will 

need to be disqualified from nomination. Disqualification from 

nomination would also act as a natural deterrent  to selection as a 

candidate.  

105. In our view, there should be a very limited number of persons 

who would be disqualified from being candidates because of their 

statutory role. Examples would be Returning Officers and members 

and staff of the Electoral Commission. These issues are considered in 

Chapter 5.  

106. We are broadly satisfied with section 16 of the Government of 

Wales Act 2006. Nevertheless, we consider that as part of the efforts 

to make legislation clearer, any disqualifications to be contained in the 

2006 Act should be set out fully rather than by reference to other 

legislation. We also consider, for the avoidance of doubt, that those 

persons referred to in section 16 of the 2006 Act should be 

disqualified on nomination in line with our preferred approach.  

107. We also consider that the Auditor General and Public Services 

Ombudsman for Wales should be removed from the 2006 Act and 

included in a disqualification order with other offices, the impartiality 

of which is equally paramount.  

Recommendation 5: we recommend that the UK Government 

amends section 16 of the Government of Wales Act 2006 to ensure 

that any disqualifications it contains are set out fully rather than 

by reference to other legislation and that all disqualifications it 

specifies take effect on nomination.  

 

Recommendation 6: we recommend that the the UK Government  

amends section 16(1) of the Government of Wales Act 2006 to 

remove the Auditor General and Public Services Ombudsman for 

Wales, so that they may be included in an appropriate 

disqualification order with other offices.   

Pack Page 79



41 

 

108. In addition, we agree with Lawyers in Local Government who said 

that lord-lieutenants, lieutenants  and high sheriffs should be totally 

disqualified from being an Assembly Member, rather than, as is the 

case now, just for any Assembly Constituency or Assembly electoral 

region wholly or partly included in their area.   

Recommendation 7: we recommend that the UK Government 

amends section 16(4) of the Government of Wales Act 2006 so that 

a person who holds office as lord-lieutenant, lieutenant or high 

sheriff should be disqualified from being an Assembly Member.   

 

109. As regards section 17(3) of the Government of Wales Act 2006 

and the ability of the Assembly to disregard a disqualification, we note 

the views of Keith Bush QC. We have some sympathy that section 17(3) 

may be an appropriate provision. However, we are concerned that we 

do not have a sufficient evidence base to make an informed 

recommendation about the retention or otherwise of section 17(3), in 

particular relating to the range of circumstances to be taken into 

consideration when deciding how change, if any, to section 17(3) 

should be effected.   

110. This being the case, we consider that the Law Commission would 

be well-placed to undertake this work in tandem with work suggested 

under recommendation 4. 

Recommendation 8: we recommend that the Welsh and UK  

Governments, in asking the Law Commission to investigate and 

report in line with recommendation 4, also include a requirement 

to advise on the implications of retaining, replacing or removing 

section 17(3) of the Government of Wales Act 2006. 

 

111. Any decision taken at some point in the future to change section 

17(3) of the 2006 Act by means of legislation, as with any other 

Assembly function, must be undertaken following consultation with, 

and the consent of the National Assembly for Wales (as well as the 

Welsh Government).     

  

Pack Page 80



42 

Recommendation 9: we recommend that any future legislative 

change to section 17(3) of the Government of Wales Act 2006 

should only proceed following consultation with, and the consent 

of, the National Assembly for Wales.  

  

Pack Page 81



43 

5. Proposed changes to the 2010 Disqualification 

Order  

Anomalies and inconsistencies  

112. Throughout our evidence sessions, information was provided 

regarding specific organisations and how they are affected by the 

current 2010 Disqualification Order.
79

  

113. Keith Bush QC said that there are clearly a number of offices 

currently designated which do not conform with his criteria (see 

paragraph 35):   

―… because they are neither remunerated by the Welsh 

Government nor subject to scrutiny by the Assembly. Their 

activities do not relate to devolved matters, are not within the 

legislative competence of the Assembly and are not affected by 

the exercise of executive functions of the Welsh Ministers.‖
80

 

114. He provided five examples of such offices, including the BBC 

Trust and the Health and Safety Executive,
81

 adding: 

―Clarity and consistency would therefore suggest that offices 

whose functions are not devolved should not give rise to formal 

disqualifications, particularly since the likelihood of someone 

wishing to be simultaneously a member of a body such as the 

BBC Trust and the Assembly is remote.‖
82

 

115. As was noted in the Welsh Government‘s memorandum, our 

report on the 2010 Disqualification Order noted some anomalies and 

inconsistencies.
83

 For example:  

– while members of National Park Authorities (NPAs) are 

disqualified by the Order, members of other bodies that might 

be considered analogous to NPAs, such as Police and Fire 

Authorities are not;   

                                       

79

 See in particular the evidence of the Electoral Reform Society Wales: CLA 

Committee, RoP [paragraphs 89-179], 28 April 2014 

80

 Written Evidence DQ 6 

81

 Ibid 

82

 Ibid 

83

 Constitutional Affairs Committee Report, CA(3)-28-10:24 November 2010 (See 

annex 1) 

Pack Page 82



44 

– In part 2 of the Schedule to the Order the staff of a number of 

office holders are disqualified (such as the  Auditor General for 

Wales and the Children‘s Commissioner), while others are not  

(for example, the Commissioners of the Boundary Commission). 

The structure of the Order 

116. The Electoral Commission felt the 2010 Disqualification Order 

was long, unclear about what criteria have been applied and not 

particularly transparent.
84

 However, they did not feel qualified to 

comment in detail on the bodies and offices currently listed in the 

Order.
85

 

117. The Electoral Reform Society Wales suggested that the list in the 

2010 Disqualification Order looked more like a desk exercise of who 

should be restricted
86

 and suggested the following approach to 

organising a review of the list:  

―Once the guiding principles have been established and you have 

a long list of potential targets, if you like, then you need a 

process where you actually spend time with each of those 

organisations to properly understand their governance 

arrangements …‖
87

 

118. Lawyers in Local Government suggested a different approach:  

―It is suggested that there are two options on the drafting of 

the provisions, the current method of listing those posts 

determined to be incompatible and in place of the list, a 

broader statement setting out principles which are determined 

to be incompatible, those being applied to individual 

situations.  

―Neither is entirely satisfactory, the list being capable of being 

out of date and the broader statement being open to 

interpretation and requiring a process of determination.  

                                       
84

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 25], 28 April 2014 

85

 Written Evidence DQ 1 

86

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 146], 28 April 2014 

87

 Ibid 

Pack Page 83



45 

―A mixture of the two may be advantageous, with a list of those 

already known and a ‗catch all‘ set of principles in respect of 

others.‖
88

 

119. When asked how this would work in practice, Lawyers in Local 

Government acknowledged that it was difficult, noting the complexity 

of the issues involved and that neither option is perfect.
89

  

Distinguishing between staff within organisations for the purposes 

of the Order 

120. In terms of the 2010 Disqualification Order, the Electoral Reform 

Society Wales struggled:   

―…  with the rationale for which organisations are on those two 

separate lists. There are instances where it appears, particularly 

in the second list, that it is members‘ public appointments that 

are restricted in some form, and others where it is senior staff 

members in those bodies, and, for others, it is all staff 

members. Again, I do not really derive from the rules what the 

logic is for that. If a body is engaged in an area of work that 

would cause controversy or potential conflict of interest, then 

why should there be some kind of differential between public-

appointed members and staff?‖
90

 

121. The Older People‘s Commissioner for Wales told us:  

 ―My view would be that the only two posts that should be 

barred or disqualified automatically would be mine and that of 

the deputy commissioner, because of the type of posts that we 

hold.‖
91

  

122. She expanded on why her post and that of the deputy 

commissioner should be disqualified:  

―... first, … I am required by law to appoint a deputy 

commissioner—it is in the Act, so it becomes a statutory post 

as part of that. Secondly, the deputy commissioner is very 

closely aligned to me. So, I will speak as the commissioner, but 

often, when I cannot do so, the deputy commissioner will go 

                                       

88

 Written Evidence DQ 4 

89

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 75], 12 May 2014  

90

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 94], 28 April 2014 

91

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 132], 2 June 2014 

Pack Page 84



46 

and, by inference, is being me, in a sense. That is not to take 

away from her own voice and views, but she is often being me. 

Thirdly, one of the reasons that I have to appoint a deputy 

commissioner is that, if something happens to me and I am 

unable to fulfil my functions, she then steps into my shoes. 

That could be, potentially, for quite a considerable period of 

time. So, she could be me at short notice, and unexpectedly.‖
92

  

123. The Older People‘s Commissioner for Wales also felt that the 

issue of the seniority of the staff ―does not really work‖ because ―some 

who might be called junior staff … are out and about all the time 

engaging with people‖.
93

 

124. Keith Bush QC also questioned whether it was appropriate to 

differentiate between staff within an organisation, saying  

―If we take one of the commissioners as an example, I do not 

think that there is any doubt that the Commissioner for Older 

People in Wales, as an individual scrutinised by the Assembly, 

should be disqualified from being a Member of the Assembly. 

Her close advisers—the chief executive, lawyers and so on—

would clearly be in that same position. It would not make any 

sense for them to be Members of the Assembly while 

simultaneously—and this is what we are talking about—

working for the commissioner.‖
94

 

Timing  

125. The Electoral Commission said that the order should be 

introduced six months before nominations open and that its contents  

should be clearly communicated to the bodies it lists, political parties, 

and the Electoral Commission.
95

 

126. They added:  

―We say that legislation should be in place a minimum of six 

months before the election, but in the case of the 

disqualification Order, ideally, it should be in place six months 

before nomination in order to give people plenty of time. As 

                                       
92

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 137], 2 June 2014 

93

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 134], 2 June 2014 

94

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 179], 16 June 2014 

95

 Written Evidence DQ 1 

Pack Page 85



47 

you said, the earlier the better, to allow for all of those things—

the party conferences in the autumn, the selection processes, 

and so on. The clearer things are for people as far in advance 

as possible, the better. As I said, we normally publish our 

guidance in November, ahead of any election the following 

May, and then the appropriate links to the Order can be 

included.‖
96

 

127. Keith Bush QC considered that:  

―.. one of the factors that appears to have contributed, in one 

case, to the situation that arose in 2011, was the late stage at 

which the 2010 Order was made, namely on the 15 December 

2010. (It came into force on the 11 January 2011.) It was not 

made, therefore, until less than 5 months before the election, 

and would not have been generally available to the public until 

about three months before nominations for the election (which 

was held on 5 May) closed.‖
97

 

128. As a result, he considered that the order should be made at least 

twelve months before the date of the relevant Assembly general 

election, which would reduce the risk of new disqualifications being 

overlooked.
98

 In making this case, he noted that political parties did 

not select their candidates in the last six months and in many cases 

did so a year or two years in advance.
99

 As such, he felt that:  

―… it should be possible, in my view, at least a year in advance, 

for somebody to sit down with the Order, go through it and 

work out whether or not they are disqualified.‖
100

 

Bilingual Order  

129. All respondents who expressed a view on this issue agreed that 

the order should be made bilingually, including the Welsh Language 

Commissioner.
101

 

130. Keith Bush QC could ―see no constitutional reason why the Privy 

Council, in relation to Welsh legislation, cannot operate bilingually.‖
102

 

                                       
96

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 73], 28 April 2014 

97

 Written Evidence DQ 6 

98

 Ibid 

99

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 251], 16 June 2014 

100

 Ibid 

101

 Written Evidence DQ 3 

Pack Page 86



48 

Our view 

131. We have difficulty in understanding the criteria and logic applied 

to the two lists included in the 2010 Disqualification Order, but 

recognise that this may be as a consequence of legislation inherited 

from Westminster.   

132. We believe that an order-making power should be retained, but 

that the order should be restructured to deal with two categories of 

persons who should be disqualified. We believe persons in category 1 

are those who should be disqualified from nomination because of the 

nature of their role (such as for reasons of political impartiality, their 

role in the electoral process or because their posts are created by 

statute). Category 2 persons are those who should be disqualified 

having been elected but only upon taking the oath or affirmation of 

allegiance.   

133. However, in making this recommendation as regards category 2,  

we are conscious that the requirements of section 18 of the 

Government of Wales Act 2006, will mean that disqualification takes 

effect on return as an Assembly Member. Accordingly, we make two 

recommendations for the orders in 2016 and 2021, the latter in 

anticipation of primary legislation being introduced to deliver 

recommendation 2.  

Recommendation 10: we recommend that the order for the 2016 

Assembly general election should specify two categories of 

persons who should be disqualified:    

 

Category 1: those who should be disqualified from  

nomination because of the nature of their role.   

 

Category 2: those who should be disqualified from return as 

an Assembly Member.   

 

Recommendation 11: we recommend that the order for the 2021 

Assembly general election should specify two categories of 

persons who should be disqualified:    

 

                                                                                                              

102

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 248], 16 June 2014 

Pack Page 87



49 

Category 1: those who should be disqualified from 

nomination because of the nature of their role.   

 

Category 2: those who should be disqualified having been 

elected but only from taking the oath or affirmation of 

allegiance.     

134. The precise way in which category 2 provisions are drafted for the 

2021 order may depend on any decisions arising as a consequence of 

recommendation 4.    

135. We have sought to provide an indication of the public bodies and 

officeholders that we believe should be covered under each category 

by reference to the existing 2010 Disqualification Order. In so doing, 

we are mindful of the evidence of the Electoral Reform Society Wales at 

paragraph 115. The list included in the recommendations should not 

therefore be considered as an attempt to cover all public bodies and 

officeholders that should be covered in each category. The Welsh 

Government is better placed to be aware of those that need to be 

considered for inclusion or otherwise.   

136. In the case of category 1, we believe that some people who hold 

an office created by statute should not be nominated to stand as an 

Assembly Member as this would potentially risk the independent and 

impartial role of the office they hold.  

Recommendation 12: we recommend that an order drafted for the 

2016 Assembly general election to disqualify persons from 

nomination as an Assembly Member should include (but not 

necessarily be limited to) the following:    

 

Auditor General for Wales  

Children’s Commissioner for Wales  

Civil Service Commissioner   

Commissioner for Equality and Human Rights  

Commissioner for Older People in Wales   

Commissioner for Public Appointments  

Comptroller and Auditor General  

Her Majesty’s Chief inspector of Education and Training in 

Wales  

Local Government Boundary Commissioner for Wales 

Members of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 

Pack Page 88



50 

Members and Staff of the Electoral Commission 

Parliamentary Commissioner for Administration    

Returning Officers and local authority staff involved in the 

electoral process 

Statutory deputies of the persons in this list   

Welsh Language Commissioner 

137. Subject to any changes in the law creating these public bodies or 

officeholders, we believe that recommendation 12 should also apply in 

principle to the 2021 Order.     

138. In the case of category 2 persons, it is clear to us that no 

distinction should be made between different people who work within 

an organisation and to whom principles 3 and 4 of recommendation 1 

apply. If for example, it is inappropriate for the Chief Executive of a 

Welsh Public Body to serve as an Assembly Member, then logically the 

same principle must apply to the people who work for that Body. 

139. As a consequence, any person working for a public body or 

officeholder in category 1 should be disqualified on return in 2016 and 

in 2021 from taking an oath or affirmation of allegiance to the 

National Assembly.  

140. In terms of local authority staff, those directly involved in the 

electoral process and management of elections would be disqualified 

from being nominated and are included in category 1. We do not 

believe that it would be appropriate for other staff working for a local 

authority to serve as an Assembly Member. Accordingly, we consider 

that all local authority staff not in included in category 1, should be 

included in category 2.   

141. The issue of whether broadcasters should be disqualified from 

membership of the National Assembly was touched upon in evidence.  

However, we do not feel in a position to make recommendations as to 

whether broadcasters should be covered in category 2. The timeframe 

for this report has constrained our ability to investigate this particular 

issue.  

Recommendation 13: we recommend that an order should be 

drafted for the 2016 Assembly general election that disqualifies 

the following persons on return as an Assembly Member:  

 

Members of judicial tribunals  

Pack Page 89



51 

 Persons appointed by Welsh Ministers   

Staff of local authorities not included in category 1 

Staff of National Park, Police, Fire and Rescue Authorities  

Staff of the organisations referred to in category 1  

 Staff of Welsh Government Sponsored Public Bodies 

 

142. We believe that the persons disqualified in recommendation 13 

should, in 2021, be disqualified from taking the oath or affirmation of 

allegiance.      

Recommendation 14: we recommend that, in preparing a 

disqualification order for the 2016 Assembly general election, the 

Welsh Government consults widely on its contents, including in 

particular, all those organisations that it covers. 

 

143. The Order must be made in good time to ensure it is 

communicated and publicised as widely as possible.  

Recommendation15: we recommend that the disqualification  

order for the 2016 Assembly general election is drafted, consulted 

on and made no later than 12 months before the date of that 

election.  

 

144. We agree, as do all respondents who expressed a view, with the 

suggestion contained in the First Minister‘s letter that the 

Disqualification Order for the 2016 Assembly general election should 

be made bilingually. In our view this would be in line with other Welsh 

legislation, such as Acts of the Assembly that are approved by the 

Privy Council bilingually.  

Recommendation 16: we recommend that the disqualification 

order for the 2016 Assembly general election is made bilingually 

in the Privy Council.   

 

145. The nature of the existing legislative framework is complex. The 

next chapter considers the timing of the proposed changes for clarity.       

Pack Page 90



52 

6. Timing of proposed changes  

Our view  

146. As we indicated at the start of our report, we believe that an 

overhaul of the entire legislative framework is needed for the rules 

governing the disqualification as a member of the National Assembly 

for Wales.   

147. We have set out in Chapter 3 the principles that we believe should 

underpin a revised framework.  

148. However, the issue of the timing of the proposed changes we 

suggest in Chapters 4 and 5 for the next Assembly general election in 

2016 is complicated by:  

– the need for primary legislation to deliver some of the changes 

we propose and the powers to effect such changes being  

outside the competence of the National Assembly;  

– the power to effect changes we propose to The National 

Assembly for Wales (Representation of the People) Order 2007 

residing with the Secretary of State and UK Parliament; 

– the need for the Welsh Ministers to revise the 2010 

Disqualification Order and the power to effect such a change 

resting with the Privy Council following approval by the National 

Assembly.   

149. Our preferred approach would be for all changes to be effected 

simultaneously but that is unlikely to be possible in good time for the 

2016 Assembly general election, particularly because of the potential 

time constraints involved in bringing forward primary legislation.  

150. This being the case we believe that recommendation 3 (changes 

in relation to The National Assembly for Wales (Representation of the 

People) Order 2007) and recommendations 10, 12 and 13 (regarding 

the content of the disqualification order for the 2016 Assembly 

general election) should be implemented simultaneously, with 

respective legislation in place no later than 12 months before the date 

of that election (see recommendation 15).   

151.  This would mean in practice that the disqualification requirement 

at the time of consent to nomination would be removed but that the 

Pack Page 91



53 

requirement disqualifying a person on election at the time of return 

(under section 18 of the Government of Wales Act 2006) would be 

retained. Two groups of potential candidates would benefit. The first 

would be those with no prospect of election who could stand without 

resigning the disqualifying position. The second would be those with a 

chance of election, who could delay their resignation until immediately 

before polling day, a period usually of 3-5 weeks following formal 

nomination.  

152. If the UK Government does not implement the changes described 

in recommendation 3, then there is risk that the confusion that existed 

at the time of the 2011 Assembly general election will be repeated. 

153. As will be apparent from the previous sections, recommendations 

2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 11 should be implemented in time for the 2021 

Assembly general election.    

  

Pack Page 92



54 

7. Raising Awareness  

Evidence  

154. The Electoral Commission told us:   

―We are publishing our guidance earlier and earlier. We used to 

publish guidance in January before any election being held in 

May … The earlier you can get guidance out there and 

returning officers doing briefing sessions for candidates and 

agents, the better. We also work with the political parties, and 

the parties, of course, do briefing sessions. It would be 

essential that any change that the committee was going to 

consider for the Order in terms of doing it in two stages was 

done as early as possible so that, for the 2016 elections, if 

there were to be a change, briefings could be done well in 

advance as well as having the published guidance.‖
103

 

155. The Electoral Commission agreed with a suggestion that they 

were the ―go-to body‖ for potential candidates to obtain this 

information, adding:   

―Obviously, the four big parties in Wales give their own advice 

to candidates. The ones who do not have anywhere to go for 

advice are usually independent candidates or those from the 

very smallest parties that do not have full-time permanent 

officials giving advice. They tend to rely on our guidance very 

much.‖
104

 

156. In the course of this report we have noted how some 

organisations were not aware of the extent to which disqualification 

rules applied to them.   

157.  When asked for her view about being disqualified from seeking 

membership of the National Assembly, the Older People‘s 

Commissioner for Wales told us:  

―… in a sense I did not know that I was disqualified, in that 

nobody had ever told me that when I took up the post of 

commissioner, but it does not come as any surprise. It is 

                                       
103

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 30], 28 April 2014 

104

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 32], 28 April 2014 

Pack Page 93



55 

probably right and proper. However, I also was not aware that 

my staff are disqualified from standing as well, and I suppose 

that that did come as quite a surprise to me. You could argue 

that I could have thought, when I was appointed as 

commissioner, about looking back to check on that, but it did 

not occur to me, and it was not raised with me.‖
105

   

158.  In terms of making a disqualification order available, and in a 

way that people could understand, the Electoral Reform Society Wales 

thought ―that the Electoral Commission is probably the best-placed 

organisation to do that‖, adding:  

―…enough time needs to be given for each of the parties to 

digest what these new rules mean, so that they are able to do 

that kind of dissemination within their political parties—inside 

their party units—but also for those organisations that are on 

the list, so that the relevant departments within those bodies 

are able, again, to understand it and disseminate that 

information through to the staff.‖
106

 

159. Keith Bush QC felt that:  

―I think there is a general issue about the accessibility of Welsh 

legislation … The one place I would probably go to would be 

the Electoral Commission‘s website, but, strictly, it is not the 

lawmaker … The people whose job it is to do that are The 

Stationery Office, legislation.gov.uk … In other words, that 

organ of the UK Government whose job it is to publish 

legislation throughout the UK. 

―However … because there are all sorts of people who feel that 

they should be doing something but do not have a very clear 

mandate and maybe do not have the resources to do it, that it 

slips through the cracks. If you now want to know what the 

current disqualifications are, you have to go through this 

process of finding it on one of those different sources. It 

obviously caused practical difficulties that this very important 

                                       
105

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 130], 2 June 2014 

106

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 106], 28 April 2014 

Pack Page 94



56 

Order that goes to the heart of democracy in Wales was only 

approved a few months before the election.‖
107

 

160. Having discussed the merits of those who potentially have a role 

in publicising who is disqualified from standing as an Assembly 

Member, he acknowledged that ―the Electoral Commission is obviously 

the body that people go to and look to in order to get that kind of 

information.‖
108

 

Our view  

161. Disseminating information about who is disqualified from 

membershio of the National Assembly is vital for ensuring the proper 

functioning of the institution as a democratic parliamentary body.  

162.  Many of the changes we are proposing would have implications 

for public bodies throughout Wales.   

163. We believe therefore that all public bodies in Wales should ensure 

that they have administrative provisions in place to deal with 

circumstances in which any of their staff may wish to stand for election 

and that they keep them under review. In particular, we hope that they 

will review their internal policies and procedures as a result of any 

legislation that follows this report, and do so in such a way as to 

facilitate those elected being able to devote all their time to their new 

role as quickly as possible (see paragraph 94). 

Recommendation 17: we recommend that every public body in 

Wales reviews its rules governing political activities to ensure that 

all staff are clear about the internal rules that apply in the event 

that they wish to seek nomination for, and are eventually 

successful in, election to the National Assembly for Wales. Such 

rules should take account of any legislation that arises from this 

report and be subject to review at least 2 years before Assembly 

general elections that take place after 2016.    

 

164. We believe that the Welsh Government has a major role to play in 

disseminating and communicating information about political 

activities, including through the terms of appointment of those 

                                       
107

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraphs 253-254], 16 June 2014 

108

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 260], 16 June 2014 

Pack Page 95



57 

appointed by it and its own guidance to bodies affected (regarding 

their staff).  

Recommendation 18: we recommend that the Welsh Government 

reviews the terms of appointment and guidance it gives to 

appointees, sponsored bodies and other relevant bodies regarding 

political activity. 

 

165. More generally, raising awareness of our proposed changes will 

be vital, as is the provision of advice to organisations which do not yet 

have appropriate internal systems and mechanisms in place.   

166. In our view the Electoral Commission should take responsibility 

for leading on the provision of advice and guidance in relation to 

electoral rules, and accordingly playing a key role in disseminating 

information regarding who is disqualified from nomination and  

election as an Assembly Member. In performing this role it should 

liaise closely with the Welsh Government, public bodies, political 

parties and Electoral Returning Officers. We consider that Returning 

Officers are well-placed to provide advice to candidates seeking 

election to the National Assembly.    

167. The Electoral Commission‘s guidance needs to be comprehensive 

and thorough, as well as being easily understood. It must also include  

a synopsis of all the legislation that applies to someone seeking 

nomination and election as an Assembly Member.  

168. The guidance should also be provided in good time for potential 

candidates.   

Recommendation 19: we recommend that the Electoral 

Commission reviews its existing guidance on disqualification from 

membership of the National Assembly for Wales to ensure it is 

comprehensive and covers all of the relevant policy issues and 

legislation that apply.    

Pack Page 96



58 

8. Holding more than one political role  

Background  

169. The UK Government‘s Wales Bill, introduced to the House of 

Commons on 20 March 2014, has highlighted the issue of double 

jobbing i.e simultaneously holding more than one political role. The 

Bill provides that members of the House of Commons are disqualified 

from being members of the Assembly, subject to some limited 

exceptions. The provision is in line with a recommendation contained 

in a 2009 report by the Committee on Standards in Public Life, MPs’ 

Expenses and Allowances: Supporting Parliament, safeguarding the 

taxpayer.
109

   

170. Lawyers in Local Government highlighted in their written evidence 

the likelihood of conflict in the roles of local, parliamentary and 

European membership, suggesting that:   

―… the committee may wish to  consider whether there is an 

inconsistency or conflict in the role of a NAW Member and 

other political role ie Local Government …   

―The issue of perceived /actual conflict applies equally to 

membership of parliament and the EU parliament.‖
110

   

171. The issue was also raised in written evidence by the Independent 

Remuneration Panel for Wales.
111

  

172. The Petitions Committee wrote to us in April 2014 drawing our 

attention to a public petition on this issue
112

 and the petitioner 

subsequently provided written evidence.
113

  

173.  We also sought evidence from Assembly Members holding more 

than one political role and received evidence from Peter Black AM,
114

 

                                       

109

 Committee on Standards in Public Life, MPs Expenses and Allowances, Supporting 

Parliament and Safeguarding the Taxpayer, November 2009 

110

 Written Evidence DQ 4 

111

 Written Evidence DQ 5 

112

 Letter from the Chair of the Petitions Committee, April 2014 

113

 Written Evidence DQ 7 

114

 Written Evidence DQ 8 

Pack Page 97



59 

William Powell AM,
115

 and Russell George AM
116

, all of whom are elected 

local councillors.  

174. Following our request for information, we also received further 

evidence from William Powell AM
117

 and Russell George AM
118

 on their 

role as members of the Petitions Committee of the National Assembly.   

Dual political role: Assembly Member and local authority 

councillor  

175. The Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales noted the 

significant time commitment required to discharge the duties of an 

Assembly Member and said:   

―It is the view of the Panel that the Committee should consider 

the incompatibility of the time commitments of holding posts 

both as an AM and as an elected member of a principal council 

and the acceptability of such remunerated ‗twin-hatting‘ in the 

eye of the general public. The Panel has based its 

determinations on the principle that double remuneration 

should not occur. Therefore a Leader or Executive Member of a 

principal council, determined as full-time by the Panel, may not 

receive a second salary serving as a member appointed to a 

national park authority or a Welsh fire and rescue authority. 

The Committee may wish to consider the extent to which this 

principle is relevant to its deliberations.‖
119

 

176. A member of the public indicated that his petition to the National 

Assembly was to ask the Welsh Government to bring forward 

legislation to bar the practice of standing as an Assembly Member and 

local councillor.
120

  

177. The Electoral Reform Society Wales said: 

―Ultimately, it is for the voters to decide whether they are 

content for their local councillor to be their Assembly Member 

or their Member of Parliament as well. Where we draw a 

distinction, and where we are supporting the sections of the 

                                       
115

 Written Evidence DQ 10 

116

 Written Evidence DQ 11 

117

 Supplementary Written Evidence DQ 10  

118

 Supplementary Written Evidence DQ 11  

119

 Written Evidence DQ 5 

120

 Written Evidence DQ 7 

Pack Page 98



60 

Wales Bill that would impose restrictions, is on double-jobbing 

between this place and the Commons.‖
121

 

178. On the specific issue of being a local councillor as well as an AM, 

the Electoral Reform Society Wales added:  

―People might have different opinions on that. There might be 

benefits, there might be drawbacks from it, but ultimately, if 

there are any conflicts of interest, those should actually be 

dealt with within the system that exists at the moment. I do not 

think that a ban is particularly a good idea.‖
122

 

179. In terms of a possible conflict of interest, Lawyers in Local 

Government believed there were arguments for and against double 

jobbing by Assembly Members and local councillors,
123

 but added:  

―With regard to the time commitment to the organisations 

themselves, however, I think that that is a fundamental 

problem.‖
124

 

180. William Powell AM stated:  

―It is my considered view that there is no material or inevitable 

conflict in being a County Councillor and simultaneously an 

AM. In fact, the dual role may be mutually supportive to the 

individual representative and their respective electorate.‖
125

  

181. Peter Black AM expressed similar views.
 126

 In so doing, he noted 

that:  

―… the standing orders of the National Assembly for Wales and 

each Principal Council allows for the declaration of personal 

and pecuniary interests.‖
127

 

182. He also considered that:  

―In the case of being a Councillor and an AM, the former role is 

part-time, tends to serve the same set of constituents and can 

                                       
121

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 172], 28 April 2014 

122

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 173], 28 April 2014 

123

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraphs 95 -97], 12 May 2014 

124

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 103], 12 May 2014 

125

 Written Evidence DQ 10 

126

 Written Evidence DQ 8 

127

 Ibid 

Pack Page 99



61 

be managed in addition to the full time job through good time 

management. Clashes of meetings can be avoided.‖
128

 

183. He agreed with the views of the Electoral Reform Society Wales 

saying ―the decision as to whether to allow a dual role should belong 

to the electorate‖,
129

 a view also shared by William Powell AM
130

 and 

Russell George AM.
131

  

184. In his written evidence, Russell George AM referred to the time 

pressures involved in undertaking a dual role:  

―… it is not always easy to manage the two workloads, which 

are sometimes competing and conflicting and I rely heavily on 

extremely efficient and competent members of my Assembly 

staff team, to effective manage my Assembly casework with 

Powys County Council and ensure that there are appropriate 

Chinese Walls in place where my local authority casework may 

potentially conflict with my Assembly work … that process 

works well. The other issue which is difficult to manage is 

fulfilling the meeting commitments of both the National 

Assembly and Powys County Council. It is impossible to 

maintain maximum attendance at all the relevant meetings of 

both institutions because of competing business and because 

of the geographic distance between Cardiff and Llandrindod 

Wells. In my view, each institution has equal status because 

they are equally important for the voters I represent. However, 

when a conflict does emerge, I examine the issues on both 

business agendas and I have to make a judgement call using a 

utilitarian interest test. The interests of my constituents are of 

course paramount, however being elected to a national 

legislature brings with it wider responsibilities for the national 

good. Therefore in the main, the balance does tend to tilt 

towards contributing to National Assembly business but that 

judgement is made on a meeting by meeting basis.‖
132

 

185. We explored these issues with Peter Black AM.  In questioning on 

issues surrounding the Assembly‘s rules for declaring an interest, he 

said:    

                                       
128

 Written Evidence DQ 8 

129

 Ibid 

130

 Written Evidence DQ 10 

131

 Written Evidence DQ 11 

132

 Ibid 

Pack Page 100



62 

―… the Assembly‘s declarations of interest rules are much freer 

… than those of local councils. In a council, you really are 

under an obligation to declare virtually everything, either 

personal or pecuniary; here, you only tend to declare an 

interest if you would benefit in a greater way than somebody 

else who is in your position, which really leaves quite a lot of 

latitude, I think. It is a matter for Assembly Members, and for 

the Standards of Conduct Committee, as to whether that is too 

lax a regime. However, I think that, in terms of the conflict—or 

lack of conflict—between being a councillor and an Assembly 

Member, I cannot think of a single occasion where you would 

want to declare that you are a councillor in the Assembly, 

though I do occasionally mention the fact that I am a councillor 

when I am making contributions on local government, or even 

in terms of asking questions, and I think that other councillors 

do the same thing as well.‖
133

 

186. When Peter Black AM was asked whether the public should know 

that he has a specific interest as a member of a local authority, he 

said:  

―I think that that is possible, and … I would tend to mention 

that if I felt that it was particularly pertinent … However, you 

could equally make the same argument in terms of farmers, 

and other professionals.‖
134

 

187. He did not think that the Assembly oversees the performance and 

financing of local government, saying that, ―local government is 

accountable to its own local electorate‖
135

, before adding:  

―In terms of an ordinary Assembly Member who does not hold 

an executive role within the Assembly, there is no conflict in 

terms of the decisions that are taken by the Government in 

relation to the financing and performance of local government. 

Even the Welsh Government does not have an oversight role in 

relation to Local government, apart from in terms of the money 

that it gives authorities and what is in statute.‖
136

  

  

                                       
133

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 23], 2 June 2014 

134

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 28], 2 June 2014 

135

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 29], 2 June 2014 

136

 Ibid 

Pack Page 101



63 

188. He stated that:  

―… there is more potential for conflict between being a Welsh 

Minister and being a councillor, simply because Ministers have 

specific executive roles. As an Assembly Member, there are 

very few opportunities for conflict. Both roles can be performed 

adequately and without any potential problems‖.
137

 

189. He also said:   

―I think that it would be more difficult to be a cabinet member 

and an Assembly Member, or a cabinet member here and a 

councillor there. There would be some conflict of interest. That 

is a matter that needs to be dealt with separately from the 

issue that you are scrutinising here, of course, because you are 

looking at whether you should bar councillors from becoming 

Assembly Members, which I think is a slightly separate issue ...  

I would not try to do an executive role on either body at the 

same time as serving on the other.‖
138

 

190. In terms of how resources are used, Peter Black AM said:  

―You do not get many resources as a county councillor, but I do 

a lot of work in my own time as a councillor. I try to make sure 

that there is division there, but, sometimes, you do have a 

blurring. For example, I have an e-mail address as a councillor, 

an e-mail address as an Assembly Member and my personal e-

mail address. Even I cannot manage three e-mail accounts. So, I 

tend to do everything through the one e-mail account. However, 

I make it clear to officers in what capacity they are being lobbied 

or approached. So, there is some blurring of the lines, but, by 

and large, I use the resources that are appropriate to the 

relevant case.‖
139

 

191. Keith Bush QC thought that it ―is not really a legal issue‖
140

 and 

said that:  

                                       
137

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 33], 2 June 2014 

138

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 62], 2 June 2014 

139

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 60], 2 June 2014 

140

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 271], 16 June 2014 

Pack Page 102



64 

―… it is a matter for public debate and a matter of policy. It is 

not a constitutional issue in the same way that disqualification 

on the grounds of conflicts of interest is‖.
141

   

192. He could see the arguments on both sides noting:  

―The double-jobbing issue relates to people‘s feelings as to 

whether it is appropriate that people who are Members of the 

Assembly should be devoting their time to other activities … It 

is more difficult I think when you come to local government, 

because there is a rather unclear relationship between the 

Assembly and local government. Local government is, in 

theory, autonomous, but, in practice, is financed almost 

entirely by funds that are provided under the supervision of the 

Assembly. So, there is a potential conflict of interest argument, 

I suppose, there. 

―On the other hand … there are those who say that elected 

politicians and the public generally benefit from the 

involvement of Assembly Members in certain other activities.‖
142

  

193. In terms of reviewing the National Assembly‘s code of conduct in 

how it deals with those sorts of conflicts of interest, he acknowledged 

that some rules: 

―… are notoriously unclear … particularly in relation to 

legislation. By all means look at their clarity and so on, but you 

may create other difficulties—there will be knock-on effects, 

undoubtedly. So, all Assembly Members may have conflicts of 

interest in relation to their everyday lives or whatever … So, all 

of the time, you are having to manage your public functions as 

legislators with your individual situations as citizens affected 

by the legislation. It is not easy to draw a hard-and-fast line 

between those conflicts of interest, which have to be 

eliminated, those that you can tolerate and those in the middle, 

which you have to accept that you have to manage in some 

way.‖
143

 

194. When questioned on whether there was a particular conflict of 

interest with someone being a cabinet member of a local authority  

                                       
141

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraphs 271- 272], 16 June 2014 

142

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 272], 16 June 2014 

143

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 279], 16 June 2014 

Pack Page 103



65 

and then being an Assembly Member, if that particular authority is 

perhaps brought into special measures under the education 

provisions, he said:  

―There, this is an even clearer conflict or potential conflict, as in 

the case of an ordinary Member, obviously. It is a question of 

degree in my view. Again, I am sure that there are strong views 

held on either side in relation to that. Of course, our system 

does not aspire to eliminate conflicts of interest altogether.‖
144

 

Dual political role: member of the House of Lords and a local 

authority councillor   

195. The Electoral Reform Society Wales told us:  

―To a degree, peers‘ work is not as onerous as that of Members 

of the House of Commons and perhaps there is merit to having 

some people here who are members of the House of Lords and 

are able to go up to that place and provide a devolved aspect. 

They are obviously not working, full-time peers. They are only 

occasionally going to the other place. They are not being paid a 

full-time wage, as it were, as Members of Parliament are; they 

are only receiving allowances for when they are there—daily 

expenses. Again, I think that, on balance, we would probably 

say no, you should not stop people from being AMs and 

peers.‖
145

 

196. Lawyers in Local Government expressed concern about the time 

commitment
146

 and failed to understand how both roles could be 

undertaken properly.
147

 They added:   

―Is the role of someone in the House of Lords a bar to their 

being a candidate here? Maybe there is not; but, because they 

scrutinise legislation, it could depend on what that legislation 

is.‖
148

 

                                       
144

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 274], 16 June 2014 

145

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 174], 28 April 2014 

146

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 108], 12 May 2014 

147

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraphs 95 and 103], 28 April 2014 

148

 CLA Committee, RoP [paragraph 108], 12 May 2014 

Pack Page 104



66 

Our view  

197. Although we did not seek specific comments on the issue of 

holding more than one political role, as the background to this section 

shows, it is an issue that has been raised by some witnesses and is 

currently being discussed in the UK Parliament as a consequence of 

provisions contained in the UK Government‘s Wales Bill.  

198. This issue comes within the terms of reference of our inquiry and 

so we believe it is appropriate to consider this issue. In so doing, we 

are clear therefore that the scope of the inquiry has not been changed 

to accommodate consideration of this issue.   

199. The evidence highlights the very real difficulties that exist in 

seeking to determine whether or not dual mandates are appropriate. 

There are clearly strong arguments on both sides.  

200. In our view the dual mandate to serve as an Assembly Member 

and a local authority councillor requires further investigation and a 

more formal, specific review.  

201. In coming to this view we are mindful of two issues.  

202. First, we do not believe it would be feasible to resolve this matter  

before the 2016 Assembly general election. As such, following the 

review, should a legislative change be considered appropriate, it would 

make sense to make this change in time for the 2021 elections, in line 

with recommendations 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 11 of our report.   

203. Secondly, we are conscious that there are proposals to reform 

local government in Wales
149

 and it would make sense to consider the 

dual role issue as part of the roles and responsibilities of local 

authority councillors that emerge from that reform.  

Recommendation 20:  we recommend that the Welsh Government 

commissions an independent review of  the feasibility of holding a 

dual mandate as an Assembly Member, and local authority 

councillor (including having regard to: the potential for conflicts of 

interest, time commitments involved and issues of public 

perception) and to make recommendations.   

                                       
149

 Welsh Government, Devolution, Democracy and Delivery: White Paper –Reforming 

Local Government, 8 July 2014 

Pack Page 105



67 

204. As regards a dual mandate to serve in the House of Lords and as 

an Assembly Member, we believe the issues are clearer. We are 

satisfied that there is potentially a conflict of interest in having the 

ability to serve two legislatures that scrutinise primary and secondary 

legislation that potentially could cover the same policy area. The same 

argument can be made in relation to membership of other legislatures, 

although it is unlikely that anyone would seek to be a member 

simultaneously of more than one devolved legislature.  

205. In our view, it would be unfair to effect such a change 

retrospectively given that a peerage is held for life and it would be 

unreasonable to expect any individual to make a choice now between 

being an Assembly Member and a member of the House of Lords.  

Recommendation 21: we recommend that the UK Government 

prohibits the practice of standing as an Assembly Member and a 

Member of the House of Lords, but that such a prohibition should 

not be applied to anyone who is currently serving as a member of 

both institutions.       

  

Pack Page 106



68 

Witnesses 

The following witnesses provided oral evidence to the Committee on 

the dates noted below. Transcripts of all oral evidence sessions can be 

viewed in full at 

www.senedd.assemblywales.org/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=1242 

 

28 April 2014  

Kay Jenkins Electoral Commission Wales 

Stephen Brooks Electoral Reform Society 

 

  
12 May 2014  

Andrew Jolley Local Government Lawyers 

  

  
2 June 2014  

Peter Black Assembly Member 

Dr Emyr Roberts Natural Resources Wales 

Sarah Rochira Older People‘s Commissioner for Wales 

 

  
9 June 2014  

Keith Bush Queen‘s Counsel 

  

  
 

Pack Page 107

http://www.senedd.assemblywales.org/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=1242


69 

List of written evidence 

The following people and organisations provided written evidence to 

the Committee. All written evidence can be viewed in full at 

www.senedd.assemblywales.org/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=115&

RPID=1003564313&cp=yes 

 

Organisation Reference 

Electoral Commission for Wales DQ 1 

Wales Office DQ 2 

Welsh language Commissioner DQ 3 

Lawyers in Local Government DQ 4 

The Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales DQ 5 

Keith Bush, QC DQ 6 

Nortridge Perrott DQ 7 

Peter Black, AM DQ 8 

Emyr Roberts DQ 9 

William Powell AM DQ 10 

DQ 10A - 

Supplementary 

Evidence 

Russell George AM DQ 11 

DQ 11A - 

Supplementary 

Evidence 

  

  

         

Pack Page 108

http://www.senedd.assemblywales.org/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=115&RPID=1003564313&cp=yes
http://www.senedd.assemblywales.org/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=115&RPID=1003564313&cp=yes


70 

Annexe 1 – Letter from First Minister, 27 January 

2014 

  

Pack Page 109



71 

 

  

Pack Page 110



72 

Annexe 2 – Welsh Government Memorandum 

Following the First Minister‘s invitation in January 2014, the 

Assembly‘s Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee (‗CLAC‘) 

have agreed to undertake an inquiry into matters pertaining to 

disqualifications from Assembly membership. As part of the scrutiny, 

they have asked the Welsh Government to submit a Memorandum 

which would aid them in their consideration of these matters. 

 

The Welsh Government was pleased to learn that CLAC have agreed to 

undertake this inquiry which we hope will help to improve and 

streamline the rules relating to disqualifications from Assembly 

membership. We believe that this is an issue of concern to the 

Assembly as a whole, and CLAC is therefore well-placed to assist in the 

creation of a broad cross-party consensus on these matters. The 

inquiry also presents an opportunity to raise public awareness of these 

important matters which have a direct impact on the way Wales is 

governed. 

 

To assist the Committee‘s scrutiny, this memorandum sets out the 

Welsh Government‘s consideration of these issues which is based on 

our experience of the operation of these rules. 

 

The memorandum is divided into three parts – we first consider the 

contextual framework for disqualifications; then we turn to the issue 

of the content of the Disqualification Order; and lastly we discuss the 

incidental issues that are of relevance to disqualifications but are not 

directly within the Welsh Government‘s remit to deal with. 

The Context 

Generally speaking, restrictions on membership are a basic feature of 

elected legislatures. While certain restrictions are necessary, they are a 

limit on people‘s democratic rights. In the Welsh Government‘s view, 

therefore, the rationale behind disqualifying people from Assembly 

membership must be well justified, and we should restrict exclusions 

to the minimum. 

 

There are certain UK-wide qualifications that a prospective candidate 

must comply with in order to be able to stand for elections to any one 

of the legislatures in the UK. For example, the person must be at least 

Pack Page 111



73 

18 years old and must be a British citizen, an eligible Commonwealth 

citizen, or a citizen of any member state of the European Union. 

Specifically in relation to the Assembly elections, a prospective 

candidate, apart from meeting the above qualifications for standing 

for election, must not also be disqualified from standing as set out in 

the Government of Wales Act 2006 (―GoWA 2006‖). 

 

Section 16 of GoWA 2006 identifies a number of persons who may not 

be members of the Assembly. Additionally, it provides for an Order in 

Council (―Disqualification Order‖) to designate further offices and 

employments, the holders of which would also be disqualified from 

becoming members of the Assembly. There are also posts appointed 

by the Assembly (for example, members of the Independent 

Remuneration Board and the Standards Commissioner) where the 

legislation establishing them debar AMs from being appointed to the 

posts and debar post-holders from standing for election. 

 

The Content of the Disqualification Order 

A Disqualification Order has to be laid in draft before and approved by 

a resolution of the Assembly before a recommendation is made to Her 

Majesty in Council that the Order be made. In terms of their content, 

past Assembly Disqualification Orders have tried to strike a balance: 

allowing as many citizens as possible to stand for election, whilst 

protecting the legislature from undue influence by government-paid 

office-holders, protecting the public purse by avoiding conflicts of 

interests, and protecting the impartiality of certain bodies from the 

appearance of party political bias. 

 

So, previous Orders aimed to disqualify:  

 

– Holders of offices wholly or partly funded by the Welsh 

Government. This included salaried, pensionable and certain fee-

paid posts, but excluded posts attracting expenses only. Office 

with remuneration of less than £10,000 per year should not 

normally attract disqualification.  

– Appointments which were made, approved or confirmed by the 

First Minister, Welsh Ministers or the Counsel General, or 

appointments on which they had a statutory right to be 

consulted.  

Pack Page 112



74 

– Office holders whose functions would give rise to an 

unsustainable conflict of interest were they to be elected as 

Assembly Members.  

– Office holders who were not, or were not seen as being, 

politically impartial. 

These principles formed a basis for the disqualifying posts or 

employments contained in the previous Disqualification Order. 

However, Welsh Government officials have reviewed past practice in 

relation to the content of disqualification orders and highlighted the 

following issues:  

 

– The disqualifications are long and complex, and individuals may 

inadvertently fall foul (as two did in 2011) of apparently 

unjustified disqualifications;  

– The complex nature of some of the disqualifications may require 

prospective candidates to seek legal advice in order to 

determine whether they are caught by the particular 

disqualification. 

CLAC‘s predecessor, the Constitutional Affairs Committee (‗CAC‘), also 

raised concerns when it considered the last Disqualification Order in 

draft, prior to Assembly consideration of it. CAC identified disparities 

between treatment of bodies that were carried forward from the 

previous list and those that were newly added to the list. 

 

It would therefore be beneficial for CLAC to examine afresh the 

principles underpinning the disqualifying posts and employments 

contained in the previous Disqualification Order, propose new 

principles as appropriate and, so far as possible, recommend a new 

list of disqualifying posts and employments which could then be 

included in the next Disqualification Order. We would like the Order to 

be as clear and accessible as possible, and we would also like to 

eliminate any unnecessary complexity. 

Incidental Issues 

There are also other considerations which are incidental to the 

Disqualification Order. Even though the Disqualification Order will be a 

statutory instrument with a UK-wide effect, as a matter of principle, we 

believe that the Order should be made both in English and Welsh. 

 

Pack Page 113



75 

Another issue to consider is when the disqualifications bite. Whereas 

the Disqualification Order is for the Assembly to approve in draft, it 

falls to the Secretary of State, with Parliamentary approval, to make the 

Order setting out the rules for conduct of Assembly elections. This 

Order includes requirements relating to nomination procedures. As 

matters stand, a person who holds a disqualifying office at the point of 

having to consent to nomination would need to resign that office 

before consenting, otherwise they would be guilty of a corrupt practice 

as per the most recent Order, the National Assembly for Wales 

(Representation of the People) Order 2007 (as amended by the 

National Assembly for Wales (Representation of the People) 

(Amendment) Order 2010). 

 

The Secretary of State for Wales makes the relevant Order covering this 

aspect in exercise of the powers conferred on him by section 13 of the 

2006 Act and so the Welsh Government have no direct influence over 

it. However, we see the current requirements as a clear disincentive to 

candidates because a person must resign their post or employment in 

order to stand as a candidate and, if unsuccessful in that election, 

reinstatement would depend on the terms and conditions of 

employment that apply. We would therefore see advantage in the 

Committee also considering this issue. 

Conclusion 

It is our view that the current structures for excluding persons from 

Assembly membership do not properly reflect their raison d‘être. The 

disqualifications purport to prevent AMs from holding offices or 

employments deemed to interfere with the proper fulfilment with their 

duties. But it is our view that the rules pertaining to disqualifications 

are increasingly unfit for purpose to the point that, in some instances, 

they pose a disincentive to potential candidates and thus fall foul of 

the logic of empowering democratic participation. 

For these reasons, we are keen to see how the rules and principles 

underpinning disqualification can be changed to improve participation 

from candidates while maintaining public trust and confidence in the 

conduct of Assembly elections. The Welsh Government looks forward 

to the outcome of CLAC‘s inquiry, the results of which could then 

inform the content of the next National Assembly for Wales 

Disqualification Order, which will need to be made prior to the next 

Assembly elections in May 2016. 

  

Pack Page 114



76 

Annexe 3 – Section B, Written evidence DQ6, Keith 

Bush QC 

B. Legislative framework and background 

(a) Section 16(1) of GOWA 2006, which identifies classes of person 

disqualified from being Assembly Members, broadly follows the 

pattern set by section 1 of the House of Commons 

Disqualfication Act 1975 (―the 1975 Act‖). (There are some 

further disqualifications, covered by section 16(2) and (4) of 

GOWA 2006, e.g. that relating to persons imprisoned for more 

than twelve months for criminal offences, but these are not 

relevant to the issue of those disqualifications which are, 

through the mechanism of Orders in Council under section 

16(1)(b), effectively under the control of the Assembly.) 

(b) The 1975 Act disqualifies from membership of the House of 

Commons: 

(i) holders of judicial offices; 

(ii) civil servants; 

(iii) members of the regular armed forces; 

(iv) police officers; 

(v) members of legislatures outside the Commonwealth; 

(vi) holders of offices described in Part II or III of Schedule 1 to 

the Act. 

(c) GOWA 2006 disqualified from membership of the Assembly: 

(i) persons in categories (i),(ii),(iii),(iv) and (v) above; 

(ii) holders of offices designated by Order in Council made 

under section 16; 

(iii) the Auditor General for Wales; 

(iv) the Public Service Ombudsman for Wales; 

(v) members of the staff of the Assembly itself. 

Pack Page 115



77 

(d) Section 16(1) of GOWA 2006 is parallelled, in very similar terms, 

by section 15(1)(d) of the Scotland Act 1998 and section 3(1) of 

the Northern Ireland Assembly Disqualification Act 1975 

(applied to the current Assembly by section 36 of the Northern 

Ireland Act 1998).        

(e) Orders in Council under section 16(1)(b) of GOWA 2006 (and 

corresponding Scottish and Northern Ireland enactments) 

therefore fulfill the same function as Parts II and III of Schedule 1 

to the 1975 Act, which may, itself be amended from time to time 

by  Order in Council under section 5 of that Act. 

206. The background to the 1975 Act (and therefore, by extension, to 

section 16 of GOWA 2006) is the doctrine of the ―separation of 

powers‖, i.e. the principle that, in a parliamentary democracy, one of 

the roles of the parliamentary body is to hold the executive 

(government) to account and that therefore members of the 

parliamentary body should, as far as possible, be free of interests 

which conflict with their ability to do so effectively. This principle was 

reflected in one of the fundamental constitutional statutes of the 

United Kingdom, the Act of Settlement 1701, which provided:  

207. ―That no Person who has an Office or Place of Profit under the 

King or receives a Pension from the Crown shall be capable of serving 

as a Member of the House of Commons.‖ 

(f) It is a feature of parliamentary democracy that the separation 

between parliament and government is not absolute (as it is, for 

example, under the US Constitution) in that Ministers are drawn 

from members of the parliamentary body and, indeed, must 

enjoy the ―confidence‖ (i.e. backing) of the parliamentary body. 

Nevertheless the exlusion of others holding ―offices or places of 

profit‖ under the Crown was intended to eliminate from the 

House of Commons persons who were enjoying the patronage of 

Ministers and who were therefore less likely to scrutinise 

Ministers effectively. 

(g) A second kind of conflict of interest which has become 

increasingly prominent, particularly over the last century, arises 

out of the development of offices and bodies exercising 

executive governmental functions, but not part of central 

government itself – the so-called ―quangos‖. Since such 

Pack Page 116



78 

institutions are themselves subject to parliamentary scrutiny, 

membership of them has been accepted to be incompatible, for 

that added reason, with membership of the parliamentary body. 

(h) One of the difficulties caused by the proliferation of ―quasi-

autonomous non-governmental organisations‖ (or ―quangos‖) in 

relation to disqualification from membeship of the House of 

Commons was the wide variety of forms that such bodies can 

take. This made it difficult, sometimes, to decide whether 

membership fell within the ―office of profit under the Crown‖ 

test. After considerable discussion, and reports by two House of 

Commons committees, Parliament eventually moved (via the 

House of Commons Disqualification Act 1957 and the House of 

Commons Disqualification Act 1975) to a system of specifying 

(by listing in Schedule 1 of the 1975 Act, as amended from time 

to time) those offices which disqualify from membership of the 

House of Commons. 

(i) Parts II and III of Schedule 1 to the 1975 Act orginally listed 

some 300 disqualifying offices. This has since grown, by 

amendment, to almost 500. The 2010 Order (i.e. the 

corresponding enactment relating to the Assembly) contains 

only 107 entries. 

 

Pack Page 117



 

REPORT OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGISLATIVE AFFAIRS 
COMMITTEE, “INQUIRY INTO THE DISQUALIFICATION FROM MEMBERSHIP 

OF THE NATIONAL ASSEMBLY FOR WALES” ( pub. July 2014) 
RESPONSE OF THE WELSH GOVERNMENT 

 
Introduction 
 
1. The Welsh Government is particularly grateful to the Committee for this Report. 

The inquiry was undertaken at the Government’s request (a somewhat novel 
procedure), and the result is an extremely useful Report which has stimulated 
some fresh thinking on our part about this difficult, but fundamentally important, 
issue. The fact that, as will be seen below, we are not able to agree with each 
and every recommendation which the Committee has brought forward in no way 
diminishes the value of the Report, to the Government and we would suggest to 
the Assembly also.  

 
2. The background to the inquiry, as the First Minister’s letter to the Presiding 

Officer of January 2014 (reproduced as Annexe 1 to the Report) makes clear, is a 
concern to avoid in 2016 what happened in 2011: the election of two individuals 
as Assembly Members who, as it subsequently became known, held offices 
which under the relevant Order in Council in force at the time were inconsistent 
with their taking up their Assembly responsibilities. In the event, one person was 
enabled to become a Member, and one was not; but in the Welsh Government’s 
view the Assembly probably suffered reputational damage in having, immediately 
following the elections, to deal over some weeks with a matter very far from the 
electorate’s concerns. We must do whatever we can to avoid such a situation in 
2016. 

 
The Report: Some General Observations 
 

3. As noted above, the Committee’s Report has given the Government an 
opportunity to think afresh about our general approach to the issues, and it may 
be helpful before responding to the individual recommendations to set out some 
general observations. 
 
(i) Conflating the Issues? 

 
4. First, we now think that the root of many of the difficulties around disqualification 

is that the principal legislation, sections 16-19 of the Government of Wales Act 
2006 (“GOWA”), conflates two matters which should be kept separate. The first 
such matter is an individual’s right to be a candidate in public elections; in 
accordance with the jurisprudence of the European Court of Human Rights under 
Article 3 of Protocol 1 to the Convention, this should be generally available to 
adult citizens, and it will only be in relatively limited circumstances that such a 
right to candidacy should be denied as a matter of law. The second matter is one 
of conflict of interest: the Assembly, and voters, have a legitimate expectation 
that any person elected to the Assembly should be capable of discharging his or 
her responsibilities without fear or favour, uninhibited by the simultaneous holding 
of offices which may allow a perception to arise that an individual’s contribution to 
the Assembly’s work may be inappropriately constrained.  

Pack Page 120



 

 
5. Section 16(1)(a) of GOWA identifies five classes of persons who “are disqualified 

from being an Assembly member”: judges, civil servants, members of the armed 
forces, members of police forces, and members of foreign legislatures. Section 
16(1)(c) and (d) likewise disqualify the Auditor-General for Wales and the Public 
Services Ombudsman for Wales. Section 16(4) disqualifies from Assembly 
membership anyone holding office as lord-lieutenant, lieutenant or high sheriff for 
a part of Wales and whose constituency or electoral region encompasses or 
includes the area for which service in that office is being given.  

 
6. In the Government’s view, the mischief aimed at here is to prevent the holders of 

such offices engaging in any public political activity (including electoral 
candidacy) at all, because they need at all times publicly to demonstrate political 
impartiality in the discharge of their existing responsibilities. The matter can be 
tested in this way: if a person covered by any of these disqualifications presented 
himself or herself as a candidate, then engaged in the ensuing public/political 
debate, but was unsuccessful at the election, could he or she reasonably expect, 
and would the public generally expect him or her, to be able to return to their 
original employment or office, regardless of opinions expressed on matters of 
political controversy during the election campaign?  The Government’s view is 
that would not be acceptable, and so the policy should be that individuals falling 
within any of these categories should be disqualified from being candidates at 
Assembly elections (unless they beforehand permanently divest themselves of 
the disqualifying office or employment, without possibility of return/ 
reappointment); they fall within the narrow category of people whose right to be a 
candidate has to be abridged in the interests of wider public policy 
considerations. 

 
7. This situation can be contrasted with that of conflict of interest. Here, we think the 

policy should be that individuals holding offices which, if they were elected, might 
be thought to constrain their ability properly to discharge their Assembly 
responsibilities, should be able immediately after election to resign those offices: 
in other words, and consistently with the Convention jurisprudence, their right to 
candidacy should not be inhibited, but if elected they should only be able to serve 
as Assembly Members if any potential conflicts of interest are removed. 

 
8. The provisions in GOWA, and in particular the Order-making powers available to 

the Assembly under GOWA, do not reflect this position, and apply the same 
penalty of disqualification from Assembly membership (as distinct from 
disqualification from candidacy) to individuals falling into either category. It is not 
likely to be possible to secure amendments to these provisions before the next 
Assembly elections in 2016, but the Welsh Government will pursue this issue with 
the UK Government with a view to securing reform in the next Parliament. 

 
(ii) Staff of Public Bodies 

 
9. Another class of individuals disqualified from membership of the Assembly, by 

virtue of s.16(1)(e) of GOWA, are those “employed as a member of the staff of 
the Assembly” itself. This raises a specific, but also more general issue. The 
current National Assembly for Wales (Disqualification) Order (SI 2010/2969), 

Pack Page 121



 

which was in force for the 2011 Assembly elections, specifies a large number of 
disqualifying offices, but in certain instances (for example the Children’s 
Commissioner, the Older People’s Commissioner) also specifies that members of 
staff supporting the holders of those offices should also be disqualified.  
 

10.  If we start from the position that individuals should be able to offer themselves 
for elected public office save in exceptional circumstances, it is not at all obvious 
why the staff of some public bodies (but not all) should be disqualified in this way. 
The Welsh Government is inclined to think that, with the possible exception of 
Assembly Commission staff mentioned above, the next Assembly Disqualification 
Order should not make disqualifying provision for the staff of any public body, and 
instead leave it to the public body concerned to manage any situation arising if a 
member of staff becomes a candidate at the Assembly election. (And it can fairly 
be assumed that any successful such candidate would resign their employment 
on election as an Assembly Member, since continuing in the employment of the 
public body while discharging Assembly responsibilities would make impossible 
demands on the individual). 

 
Transparency 
 
11. The background to the difficulties mentioned in paragraph 2 above in relation to 

2011 was confusion about exactly which offices were to be regarded as 
disqualifying for the purposes of the 2011 elections.  Producing and effectively 
publicising a new Disqualification Order will not however fully address this 
problem. The list of disqualifying offices is derived from several sources (GOWA, 
the Disqualification Order in force at the time, together with any relevant 
provisions made by extant Assembly legislation), and in certain instances there 
appears to be repetition; as previously noted, holding the office of Auditor 
General for Wales disqualifies an individual from membership of the Assembly by 
virtue of GOWA s. 16(1)(c), but the 2010 Disqualification Order also specifically 
disqualifies the Auditor General for Wales and members of his or her staff. 
 

12.  Given these various sources for disqualification provisions, it may be extremely 
difficult for any potential candidate to be sure that he or she has not inadvertently 
infringed any of the prohibitions. In addition, therefore, to bringing forward a new 
draft Disqualification Order in 2015, the Welsh Government intends, working as 
necessary with the Electoral Commission, to produce a comprehensive, non-
statutory, list of all of the disqualifying provisions of which we are aware, from 
whatever source, and make it publicly available to parties and potential 
candidates.  

 
Law Commission 
 
13. Finally, we mention a matter of less significance in the present context, but of 

wider importance. The Committee in two of its recommendations has proposed 
that the Welsh Government should ask the Law Commission to investigate and 
report on two matters. The Welsh Government shares the Committee’s 
enthusiasm for working with the Law Commission (and welcomes the provision in 
the current Wales Bill that will make this much easier), but we need to bear in 
mind both that the Commission’s resources are limited, and that its services are 

Pack Page 122



 

not a free good; it will frequently be the case that the Welsh Government will 
have to fund any work specifically requested of the Commission. We hope 
therefore that Committee recommendations for reference of matters to the 
Commission will be both sparing and strategic in their approach. In the present 
case, the Welsh Government intends to address the issues raised in the 
particular recommendations in a different way to that proposed by the Committee.  

 
  

Pack Page 123



 

The Welsh Government’s responses to the Committee’s Recommendations 
 
Recommendation 1. we recommend that the following principles, or ones similar  to 
them, should inform who should be disqualified from membership of the National 
Assembly for Wales:  
 

Principle 1: Promoting democratic participation and the right to stand as an 
Assembly Member are paramount. 
 
Principle 2: Disqualification from membership of the National Assembly for 
Wales should be restricted to as few citizens as possible. 
 
Principle 3: Political activity is inappropriate for some citizens in order to: 

i. protect the independence of the electoral process; 
ii. prevent conflicts of interest arising on election; and 
iii. protect certain public offices from political bias. 

 
Principle 4: The following citizens should be affected by a disqualification 
order: 

i. those whose role involves an over-riding requirement for impartiality, 
including those whose responsibilities include the electoral process 
itself; 
ii. those who hold any public office which carries with it a significant 
financial benefit from the Welsh Government; 
iii. those who hold public office and in that role provide formal advice to 
the Welsh Government; 
iv. those who hold any public office which is subject to scrutiny by the 
Assembly. 

 
Principle 5: Where disqualifications are necessary they must be: 

i. in line with these principles; 
ii. clear and unambiguous; 
iii. proportionate.  

 
Response: Accept in Principle. 
 

14. This recommendation is broadly consistent with the general approach we set out 
in paragraphs 4-8 above, in recognising that while most citizens should be 
encouraged to stand for elected public office, a limited class of people should not 
be permitted to be candidates by reason of their holding their current office or 
employment. However, and understandably given the current legislative position, 
the Committee expresses this in terms of disqualification from membership of the 
Assembly; the Welsh Government would after 2016 prefer the policy to be 
achieved, for many of those mentioned in this recommendation, by way of  
disqualification from candidacy. 

 
 
Recommendation 2. we recommend that the UK Government brings forward 
appropriate legislation to amend the Government of Wales Act 2006 to provide that 
disqualification from a particular public office should take effect on taking the oath or 

Pack Page 124



 

affirmation of allegiance as an Assembly Member. This change should not apply to a 
very limited number of posts—as specified in section 16 of the 2006 Act or by 
order—where being a candidate would, for example, give rise to a conflict of interest 
or appear to undermine impartiality.  
 
Response: 
 
15. This is a matter for the UK Government, but as noted in paragraph 8 above, 

the Welsh Government will want to pursue this general approach with that 
Government following the 2015 General Election. 

 
 
Recommendation 3. we recommend that the UK Government brings forward 
appropriate legislation to remove the relevant provisions in The National Assembly 
for Wales (Representation of the People) Order 2007 requiring candidates, when 
accepting nomination, to declare that to the best of their knowledge and belief, they 
do not hold a disqualifying office. 
 
Response: 
 
16. This is a matter for the UK Government, but the Welsh Government will seek 

to discuss the issues with that Government ahead of the making of the equivalent 
Order for the 2016 Assembly elections. 

 
 
Recommendation 4. we recommend that the Welsh and UK Governments ask the 
Law Commission to investigate and report on the various legislative options for 
delivering recommendation 2, and to make a recommendation on what it would 
consider to be the most appropriate, potentially as part of a wider review of this issue 
across all UK legislatures.  
 
Response: Reject 
 
17. Given our general approach to Law Commission referrals set out in paragraph 13 

above, the Welsh Government is not persuaded that a reference on this matter 
would be appropriate. 

 
18. The Committee’s report has however already raised the profile of this issue and 

put it on the political agenda, and we believe it should be possible to take forward 
reforms without referring to the Law Commission. An amendment to the Wales 
Bill tabled by Lord Thomas of Gresford on 9 October proposed that section 16 of 
the Government of Wales Act 2006 should be amended so that, where offices are 
disqualifying offices because they are included in the Disqualification Order in 
Council, they are not disqualified from standing and have an 8 day grace period 
following election to resign the disqualifying office. This amendment was 
discussed during Committee stage in the House of Lords on 13 October.  
Baroness Randerson, Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for Wales, was 
supportive of the purpose of Lord Thomas’ amendment, and undertook to work 
with the Welsh Government on these issues.  She agreed that “only those offices 

Pack Page 125



 

for which there is a strong case for inclusion” should be included in the next 
Disqualification Order. 

 
19. While it is for the Welsh Government to lead on the Disqualification Order under 

section 16, and for the Wales Office to lead on any Secretary of State order 
under section 13 of the Government of Wales Act 2006 dealing with conduct of 
Assembly elections, we welcome this commitment to work together.  We will be 
looking for legislative changes prior to the 2021 Assembly elections, with a view 
to pursuing the approach outlined in your recommendation 2.  For the 2016 
Assembly elections, we will bring forward a draft Disqualification Order for 
consultation in the New Year, on the basis of the approach we have outlined in 
our response to recommendations 12 and 13 below.  

 
 
Recommendation 5. we recommend that the UK Government amends section 16 of 
the Government of Wales Act 2006 to ensure that any disqualifications it contains 
are set out fully rather than by reference to other legislation and that all 
disqualifications it specifies take effect on nomination. 
  
Response: Accept in part 
 
20. Given the reference to nomination, we take this recommendation to mean that 

s.16 should be amended to focus on disqualification of a limited range of 
individual office-holders, and members of a limited range of classes, from 
candidacy at Assembly elections. On that basis the Welsh Government accepts 
the recommendation and will pursue the matter with the UK Government 
(although we think it likely that s.16 would need to be repealed and replaced, 
rather than amended, to achieve the desired result). In practice, however, we 
doubt that even a completely new provision would be able to stand alone, and we 
envisage taking order-making powers to enable us to keep up to date the list of 
those who should be debarred from candidacy. 

 
 
Recommendation 6. We recommend that the UK Government amends section 
16(1) of the Government of Wales Act 2006 to remove the Auditor General and 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, so that they may be included in an 
appropriate disqualification order with other offices.  
 
Response: 
 
21. This is a matter for the UK Government, but the Welsh Government’s initial 

view is that if it is agreed to replace s.16 of GOWA with a provision as described 
in our response to recommendation 5, that provision should include mention of 
these two offices, among others, as ones disqualifying the holders from 
candidacy (as well as providing for order-making powers to enable us to keep up 
to date the list of those who should be debarred from candidacy). 

 
 
Recommendation 7. We recommend that the UK Government amends section 
16(4) of the Government of Wales Act 2006 so that a person who holds office as 

Pack Page 126



 

lord-lieutenant, lieutenant or high sheriff should be disqualified from being an 
Assembly Member.  
 
Response: 
 
22. This is a matter for the UK Government but the Welsh Government would 

support an amendment to debar the holders of these offices from electoral 
candidacy (and the offices could be mentioned alongside references to the 
Auditor General and the Public Services Ombudsman in a replacement for s.16 
of GOWA as described in our response to recommendation 7) 

 
 
Recommendation 8. We recommend that the Welsh and UK Governments, in 
asking the Law Commission to investigate and report in line with recommendation 4, 
also include a requirement to advise on the implications of retaining, replacing or 
removing section 17(3) of the Government of Wales Act 2006.  
 
Response: Reject 
 
23. We have set out our general approach to Law Commission references in 

paragraph 13 above, but we have particular concerns about s.17(3) and are not 
persuaded that it should remain a part of a reformed statutory scheme about 
disqualification. The subsection enables the Assembly in effect to waive a breach 
of the disqualification rules if the ground of disqualification has been removed and 
“if it is proper so to resolve”. It is not clear to the Welsh Government why the 
Assembly should in future have such a power if, as proposed in recommendation 
2, a successful candidate is enabled immediately after election to divest himself 
or herself of a disqualifying office and then proceed to assume Assembly 
responsibilities. Further, in reality the exercise of this power by the Assembly is 
very likely to be influenced by party political considerations, and there is the 
potential for reputational damage to the Assembly if the electorate’s choices can 
appear to be frustrated in such circumstances. The Welsh Government 
concludes therefore that for the Assembly to possess the power in s.17(3) is 
undesirable, and in any event it should not be necessary if recommendation 2 is 
given effect. 

 
 
Recommendation 9. We recommend that any future legislative change to section 
17(3) of the Government of Wales Act 2006 should only proceed following 
consultation with, and the consent of, the National Assembly for Wales.  
 
Response: Accept. 
 
24. The Welsh Government anticipates that changes to the existing statutory 

disqualification regime, including any in relation to s.17(3), would be the subject 
of consultation, and would require the consent of the Assembly via a legislative 
consent motion. 

 
 

Pack Page 127



 

Recommendation 10. We recommend that the order for the 2016 Assembly general 
election should specify two categories of persons who should be disqualified:  

Category 1: those who should be disqualified from nomination because of the 
nature of their role.  
Category 2: those who should be disqualified from return as an Assembly 
Member.  

 
Recommendation 11. We recommend that the order for the 2021 Assembly general 
election should specify two categories of persons who should be disqualified:  
 

Category 1: those who should be disqualified from nomination because of the 
nature of their role.  
Category 2: those who should be disqualified having been elected but only 
from taking the oath or affirmation of allegiance.  

 
Response: Reject. 
 
25. The Welsh Government is wholly in sympathy with the thinking behind 

recommendations 10 and 11, but as was mentioned in paragraph 8 above, the 
Order-making powers currently available to us do not reflect the important 
distinction the Committee makes, and it will not be possible to proceed for the 
2016 Assembly elections as the Committee proposes. The order-making powers 
the Welsh Government would wish to take in a reformed statutory regime for 
disqualification would however enable us to proceed in the way proposed for 
2021 and beyond. 

 
 
Recommendation 12. We recommend that an order drafted for the 2016 Assembly 
general election to disqualify persons from nomination as an Assembly Member 
should include (but not necessarily be limited to) the following:  
 

Auditor General for Wales  
Children‘s Commissioner for Wales  
Civil Service Commissioner 
Commissioner for Equality and Human Rights  
Commissioner for Older People in Wales  
Commissioner for Public Appointments  
Comptroller and Auditor General  
Her Majesty‘s Chief inspector of Education and Training in Wales 
Local Government Boundary Commissioner for Wales 
Members of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales  
Members and Staff of the Electoral Commission Parliamentary Commissioner 
for Administration  
Returning Officers and local authority staff involved in the electoral process  
Statutory deputies of the persons in this list  
Welsh Language Commissioner  

 
Response: Reject. 

 

Pack Page 128



 

26. Our current order-making powers do not enable us to disqualify persons from 
nomination for Assembly elections, they only permit us to disqualify persons from 
Assembly membership (but as explained above, we will want in the future to take 
order-making powers permitting the debarring of a limited range of individual 
office-holders, and members of a limited range of classes, from candidacy). 

 
27. For the 2016 Assembly elections, insofar as the persons listed above are not 

already disqualified from membership by virtue of section 16 of the Government 
of Wales Act 2006, we will consult on the disqualification of these persons from 
membership through the Disqualification Order we intend to take forward under 
the current order-making powers.  In practice, of course, if these persons are 
included in our Disqualification Order, then they would have to resign from their 
offices when they are nominated as candidates, assuming the Secretary of 
State’s Order under section 13 of GOWA 2006 requires candidates for election to 
declare, to the best of their knowledge ad belief, that they are not disqualified 
from membership. 

 
 
Recommendation 13. We recommend that an order should be drafted for the 2016 
Assembly general election that disqualifies the following persons on return as an 
Assembly Member:  
 
Members of judicial tribunals  
Persons appointed by Welsh Ministers  
Staff of local authorities not included in category 1  
Staff of National Park, Police, Fire and Rescue Authorities  
Staff of the organisations referred to in category 1  
Staff of Welsh Government Sponsored Public Bodies  
 
Response: Accept in part 
 
28. We agree it would normally be appropriate that “Persons appointed by Welsh 

Ministers” should be disqualified, but each case will need to  be considered on its 
own merits, and the statutory language to give effect to this will need to be 
carefully considered. We similarly agree that Members of judicial tribunals should 
be disqualified. However, for the reasons set out in paragraphs 9-10 above, we 
are not currently persuaded that it would be appropriate to disqualify from 
Assembly membership the large numbers of public service staff described in 
recommendation 13. This is particularly the case under our current order-making 
powers, as we cannot specify when the disqualification will bite.  However, we 
believe it may not be necessary to disqualify large numbers of public service staff 
even if we could provide that the disqualification only applies upon return as an 
Assembly Member, as we could safely assume that they would not be able to 
continue with their employment as a member of staff of a public body and 
discharge their responsibilities as an Assembly Member at the same time. 

 
 
Recommendation 14. we recommend that, in preparing a disqualification order for 
the 2016 Assembly general election, the Welsh Government consults widely on its 
contents, including in particular, all those organisations that it covers.  

Pack Page 129



 

 
Response: Accept. Our intention is to begin consultation on a draft Order in 
Council early in 2015. 
 
 
Recommendation 15. we recommend that the disqualification order for the 2016 
Assembly general election is drafted, consulted on and made no later than 12 
months before the date of that election.  
 
Response: Accept in principle 
 
29. The Welsh Government is fully persuaded of the need to have a new Order in 

Council in place as early as possible. However, following publication of the 
Committee’s Report in the summer, the First Minister wrote to the Presiding 
Officer, noting some potential difficulties in precisely meeting the Committee’s 
suggested timetable, and setting out a proposed way forward (including making 
provision for consultation as required by recommendation 14); that letter is at 
Annexe 1. The Chair, on behalf of the Committee, has agreed that the First 
Minister’s proposal, which would lead to a draft Order in Council being submitted 
to the Privy Council in June or July 2015, is acceptable.  

 
 
Recommendation 16. we recommend that the disqualification order for the 2016 
Assembly general election is made bilingually in the Privy Council.  
 
Response: Accept.  We will pursue this with the Privy Council Office as 
necessary. 
 
 
Recommendation 17. we recommend that every public body in Wales reviews its 
rules governing political activities to ensure that all staff are clear about the internal 
rules that apply in the event that they wish to seek nomination for, and are eventually 
successful in, election to the National Assembly for Wales. Such rules should take 
account of any legislation that arises from this report and be subject to review at 
least 2 years before Assembly general elections that take place after 2016.  
 
Response: Accept in principle. 
 

30. This recommendation is fully in accord with our general approach in relation to 
the staff of public bodies, that (with the possible exception of the staff of the 
Assembly Commission) they should be eligible to seek elected public office. We 
will give further consideration to how this recommendation should be 
communicated to, and given effect by, Welsh public bodies.  

 
 
Recommendation 18. we recommend that the Welsh Government reviews the 
terms of appointment and guidance it gives to appointees, sponsored bodies and 
other relevant bodies regarding political activity.  
 
Response: Accept. 

Pack Page 130



 

 
Recommendation 19. we recommend that the Electoral Commission reviews its 
existing guidance on disqualification from membership of the National Assembly for 
Wales to ensure it is comprehensive and covers all of the relevant policy issues and 
legislation that apply.  
 
Response: 
 
31. This is a matter for the Electoral Commission, but as noted in paragraph 12 

above, the Welsh Government intends to produce a comprehensive, non-
statutory, list of all of the disqualifying provisions of which we are aware, from 
whatever source, and make it publicly available to parties and potential 
candidates; and we will work with the Electoral Commission as necessary on this. 

 
 
Recommendation 20. we recommend that the Welsh Government commissions an 
independent review of the feasibility of holding a dual mandate as an Assembly 
Member, and local authority councillor (including having regard to: the potential for 
conflicts of interest, time commitments involved and issues of public perception) and 
to make recommendations.  
 
Response: Agree in principle.  
 
32. The Welsh Government accepts that this is an issue that merits careful 

consideration and public debate, but we are not persuaded of the need to 
commission an independent review of the matter to facilitate that. Early in 2015 
we will be publishing, in connection with our programme of local government 
reform, a White Paper inviting views on a wide range of relevant issues, and it will 
be appropriate to include this issue as one on which to seek views. Any ensuing 
new statutory provision could then be included in the Local Government Bill to 
give effect to local authority mergers, which we intend to introduce shortly after 
the next Assembly election in 2016. 

 
 
Recommendation 21. we recommend that the UK Government prohibits the 
practice of standing as an Assembly Member and a Member of the House of Lords, 
but that such a prohibition should not be applied to anyone who is currently serving 
as a member of both institutions.  
 
Response: 
 
33. This is a matter for the UK Government. It is not however clear to the Welsh 

Government what has led the Committee to this conclusion. Membership of the 
House of Lords does not seem of itself to produce a potential conflict of interest 
with Assembly membership, either in terms of competing time commitments 
(attendance at the House of Lords is largely voluntary) or competing interests. 
Matters would however be likely to be different if members of the House were to 
gain their positions through election, and provisions equivalent to those contained 
in the current Wales Bill in respect of simultaneous membership of the Assembly 
and the House of Commons would then presumably be necessary. 

Pack Page 131



 

 
 

Conclusion 
 

34. The Welsh Government reiterates its appreciation for the Committee’s work, and 
looks forward to hearing Members’ views on these important issues. 

 
October 2014 

 

Pack Page 132



W E L S H  S T A T U T O R Y  
I N S T R U M E N T S

2015 No. 1272 (W. 88) (C. 73)

HOUSING, WALES

The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 
(Commencement No. 3 and 

Transitory, Transitional and Saving 
Provisions) Order 2015

EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This note is not part of the Order)

This Order brings into force, on 27 April 2015, Part 
2 of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 (“the Act”), with 
the exception of section 75(3) (intentionally homeless 
households with children) and the partial exception of 
section 78 (deciding to have regard to intentionality). 
The Order also makes transitory, transitional and 
saving provisions as a result of the commencement of 
Part 2.

This is the third commencement order made by the 
Welsh Ministers under the Act.

Article 2 commences, insofar as not already 
commenced, Part 2 (homelessness) of the Act, subject 
to the exceptions below. Section 100 of the Act 
introduces Part 1 of Schedule 3 which makes 
consequential amendments relating to Part 2 of the 
Act. These amendments, among other things, have the 
effect of restricting to England, the application of Part 
7 of the Housing Act 1996.

Article 2 also commences section 78 of the Act, but 
only for the purposes of allowing local housing 
authorities to decide to have regard to intentional 
homelessness in relation to specified categories of 
applicants. It also allows the notices of the decisions to 
be published.

Article 3 brings section 78 into effect for all 
remaining purposes on 1 July 2015.

Article 5 saves the Allocation of Housing and 
Homelessness (Eligibility) (Wales) Regulations 2014. 
It also modifies the Regulations so that they will 
operate as if made under the Act.

Pack Page 133

Agenda Item 5



Article 6 modifies section 75(2)(d) of the Act to omit 
the reference to deciding to have regard to 
intentionality, until section 78 is brought into full 
effect on 1 July 2015. 

Article 7 makes a transitional provision in respect of 
a person who has applied before 27 April 2015 for 
assistance under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996.

Article 8 makes a transitory modification to the 
Local Authority Social Services Act 1970, to refer to 
the homelessness functions of social services 
authorities under the Act. 

NOTE AS TO EARLIER COMMENCEMENT 
ORDERS

(This note is not part of the Order)

The following provisions of the Act have been 
brought into force to their fullest extent (unless 
indicated otherwise) by commencement order made 
before the date of this Order:
Provision Date of 

Commencement
S.I. Number

Section 2
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127 
(W. 316)

Section 3
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 5
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 6 
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 7
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 8
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 10 
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 12 
(partially) 

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 14
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 15
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 16
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 19
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 20
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 21
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 23
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

2Pack Page 134



Section 29 
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 34
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 40
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 41
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 42
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 46
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 49
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 50
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 57 
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 59
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 64
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 72
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 78
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 80 
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 81
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 86
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 95
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 98
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 99
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 101 25 February 
2015

2015/380
(W. 39)

Section 102 25 February 
2015

2015/380
(W. 39)

Section 105 25 February 
2015

2015/380
(W. 39)

Section 106
(partially)

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 106 (for 
remaining 
purposes)

25 February 
2015

2015/380
(W. 39)

Section 107 25 February 
2015

2015/380
(W. 39)

Section 108 25 February 2015/380

3Pack Page 135



2015 (W. 39)
Section 109 25 February 

2015
2015/380
(W. 39)

Section 110 25 February 
2015

2015/380
(W. 39)

Sections 111 to 
128 

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 130 and 
Part 3 of 
Schedule 3

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 
131(4)(c) 

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 137 1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 140 1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 141 and 
Part 5 of 
Schedule 3

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Section 144 1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Paragraph 1 of 
Schedule 2 
(partially) 

1 December 
2014

2014/3127
(W. 316)

Part 2 of 
Schedule 3 

25 February 
2015 

2015/380
(W. 39)

See also section 145(1) of the Act for the provisions 
which came into force on the day the Act received 
Royal Assent and section 145(2) for those provisions 
which came into force 2 months after the Act received 
Royal Assent.

4Pack Page 136



W E L S H  S T A T U T O R Y  
I N S T R U M E N T S

2015 No. 1272 (W. 88) (C. 73)

HOUSING, WALES

The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 
(Commencement No. 3 and 

Transitory, Transitional and Saving 
Provisions) Order 2015

Made 21 April 2015

The Welsh Ministers make the following Order in 
exercise of the powers conferred on them by section 
145(3) and (4) of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014(1).

Title and interpretation

1.—(1) The title of this Order is the Housing (Wales) 
Act 2014 (Commencement No. 3 and Transitory, 
Transitional, and Saving Provisions) Order 2015.

(2) In this Order “the Act” (“y Ddeddf”) means the 
Housing (Wales) Act 2014.

Provisions coming into force on 27 April 2015

2. Subject to articles 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8, the appointed 
day for the provisions of the Act listed in the Schedule 
to come into force for the purposes specified (insofar 
as they are not already in force) is 27 April 2015.

Provision coming into force on 1 July 2015

3. Subject to articles 4, 5 and 8, the appointed day 
for section 78 of the Act (deciding to have regard to 
intentionality) to come into force for all remaining 
purposes is 1 July 2015.

Transitory, transitional and saving provisions

4. The following transitory, transitional and saving 
provisions have effect.

(1) 2014 anaw 7.

5Pack Page 137



Saving provision in relation to the Allocation of 
Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (Wales) 
Regulations 2014

5.—(1) Notwithstanding the commencement of 
section 61 of, and Schedule 2 to, the Act, the 
Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) 
(Wales) Regulations 2014(1) continue to have effect 
(subject to any subsequent amendment or revocation) 
as if made under paragraph 1 of Schedule 2 to the Act.

(2) Insofar as the Allocation of Housing and 
Homelessness (Eligibility) (Wales) Regulations 2014 
continue to have effect by virtue of paragraph (1), they 
do so subject to the following modifications—

(a) in regulation 5(1) the reference to “Part 7 of 
the 1996 Act” has effect as a reference to 
“section 66, 68, 73 or 75 of the Housing 
(Wales) Act 2014”; and

(b) in regulation 6(1) the reference to “Part 7 of 
the 1996 Act” has effect as a reference to 
“section 66, 68, 73 or 75 of the Housing 
(Wales) Act 2014”.

Transitory modification to the Act

6.—(1) This article comes in force on 27 April 2015.
(2) This article makes a transitory modification to 

section 75(2)(d) of the Act with effect until 1 July 
2015.

(3) Until section 78 of the Act (deciding to have 
regard to intentionality) comes fully into force by 
virtue of article 3, section 75(2)(d) is to be read as if 
the words “if the authority is having regard to whether 
or not the applicant is homeless intentionally (see 
section 77)” were omitted.

Transitional provision in relation to pending 
applications for accommodation or assistance

7.—(1) This article comes in force on 27 April 2015.
(2) This article applies in relation to an applicant 

who has applied, before the 27 April 2015, to a local 
housing authority for accommodation or assistance in 
obtaining accommodation under Part 7 of the Housing 
Act 1996(2).

(1) S.I. 2014/2603 (W. 257).
(2) 1996 c. 52.

6Pack Page 138



(3) Notwithstanding articles 2 and 3, Part 7 of the 
Housing Act 1996 continues in force in relation to 
such applicants. 

Transitory modification to the Local Authority 
Social Services Act 1970

8.—(1) This article makes a transitory modification 
to the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970(1) as 
it applies in Wales, with effect from 27 April 2015.

(2) Until Schedule 2 (social services functions) to the 
Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014(2) 
comes into force, Schedule 1 (social services 
functions) to the Local Authority Social Services Act 
1970 is to be read in its application to Wales as if—

(a) the entry for the Housing Act 1996 were 
omitted;

(b) in place of that entry there is inserted: 

“Housing (Wales) Act 
2014
Section 95(2), (3) and 
(4); but only where those 
functions apply by virtue 
of subsection (5)(b) of 
that section.

Co-operation and information 
sharing in relation to homeless 
persons and persons 
threatened with 
homelessness.”

Lesley Griffiths
The Minister for Communities and Tackling Poverty, 
one of the Welsh Ministers
21 April 2015

(1) 1970 c. 42. 
(2) 2014 anaw 4.

7Pack Page 139



SCHEDULE Article 2

Provisions of the Act coming into force 
on 27 April 2015

1. Section 50 (duty to carry out a homelessness 
review and formulate a homelessness strategy) for all 
remaining purposes;

2. Section 51 (homelessness reviews) for all 
purposes;

3. Section 52 (homelessness strategies) for all 
purposes;

4. Section 53 (overview of this chapter) for all 
purposes;

5. Section 54 (application of key terms) for all 
purposes;

6. Section 55 (meaning of homelessness and 
threatened homelessness) for all purposes;

7. Section 56 (meaning of accommodation available 
for occupation) for all purposes; 

8. Section 57 (whether it is reasonable to continue to 
occupy accommodation) for all remaining purposes;

9. Section 58 (meaning of abuse and domestic abuse) 
for all purposes;

10. Section 59 (suitability of accommodation) for all 
remaining purposes;

11. Section 60 (duty to provide information, advice 
and assistance in accessing help) for all purposes;

12. Section 61 (eligibility for help under this 
chapter) for all purposes;

13. Section 62 (duty to assess) for all purposes;

14. Section 63 (notice of the outcome of assessment) 
for all purposes;

15. Section 64 (how to secure or help to secure the 
availability of accommodation) for all remaining 
purposes;

16. Section 65 (meaning of help to secure) for all 
purposes;

17. Section 66 (duty to help to prevent an applicant 
from becoming homeless) for all purposes;

18. Section 67 (circumstances in which the duty in 
section 66 ends) for all purposes;

8Pack Page 140



19. Section 68 (interim duty to secure 
accommodation for homeless applicants in priority 
need) for all purposes;

20. Section 69 (circumstances in which the duty in 
section 68 ends) for all purposes;

21. Section 70 (priority need for accommodation) for 
all purposes;

22. Section 71 (meaning of vulnerable in section 70) 
for all purposes;

23. Section 72 (power to amend or repeal provisions 
about priority need for accommodation) for all 
remaining purposes;

24. Section 73 (duty to help to secure 
accommodation for homeless applicants) for all 
purposes;

25. Section 74 (circumstances in which the duty in 
section 73 ends) for all purposes;

26. Section 75(1), (2) and (4) (duty to secure 
accommodation for applicants in priority need when 
the duty in section 73 ends) for all purposes(1);

27. Section 76 (circumstances in which the duty in 
section 75 ends) for all purposes;

28. Section 77 (meaning of intentionally homeless) 
for all purposes;

29. Section 78(2) (deciding to have regard to 
intentionality) for the purposes of enabling a local 
housing authority to make a decision and to publish a 
notice of that decision(2);

30. Section 79 (further circumstances in which the 
duties to help applicants end) for all purposes;

31. Section 80 (referral of case to another local 
housing authority) for all remaining purposes;

32. Section 81 (local connection) for all remaining 
purposes;

33. Section 82 (duties to applicant whose case is 
considered for referral or referred) for all purposes;

34. Section 83 (cases referred from a local housing 
authority in England) for all purposes;

35. Section 84 (notice that duties have ended) for all 
purposes;

(1) Section 75(3) is not commenced now and section 75(2)(d) is 
temporarily modified by article 6 until section 78 is brought into 
force fully on 1 July 2015.

(2) Article 3 brings section 78 into force for all purposes on 1 July 
2015.

9Pack Page 141



36. Section 85 (right to request review) for all 
purposes;

37. Section 86 (procedure on review) for all 
remaining purposes;

38. Section 87 (effect of a decision on review or 
appeal that reasonable steps were not taken) for all 
purposes;

39. Section 88 (right of appeal to county court on 
point of law) for all purposes;

40. Section 89 (appeals against refusal to 
accommodate pending appeal) for all purposes;

41. Section 90 (charges) for all purposes;

42. Section 91 (out-of-area placement) for all 
purposes;

43. Section 92 (interim accommodation: 
arrangements with private landlord) for all purposes;

44. Section 93 (protection of property) for all 
purposes;

45. Section 94 (protection of property: 
supplementary provisions) for all purposes;

46. Section 95 (co-operation) for all remaining 
purposes;

47. Section 96 (co-operation in certain cases 
involving children) for all purposes;

48. Section 97 (false statements, withholding 
information and failure to disclose change of 
circumstances) for all purposes;

49. Section 98 (guidance) for all remaining purposes;

50. Section 99 (interpretation of this chapter and 
index of defined terms) for all remaining purposes;

51. Section 100 (consequential amendments) for all 
purposes;

52. Schedule 2 for all remaining purposes; and

53. Part 1 of Schedule 3 for all purposes.

10Pack Page 142



1

14 May 2015 

Draft Scotland Bill “falls short” in some “critical areas”- Devolution 
Committee

The previous UK Government’s draft legislative clauses for the new Scotland 
Bill do not meet the “spirit or substance” of the Smith Commission’s 
recommendations on welfare and benefits, and require extensive redrafting in 
other key areas, a Scottish Parliamentary Committee said today.

The Devolution (Further Powers) Committee today published its unanimous 
interim report into the draft legislation produced by the former UK Government 
in the light of the recommendations of The Smith Commission.  Now that a 
new Scottish Secretary is in place, the Committee is urging the new UK 
Government to take the opportunity to reflect upon the concerns highlighted 
during its extensive evidence gathering process.

Committee Convener Bruce Crawford MSP said:

“All political parties involved in the Smith Commission agreed to take forward 
its recommendations as quickly as possible while ensuring that the draft 
legislation met the spirit and substance of those recommendations.

“In the short period of time the Committee had to consider the legislation prior 
to the dissolution of the UK Parliament, we decided to focus our attention on 
key issues such as taxation and borrowing, welfare and benefits and The 
Crown Estate.

“The Committee believes that the current proposals do not yet meet the 
challenge of fully translating the political agreement reached in the Smith 
Commission into legislation.  For example, as we heard in our evidence 
taking, there is no power for the Scottish Parliament to top up reserved 
benefits despite that being one of the powers highlighted at the time of 
publication. The Committee also seeks reassurance that any new benefits or 
top-up benefits introduced in Scotland would result in additional income for a 
recipient.   

“The Committee is disappointed that the currently proposed legislation sells 
Smith short.”   

Pack Page 143

Agenda Item 6



2

Specifically, the Committee concluded—

Welfare

“…the Committee has concerns with a number of the welfare provisions and 
considers that the relevant clauses do not yet meet the spirit and substance of 
the Smith Commission’s recommendations and potentially pose challenges in 
any attempt to implement them.” (paragraph 318)

“The Committee reaffirms the agreement in the Smith Commission report that 
the Scottish Parliament should have the power to create new benefits in areas 
of devolved responsibility and also new powers to make discretionary 
payments in any area of welfare without the need to obtain prior permission 
from the DWP, whilst recognising that there will be a need for the Scottish 
Government to provide the DWP with early notification of its intentions 
because of the potential for overlap with the administrative responsibilities of 
the UK Government in welfare matters.” (paragraph 322)

Income Tax

“……there are significant issues still to be resolved regarding the 
implementation of the new powers, such as an appropriate definition of 
residency for a Scottish taxpayer, the details of the administration of the new 
regime (who collects the tax and how it will function), the costs on business 
and individuals, the need to avoid double taxation and the timing and phasing 
of the new powers on income tax relative to those already devolved under the 
Scotland Act 2012.”  (paragraph 503)

Fiscal Framework

“…the Committee concludes that any final detail of the fiscal framework 
[intergovernmental agreement setting out the principles and operation of 
devolved taxes and impact of that on the Barnett formula] and the other 
matters we have considered is provided to the Scottish Parliament before the 
question of legislative consent to any new bill is considered in the early 
months of 2016.” (paragraph 512)

Parliamentary oversight of intergovernmental relations

“The Committee concludes that ensuring that the Scottish and UK 
Parliaments, and other devolved assemblies, can effectively scrutinise inter-
governmental relations represents a significant challenge posed by the Smith 
Commission for these legislatures.” (paragraph 563)

In areas such as taxation, fiscal framework and welfare … “We recommend 
both Governments reach an urgent agreement on just how this 
[intergovernmental relations and agreements] will be achieved and for the 
Scottish Government to report to the Committee on what arrangements it 
proposes to put in place for parliamentary oversight.” (paragraphs 177 & 328)

Pack Page 144



3

The Crown Estate

“The Committee … has serious concerns regarding the situation in Scotland 
post-devolution and the competition and confusion that may arise from the 
creation of ‘two Crown Estates’.” (paragraph 542)

Permanency of the Scottish Parliament

“The Committee recommends that the Scottish electorate should be asked to 
vote in a referendum if the issue of permanency was in question, with 
majorities also being required in the Scottish Parliament and the UK 
Parliament.” (paragraph 497)

Mr Crawford continued:

“In the immediate aftermath of the UK General Election, the Prime Minister 
indicated that he was committed to delivering on the recommendations of the 
Smith Commission.

“As a Committee we call on the new UK Government to consider our report – 
agreed unanimously - as a matter of urgency and to work with the Scottish 
Parliament to help ensure that we have legislation that achieves the 
objectives that all five parties on the Committee signed up for.”      

Background
A copy of the Committee’s report can be found here 
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/parliamentarybusiness/81842.aspx

Following the UK General Election, the Committee will re-commence with its 
detailed scrutiny of all of the provisions in any ‘Scotland Bill’ that may be 
introduced by a new UK Government in its first Queen’s Speech.  

The Committee expects to issue a further call for evidence in mid-2015 and to 
take further evidence during the remainder of 2015 and early 2016, with a 
view to issuing a Final Report on any bill and the issue of legislative consent 
before the Scottish Parliament is dissolved in advance of the Scottish 
Parliamentary elections of May 2016.

Media information
Murray Meikle: 0131 348 5389
Text Relay calls welcome
murray.meikle@scottish.parliament.uk

Committee information
Stephen Imrie: 0131 348  5931
Text Relay calls welcome
devolutioncommittee@scottish.parliament.uk

You can also follow us on twitter @scotparl and @SP_DevoCttee

Pack Page 145

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/parliamentarybusiness/81842.aspx
mailto:murray.meikle@scottish.parliament.uk
mailto:devolutioncommittee@scottish.parliament.uk
http://twitter.com/#!/ScotParl
https://twitter.com/sp_devocttee

	Agenda
	2 Evidence in relation to the Inquiry into Making Laws in the Fourth Assembly
	CLA(4)-13-15 - Paper 1A
	CLA(4)-13-15 - Research Service Briefing

	3 Instruments that raise no reporting issues under Standing Order 21.2 or 21.3
	4.1 CLA529 - The National Assembly for Wales (Disqualification) Order 2015
	CLA(4)-13-15 - Paper 4
	CLA(4)-13-15 - Paper 5
	CLA(4)-13-15 - Paper 6
	CLA(4)-13-15 - Paper 7

	5 Commencement Order: The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 (Commencement No. 3 and Transitory, Transitional and Saving Provisions) Order 2015
	6 Scottish Parliament: Devolution (Future Powers) Committee: Report on the Draft legislative Clauses for the New Scotland Bill

